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Tuesday, June 22, 2021
--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.

DR. DODDS:  Good morning, everyone.  The Ontario Energy Board is sitting today on a matter of an application filed by North Bay Hydro Distribution Limited, herein referred to as North Bay Hydro, to change electricity distribution rates effective May the 1st, 2021.  The application is made under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, which requires a distributor to apply to the Ontario Energy Board to change the rates it charges its customers.  The case number is EB-2020-0043, and this oral hearing is scheduled for one day.  My name is Robert, Bob, Dodds, and I'll be presiding over this proceeding.  With me on my Panel is my fellow commissioner, Ms. Lynne Anderson, who is also the Chief Commissioner of the Ontario Energy Board.

The Ontario Energy Board approved the partial settlement proposal in a decision and procedural order issued on May 31st, 2021, wherein the Ontario Energy Board also ordered that a one-day oral hearing be convened to hear three of the five unsettled issues, with the other two issues to be addressed through a written submissions.  The three unsettled issues that are to be heard in this oral hearing, they are referenced numerically on the approved issues list and are as follows:

Issue 1.2 relates to the proposed expenditures on operations, maintenance, and administration, and requires North Bay Hydro to demonstrate that the planned level of expenditures is appropriate and adequately a claim.

Issue 5.2 relates to the requirements and agreements set out in North Bay Hydro's previous cost-of-service application.  That reference number is EB-2014-0099.  The settlement proposal states that this issue has been partially settled, but that the parties could not agree on whether North Bay Hydro has appropriately explored the possibility of better aligning North Bay Hydro's incentive pay structure with the metrics and outcome described in the proceeding EB-2014-0099.

The third issue is issue 5.3, and it relates to the requirements for North Bay Hydro to demonstrate that it has appropriately addressed the outcomes of phase 1 of the two-phase transaction which is approved by the Ontario Energy Board in proceeding EB-2019-0015, wherein North Bay Hydro was seeking approval to purchase Espanola Hydro Holdings Corporation and Espanola Hydro and to amalgamate with these two companies.

Now, we're all getting familiar with this new technology, Zoom, and the etiquette today.  I would like to turn it over to OEB Staff to go over some of the key technical issues.  I would remind everyone to place your microphones on mute and turn off the video when you're not speaking.  Ms. Djurdjevic can introduce you and your team -- introduce you and your team and give us technical feedback.  Can you -- anything there, Ljuba?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you very much, Commissioner Dodds.  My name is Ljuba Djurdjevic.  I'm counsel for OEB Staff.  And with me on behalf of OEB Staff are Jerry Wang, the case manager, Kevin Mancherjee, the manager of major applications, as well as our hearings advisor, Lillian Ing.

As everyone knows, this hearing is being transcribed.  Therefore, you need to speak clearly into your microphone and avoid speaking when somebody else is already talking, because it will not be possible for the court reporter to hear either party.  If you need to address the Panel please turn on your camera, and that will be an indication that you wish to speak with us.  If you haven't been noticed, you can interject verbally.  I would ask, however, that anyone who interjects, please start by saying your name and who you represent, because this will assist the court reporter in accurately transcribing today's proceeding.

The event is being live-audio-streamed on the OEB website.  It is also being recorded in order to assist with the transcription services.  That recording will be deleted after 14 days.  Zoom allows you to join the event by landline or cell phone, and therefore please make sure you write down the Zoom phone numbers which were in the invitation that you would have all received for the hearing today.

If you experience any difficulties we will try and resolve them as quickly as we can.  If we're unable to resolve the issue quickly we may be forced to move on to the next party in the schedule and reschedule the affected party to later in the day.  As such, all parties are expected to be ready at any point during the day to present their questions or their submissions.

And finally, in case you drop off this call or meeting and are unable to rejoin, please contact Lillian Ing at lillian.ing@oeb.ca.  All of you will have received numerous e-mails from Ms. Ing, so you should have her e-mail handy.

And with that I will pass it back to the Panel.

DR. DODDS:  All right.  Thank you very much, Ms. Djurdjevic.

As was mentioned, if you do drop off, there are ways to get back in, and hopefully, they're clear to you.  If they're not, please make sure you do know how to get back in, and you can send your questions to another intervenor to pose them on your behalf if necessary, or you can come in on your telephone.  We don't intend to recall a witness panel unless there's a compelling reason to do so.

We will proceed on with the hearing now, and we will now take appearances.  If possible can you please turn on your camera as you speak, and though I recognize that some of you may be on the phone, I will call out each party in alphabetical order once North Bay Hydro has provided appearances.  You can let us know who will be participating.

Let us begin with North Bay Hydro.  Mr. Vellone, can you please introduce your team.
Appearances:


MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Presiding Commissioner Dodds, Chief Commissioner Anderson.  My name is John Vellone, and I'm counsel for the applicant, North Bay Hydro Distribution Limited, and with me today is my associate, Flora Ho, who will be available to help us navigate through the electronic record to the extent necessary.

I propose allowing each of the witnesses on the panel just to introduce themselves directly to do a bit of an audio check.

Mr. Payne, do you want to get us started?

MR. PAYNE:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Matt Payne.  I am the President and Chief Executive Officer of North Bay Hydro.

MS. CASSON:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Melissa Casson, and I'm the vice-president of finance at North Bay Hydro.

MR. PILON:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Roch Pilon.  I'm the vice-president of engineering at North Bay Hydro.

MR. ROTH:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Michael Roth.  I am the regulatory manager at North Bay Hydro.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much.  We'll take all of the list of the intervenors and then we'll proceed back to the witness panel to administer the oath.  Consumers Council of Canada?

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning.  Julie Girvan, appearing on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.  Thank you.

DR. DODDS:  Hydro One Networks?  Hydro One Networks available today, appearing today?  Not hearing further, Mr. Rennick?

MR. RENNICK:  Good morning.  My name is Don Rennick.  I'm a consumer, customer of North Bay Hydro, and beneficial shareholder.

DR. DODDS:  School Energy Coalition?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

DR. DODDS:  Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition?

MR. GARNER:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Mark Garner, and I'm here representing VECC.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you all.

Are there any preliminary matters, Ms. Djurdjevic?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, I believe Mr. Vellone wanted to raise a procedural question -- request.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  The request is -- relates to Decision and Procedural Order No. 3, which sets out the timeline for the filing of submissions, and it is effectively to ask for an extra week to file reply submissions.  The current procedural order has us preparing reply submissions in one week, which is, I would say, challenging to do to review the submissions of all the parties, work through it with my client, and then prepare and file reply in seven days.  The ask is to extend it to 14 days, which is the same length of time that the intervenors get to do -- prepare their submissions in response to in-chief.  I unfortunately have not have had an opportunity to canvass this idea with any of the other parties today, due to the virtual format that we're dealing with.  I don't know if you want to hear from them now or you want to wait until the end of the day.

DR. DODDS:  We'll wait until later in the day, maybe end of the day.  But we will -- the Panel will get back to you with respect to your request, Mr. Vellone.

Now that the witnesses have been introduced, could I ask Ms. Anderson to administer the oath.

MS. ANDERSON:  So I'm going to call out each of your names and have each of you respond to it.  Mr. Payne, Ms. Casson, Mr. Pilon, Mr. Roth, you are about to give evidence in this hearing.  This panel is dependent on you telling us the truth and the law requires you to do so.  Therefore, before you testify I must ask you this.

Do you solemnly promise this panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

MR. PAYNE:  Yes.

MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MR. PILON:  Yes.

MR. ROTH:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Do you understand that breaking that promise will be an offence under our law?

MR. PAYNE:  Yes.

MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MR. PILON:  Yes.

MR. ROTH:  Yes.
THUNDER BAY HYDRO DISTRIBUTION LIMITED - PANEL 1

Michael Roth,
Matt Payne,
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MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  My script says please be seated, but I think we will forego that and move on to the next phase.

Dr. Dodds?

MR. VELLONE:  Should I proceed with opening remarks?

DR. DODDS:  Yes, thank you very much, Commissioner Anderson.  Mr. Vellone, please proceed with your cross-examination.
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  CVs were distributed on Friday in advance and filed on the web drawer.  I think it does make sense to have that marked as an exhibit, as I understand one of the parties intends to refer to them today.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We'll make that Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  PANEL 1 WITNESS CVS


MR. VELLONE:  In addition to that, the applicant did file a summary of their opening remarks in advance, also on Friday, primarily so as to facilitate questioning by the parties on the opening statements.

Perhaps it makes sense to have that marked as an exhibit as well.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  APPLICANT'S SUMMARY OF OPENING REMARKS


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  Now, without going through all the CVs, I propose allowing each of the witnesses to briefly introduce themselves.

Mr. Payne, would you like to get started?

MR. PAYNE:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Again as I mentioned, my name is Pat Payne. I am the president and chief executive officer of North Bay Hydro.  I've been in that position since 2017, and have worked in various other roles at North Bay Hydro since I joined in 2004.

As President and CEO, I oversaw and am ultimately responsible for the application.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  Ms. Casson, would you like to go next?

MS. CASSON:  Yes.  Again, good morning.  I'm Melissa Casson and I am the vice-president of North Bay Hydro.  I've been in this position since 2018, and I have held various other positions since I joined North Bay Hydro in 2008.

As Vice-President of finance, I oversaw and am ultimately responsible for this application.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Pilon, I believe you're on mute.

MR. PILON:  Good morning.  My name is Roch Pilon.  I am the vice-president of engineering at North Bay Hydro.  I joined North Bay Hydro in 2018 and I have been responsible for the engineering operations and maintenance aspect of the application.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Roth?

MR. ROTH:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Michael Roth, and I'm the regulatory manager at North Bay Hydro. I've been in this position since 2018, and I have held various other positions within the organization since 2010.

As the regulatory manager, I had primary responsibility for the application, reporting directly to the vice-president of finance and the President.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Payne, Ms. Casson, Mr. Pilon, Mr. Roth, was the application, including all interrogatory responses, and updates to the evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. PAYNE:  Yes.

MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MR. PILON:  Yes.

MR. ROTH:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you adopt the evidence as your own in this proceeding?

MR. PAYNE:  Yes.

MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MR. PILON:  Yes.

MR. ROTH:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Are there any corrections you would like to make to the evidence at this time?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, there is one correction.  In the evidence at page 26 of Exhibit 4, which is section 2.4.2.9, it states that North Bay Hydro's proposed costs for this application are $793,551.  This forecast did not include the cost of an oral hearing.  Based on our latest available information, the corrected forecasted cost for this application, including the estimated costs of this hearing, is $711,000.

The forecast was based on 2015 actual costs, with approximately 15 percent in cost reductions incorporated into the total.  We then put forward considerable effort to minimize the use of external consultants, though this was not done without personal sacrifice from the team at North Bay Hydro, but we do believe this revision an excellent example of the drive, focus, and ability to manage costs.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  The witnesses have prepared a brief opening statement, a summary of which was circulated and is K1.2.  Mr. Payne, would you like to get us started?
Presentation by Mr. Payne:


MR. PAYNE:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone and Commissioners. Good day, everyone.  I'd like to take a moment to thank you in advance for your time and considerable as it relates to the future success of North Bay Hydro Distribution Limited, which I'll call North Bay Hydro as I move along.

North Bay Hydro is asking for 2.1-million-dollar increase for OM&A costs.  I understand this is a large increase.  Let me tell you how we get got to this point.

The primary OM&A costs relates to resource requirements.  The evidence detailing these resource requirements are outlined in Exhibit 4.  The business planning process we used to identify the key risks and the proposed reallocated new resources to mitigate those risks are more fully outlined in Exhibit 1 in the evidence.  My intent is not to repeat that material again this morning, but rather to provide context to what you can read.

When I started my role as CEO in May 2017, let me tell you what I found.  I found a utility that was limping along after being crippled in the early 2000s.

Shortly after market opening, North Bay Hydro went through what can only be called a chaotic few years.  I saw a complete turnover in utility management, the introduction of a board that was forced out three years later, a major union dispute that culminated in a strike, and many, many departures.

Over this time, North Bay Hydro went from just under 60 to just above 40 employees.  The utility was gutted.  North Bay Hydro was limping along, as I said, since that time.  Some may say you did more with less; that's efficiency, that is a great thing.

Well, as evidenced throughout the application, running a very lean utility comes at a very high cost.  Let me tell you what that cost is.  A lean management is simply unsustainable.  The management team was routinely working 60 to 70 hours a week.  Initiatives required to improve the business are consistently being put on the back burner, or not completed at all.  This problem has been going on for years.

Examples of what I'm referring to are set out in table filed in response to pre-settlement clarification question number 4, which I'll get to in a moment.  This is why in 2018, the new management team immediately started the process to realign employee complement to better meet the needs of the utility.  The board started with the low-hanging fruit first, targeting opportunities to recast certain positions to meet business needs.

One good example of this effort was in the IT department, which Ms. Casson will speak about later, by eliminating contract workers and repurposing other positions.  After relocating was complete, the team identified gaps in the areas of risk with the outcome of this effort being an identification of four incremental FTEs over and above the 2015 OEB-approved number.

The first involved the introduction of a communications officer in late 2019.  This position was directly responsive to the increased expectation that, as a natural monopoly, we needed to be constantly communicating with our customers, not just for the rate application every five years, but all the time.

This critical function at the utility now has actual ownership, and the individual is responsible for all customer engagement, social media, internal communications, interactive content, and public relations.

The second is the introduction of a shared administrative assistant.  North Bay Hydro does not have a single administrative position within the entire company.  Let me say that again:  In a company that is currently 50 FTEs, we have zero administrative support.  This results in managers and executives undertaking tasks that are not reflective of their cost or skill set, such as filing, scheduling, completing expense reports, photocopying.  You get the idea.  This additional resource is intended to free up management time to provide more value-added tasks.

The third is the introduction of an operations coordinator.  The role will provide much needed support and redundancy to the existing operations manager and operations supervisor, the two people which are tasked with delivery on a $6 million capital program and a $3 million O&M program each year.  The two current individuals are so busy as is they do not have time to take on additional responsibilities that I believe are essential to the business.  As a consequence, the safety program is being currently handled by the HR manager, who has no operational experience; and procurement is done by a union employee, does not have authority to make decisions, is not involved in management discussions.  These things just don't make sense.

In addition, in the event of an absence within the operations and management team leaves just one employee to run the main operation of the utility, leading to 100 percent on-call, an enormous workload, and an inability to take vacation.  This happened last year and lasted for six weeks.  Thankfully it was only six weeks, as problems were already starting to occur.

The addition of an operations coordinator will add much-needed redundancy and increased capacity to address areas lacking attention and deliver upon operational improvements.

The fourth staff increase request is for a succession plan resource.  The two existing operations employees are both eligible for retirement today.  They total over 70 years of operational experience equating to a wealth of knowledge that cannot be transferred without sufficient overlap.  The proposal is one resource to cover both [indiscernible] requirements over the next five years, with the position then being absorbed within the department after five years, as one of the total three positions we propose.

These four incremental entities will help us deliver on four key outcomes of this rate application.  First, make enhanced customer engagement part of everyday business, ensuring customers receive the information they need on a timely basis; OSEA annual breakfast with CNI customers; OSEA forum for the developers, contractors, and other stakeholders; creating a focus group for each customer class; and meeting one-on-one with our top ten, 20 customers.  It will also involve increased bill inserts, increased marketing, including e-billing campaign to transition customers to paperless billing, and overall increased presence.  Redesign of the website, easier access, up-to-date, relevant information and interactive content.  The creation of an app, and improvement to the existing customer portal, My Account.

These above initiatives result in proposed cost of 165K per year.

Second, to support improvements, formalization, modernization of policies and procedures.  The addition of the new FTEs will create time for existing FTEs to focus on the improvement of their respective policies and procedures, while the utilization of third-party subject-matter experts will provide expert support and advise on best practices and help ensure updates are actually completed.

If I could take everyone to the pre-settlement clarification response number 4.

MR. VELLONE:  I believe that's visible on the screen.

MR. PAYNE:  Thank you.  The table summarizes the policies, procedures, and our processes that require updating.  You can see the list is long and spans every aspect of the business.  I will not go over each and every one item now, but will highlight a few.

First, the conditions of service, last updated in 2007.  This is a regulated document that needs to be kept current for the sake of the customer.  While updating has been discussed many types over the past 10 years, it just hasn't happened.

Second, our corporate policies.  The majority of these documents, 13 policies that --


DR. DODDS:  Excuse me, is that on the screen?  I don't see it on my screen.

MR. PAYNE:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  I do see it on my screen.  Is anyone else having a challenge with their screen sharing?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm seeing it on my screen, Mr. Chair.

MS. GIRVAN:  I'm having trouble following Mr. Payne.  He is speaking a bit too quickly.  If he can try to slow down, that would be very helpful.  Thank you.

MR. PAYNE:  Okay.  Are we going to solve the problem about not seeing this on some people's screen, or...

MS. GIRVAN:  Does it say "description" in the top left corner?

MR. PAYNE:  It does.

DR. DODDS:  It's on my screen now, thank you.

MR. PAYNE:  So restarting, second, our corporate policies.  The majority of these documents, 13 policy sections, relate back to 1990 or the early 2000s.  There is entire policy on hot-water tank heaters no longer applicable for an LDC.  The section that speaks to energy pricing before deregulation, and of most importance, policy section 5 that relates to policies for employees.  These are so old no one even bothers to use them or abide by them.  This creates corporate dissatisfaction and a lack of overall buy-in from employees.

The last one I'll touch on is the safety program.  Safety documentation exists but is out-of-date, siloed, and has no real system behind it that ensures successful management and utilization.  This is a place I vowed to change when I took the lead role in 2017, and unfortunately have made no progress on it to date, primarily because no one has actual ownership of the program.

No matter what item you pick, the overall theme is the policy or process is out of date, is no longer relevant, or it does not exist.

Policies and procedures and processes are the foundation that keep the day-to-day business intact, driving governance, setting expectations for both the employees and the customer, and establishes practices to keep employees safe, all through successful, clear documentation.  This does not exist in North Bay Hydro, and therefore attention and expert assistance is required.  Proposed cost of 150K per year is being requested to engage with third-party subject-matter experts to provide advice on the precedents, implement best practices, and make North Bay Hydro policies and processes current.

The third outcome is to drive improved O&M practices and performance.  Ownership and constant attention to the safety program, ensuring best-practice procurement, active contracting and third-party coordination, and handling of discrete customer concerns are all areas that the addition of the operations coordinator will improve.

In addition to the improvement of existing initiatives, it goes also to support the following new initiatives:  non-destructive pole testing and underground cable testing, to enhance asset condition data, improving information L-shaped future distribution system plans, a long overdue ARC flash study, driving safety of the utility GS and upgrades to better manage and store all of the information above.  Proposed cost of 205 K are included to tackle these new initiatives.

Fourth, and finally, to support succession planning.  Succession is critical to ensure the continuity and success of a business, but most importantly to equip new employees with the knowledge to do the job safely, proficiently, and with confidence.

In summary, my goal with this plan is to put the right people with the right skills in the right seats and to ensure the utility is properly positioned to move into the future with the right policies, procedures, and resources in place.


Thank you for your time.
Presentation by Ms. Casson:


MS. CASSON:  Thank you, Mr. Payne.  The total OM&A cost envelope that we're asking the Board to approve is 8.56 million.  That is a 2.14-million-dollar increase from 2015 Board-approved amounts and 2.4 million from 2015 actuals.  Every member of this team understands that this is a significant increase, and it is not a decision we made lightly or hid from.  If we could manage and move the business forward with inflationary increases, this would have been a very different application.  We understand what we're asking for, and we also understand the challenges and questions that would come from such an ask.  We have met this head-on in the evidence we have presented in the application and throughout the process.

Simply put, we believe in what we're asking for, which is why we are here today.  We understand the OEB Commissioners have in recent decisions used a formulaic approach to assess the reasonableness of an applicant's OM&A increase.  In our view, rigid adherence to a formulaic approach during a cost-of-service rebase application is problematic for a number of reasons, but we acknowledge that a formulaic approach can provide some probative value from a benchmarking perspective.

In this context we respectfully request that the following -- that several adjustments be taken into consideration, if reviewing the North Bay OM&A increase using an ICM-like formula.  First, the formula should be adjusted to address cost drivers outside of management control.  This list includes an increase to OEB licence fees; incremental cybersecurity costs, both in response to the OEB's cybersecurity guidelines, and to better protect customer data from increasing cyber threats, mandated by annual customer survey and satisfaction, customer safety and satisfaction survey, increased pole rental costs due to the OEB's decision to increase pole rental fees for wire line attachments, one consequence of which is that North Bay Hydro is charged a correspondingly higher fee to attach third party poles; an increase in the volume of smart-meter verifications, and incremental actuarial valuation assessments related to employee future benefits that flow through OM&A.

Second, the formula should be adjusted to reflect the fact that North Bay Hydro's 2015 OM&A underestimated the actual time our operations and engineering staff dedicate towards OM&A on an annual basis.  We have corrected this allocation between capital and OM&A in this rate application, and have further explained the rationale at interrogatory response 4 Staff 50.  However, any historical comparison must be corrected to account for this historical misallocation to ensure an apples-to-apples comparison.

For example, after a detailed review at the individual employee level, the impact of this adjustment in 2015 is $156,000.

Third, the backfilling of an unusually high number of vacancies to address known resource caps.  Over the historical period, we have had a one-time significant transition within the executive and management teams resulting in internal movement throughout the organization and higher-than-normal vacancies.

The impact of vacant positions is felt throughout the organization directly and indirectly, and a complete transformation at this level cannot be understated.

Through this period of transition, internal movement, retirements, and external hiring, the team took the time to determine whether positions did in fact need to be replaced one for one, or whether there were areas of the business that resource tasking would provide better value.  Our collective bargaining agreement stipulates that the company cannot contract out union work, and so it is imperative that we take the time to properly assess positions and in some cases this spanned multiple years.

After considerable effort, these positions are now staffed properly and are incorporated as full-time employees in our cost structure.  As an example, the backfilling of vacancies and retasking in 2018 started the transition results in a $529,000 adjustment to a formulaic approach.  Compare that to 2016 of $237,000.

We do not think the company should be penalized for a higher level of vacancies due to this one-time transitional event, or for taking the time to put the right people in the right seats.

Fourth, the development of our IT department has been a major focus [audio dropout] since 2017, and the department has transitioned from one employee plus a contract worker to four internal employees and the elimination of the contract.  This change has enabled the company to properly address cybersecurity, network needs, assist with the enhancement of day-to-day business needs, utilizing our systems differently, and has provided expanded billing and meter data support.

Two of these positions were offset by retirements, and the third, while an incremental employee, is offset with lower contracted costs.  However, IT costs are 100 percent OM&A and there is an incremental OM&A impact to the business as the true retirements were from the operations department and as such, a percentage of their cost were capitalized on an annual basis.

Fifth, the incremental FTEs that Mr. Payne has discussed.  Throughout Exhibits 1 and 4, we have provided the rationale for the addition of these resources.  We believe that the costs in this application, and therefore the proposed increase and drivers in their entirety, will improve the business holistically from both an operational and customer perspective.

We also believe that the staffing changes and the programs we've put forward will result in sustainable efficiencies that will inherently benefit customers.

We understand the role of intervenors to challenge this application.  Many questions and views provide valid inputs and perspectives.  We also understand and respect the role of the OEB and the responsibility of ensuring customers' interests are protected.

 However, no one in this process understands or cares about our community and our customers that we serve more than we do.  We operate in North Bay, we are partners in North Bay, and we care about this city.  Our customers are our friends, our family, our neighbours.  They vote in elections for representation with our municipal shareholder and for Northern Ontario.

We are constantly balancing the needs of the business with the needs of our customers and future sustainability and reliability.  From our perspective, this application does that.
Presentation by Mr. Pilon:


MR. PILON:  Thank you.  I will now provide more details on our operational OM&A expenditures, specifically the vegetation management program.

Our vegetation management program is one of the most important reliability programs we have at North Bay Hydro.  There is a clear correlation between the dollars spent on vegetation management and the increase in reliability of our overall system.  The Highway 63 area used to see numerous outages every year, but line clearing was completed in 2019 and there have been no outages caused by tree contact since that time.  At the present time, there are regular outages caused by trees on Peninsula Road, and North Bay Hydro is currently performing significant tree clearing in that area.

An even worse situation than outages are the regular safety issues we find from trees growing in lines which causes risk of fire.  We are currently on year 11 of what was planned to be a four-year cycle.  We are currently planning to move to a five-year cycle in order to minimize the increase to the cost of the vegetation management program.  By increasing the funding to what we propose, we expect to be able to meet that goal in 2023.

On the long-term, this will also reduce cost when we return to trim again.  It will reduce momentary outages that are not tracked in reliability statistics and will improve safety.

Our outage frequency in 2020 was the lowest it's been since 2015, which in large part is due to the vegetation management program.

As shown in Table 2.7 on page 20 of the DSP, tree contacts were the third-highest cause behind foreign interference and defective equipment.

Limited tree-clearing contractor availability is a continuous issue North Bay Hydro has to maintain its vegetation management program.  This is caused by numerous factors.  One of them is the ability to attract bidders.  In 2019, only one company submitted a tender for a project.  In addition, that contractor did not have sufficient resources to perform all the work, so we could only award part of the work.  A second problem is to obtain qualified contractors that perform their work well, safely, and in a timely manner.

Let me explain.  For example, in 2016 North Bay Hydro had to terminate a contract due to dropped trees on the line.  One of these incidents put more than 2,000 customers out of business.  A separate contractor had to be brought in at a higher cost to complete the work.

Regarding safety, North Bay Hydro had to dismiss another contractor due to safety violations.  For example, during a site visit with IHSA, a contractor’s employees were not wearing proper PPE, and they had issues with their equipment certification.

Regarding timely completion, North Bay Hydro, being a smaller utility, has seen significant delays clearing contractors and to focus their efforts on larger projects.  In 2018, we had a contractor who kept pulling their crews from site to reallocate them to other projects.  They didn't feel our work was a priority compared to other contracts.  These issues required North Bay Hydro to find a solution that would guarantee continuous tree-clearing contractors.  Along with other utilities, we worked to develop a separate tree-clearing company called 17 Trees.  17 Trees provides a continuous and reliable service that ensures North Bay Hydro will always have a contractor available to do line clearing.  They provided important resources, especially in 2019, that allowed us to complete our work.

During the development of the Distribution System Plan, it became evident that North Bay Hydro had limitations in its data availability which reduced the information that fed into the analysis.

North Bay Hydro needs to improve its data collection to better justify its expenditure requirement and better manage its asset management program.  This includes additional testing of our assets, which will help optimize investment planning and identify failure risks which will avoid adverse impacts to system reliability and emergency replacements.

Some of the major programs include the following:

One, a cable testing program.  The proposed cable-testing program allows North Bay Hydro to collect condition data used in determining the health of its underground distribution system.

Two, a pole testing program.  The proposed pole-testing program allows North Bay Hydro to collect information on remaining strength which cannot be otherwise collected with its current pole inspection program.  This information will improve the health modelling of our poles.

Three, an ARC flash study.  The proposed ARC flash study will allow North Bay Hydro to better understand the ARC flash hazards associated with the equipment in its system.  With this information, health and safety policies, procedures, and safe work practices involving personnel operating equipment with a potential ARC flash hazard can be reviewed and modified as required.

Following that analysis, it also became clear that North Bay Hydro requires a better GIS database to store its data.  The proposed geographic information system upgrade allows North Bay Hydro to continue to improve and involve the management of its asset information, and introduces better methods of storing and utilizing data collected from the field through inspections.  This will also resolve current performance issues and data capacity constraints and will allow access to additional data collection and analysis applications.

Finally, as part of the initiative to improve and bring up to date operational policies and practices, the current North Bay Hydro conditions of service will undergo a compliance review and be revised to ensure alignment with the Distribution System Code.  North Bay Hydro has not done a full review of all its conditions of service since their initial development.
Presentation by Mr. Roth:


MR. ROTH:  Thank you, Mr. Pilon.  2020 was a unique year for most businesses across the globe, and Ontario was no different.  On March 17th, the provincial government declared a state of emergency in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  This announcement rippled through every organization and business in the country as the scrambled to react and plan for what the weeks and months ahead would look like, and North Bay Hydro was not unique in this regard.  It is not an exaggeration to say that our management team dropped everything in order to make a safe working environment and maintain the ability to react to the constantly changing landscape.

Immediately our focus was placed on safety and business continuity.  This included temporary policy development, creating work flows, work-from-home arrangements and contingencies.  All of these were changing daily as new information about the pandemic was being updated on a regular basis.  This was no small task and required the primary focus of our senior management team.

Secondary to this was adapting to new regulatory direction as it flowed from the OEB.  New programs like CEAP and the GA deferral were launched.  Emergency rate orders and disconnection rule changes were rolled out.  This is all in parallel to the customer choice initiative that went live in the fall of last year.

Further to all this was North Bay Hydro's commitment to its customers and community and our responsibility to help them through this time.  We took advantage of the OEB's offer to defer May 1st, 2020 rates, the loss of which we did not seek recovery of.  We focused on creating custom payment arrangements for anyone who needed it and we waived all late payment charges, and continue to do so to this day, which we will also not be seeking recovery.

Taking all this into consideration, it required resources and focus that would normally go towards a cost-of-service application.  Given the year 2020 turned out to be, we consider it a victory and a testament to the dedication of this team before you that we were even able to submit and did not have further disruptions.

As referenced earlier by Ms. Casson, we recognize that the Board has in the past used a formulaic approach when determining the reasonableness of OM&A requests.  Aside from certain adjustments outside of management's control, we also feel it's prudent to make adjustments to historical labour costs for the following:  Incremental positions, vacancies and retasking, and accounting differences in capital versus OM&A allocations.

Mr. Payne has previously communicated and demonstrated that four incremental positions are needed.  To account for these, an adjustment of their OM&A impacts should be made to a formulaic approach.  As referenced in Exhibits 1 and 4, North Bay Hydro has had tremendous turnover and change due to its staffing complement -- in its staffing complement since 2015.

In order to account for this when contemplating a formulaic approach, we believe adjustments should be made for both historical vacancies and partial full-time equivalents, as well as the effects of retasking four positions.

Lastly, North Bay Hydro has put forward a test-year budget with an assumed ratio between capital and OM&A for its operations and engineering staff.  In order to properly account for test year versus historical years, we believe adjustments should be made to reflect this change in accounting allocations of staff time.  These adjustments to a formula represent the differences -- these adjustments to a formula represent the differences in the 2021 test year and the historical years.  For example, if 2015 Board-approved year were to be used as a starting point, North Bay Hydro would be seeking the following monetary adjustments:  customer engagement costs, 130,000; external cybersecurity costs, 34,000; employee future benefit allocation, 10,000; enhanced vegetation management, 260,000; incremental joint use costs, 32,000; capital versus OM&A labour allocations, 147,000; historical vacancies and retasking, 66,000; new positions, 307,000; enhanced maintenance programs, 199,000; increased OEB assessment fees, 36,000; updated policies and procedures, 150,000; smart-meter reverification costs, 10,000.

As stated, these adjustments would be to the 2015 Board-approved year.  These values would differ depending on the starting point and the -- depending on the starting point and the underlying variables.  However, the categorization would remain unchanged.

In aggregate, these adjustments to a formulaic approach amount to 1.35 million in the 2015 Board-approved year.  For the actual years between 2015 and 2020, the aggregate adjustments range from 1.23 million to 1.74 million.  These adjustments to the formulaic approach are prudent, justified, and most importantly, necessary to reflect what has taken place in the historical period and to properly reflect the staffing needs in the future.  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Presiding Commissioner, the witnesses are available for cross-examination.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Vellone.  Mr. Shepherd from the School Energy Coalition, you may proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I want to raise two things.  First, it appears to me that -- I'm sorry, I'm getting an echo.  Is anybody else getting an echo?  It's not from my end.  I think --


DR. DODDS:  I'm hearing an echo.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Typically that means that somebody has left their mic on.  It's gone now.

So the first thing is, it is quite unusual to have an applicant on a very time-constrained day take us to almost ten o'clock with direct evidence, basically reading stuff that's in the evidence, and I'm a little upset about that, because we've had to cut back on our cross-examination time because of the time constraint.  And this is not appropriate.  There is nothing you can do about it; it's done, but I am concerned about that.

The second thing is I have a compendium, and I wonder if it could be given an exhibit number.  It's been distributed to all parties.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, good morning, Mr. Shepherd.  That will be Exhibit K1.3.
--- Reporter appeals.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  SEC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1.

MR. VELLONE:  And I have a question about that, Mr. Shepherd, before we move on.  I assume you'll walk the witnesses through the additions you've made to the evidence in your questioning, because no one has had a chance to read it.  It just came through last night.  I've gone through it, but I'm not sure they have --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes, but Mr. Vellone, the additions are merely straightforward calculations of their numbers --


MR. VELLONE:  I assume you'll be able to walk them through it to the extent --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  And can I confirm that the Panel members have the compendium?

MS. ANDERSON:  I'm just looking.  Can Staff confirm whether that was put into our binder?

MR. VELLONE:  It came through at around 11 o'clock for me last night.  I didn't see it on the WebDrawer either this morning.

MS. ANDERSON:  I don't think -- it's not in our binders.  I don't think I've received it.

DR. DODDS:  I do have it, I believe --


[Multiple speakers]


MR. SHEPHERD:  We are not allowed to send this to the Panel members directly.  We rely on Staff to make sure the Panel members have it before the hearing starts.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  I'm asking Staff to confirm whether that has been sent.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We are now -- okay.  We indicated that Board Staff has circulated it.  I don't know if that means before now --


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, thank you.  It's Ms. Anderson.  I see it now at my end.  Yes, thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  9:00 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, thank you.  I see it now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And my last preliminary matter is I wonder if the witnesses can make sure that during the cross-examination, they all have their video on.  I understand that we're trying to control bandwidth, but I think when you're cross-examining, you want to be able to see all the witnesses you're asking questions of, if that's okay.

And now I want to start -- and I'm going to share my screen, I think.  I'm going to try to share my screen, which is there.  I'm starting at page 36 of the compendium -- and my questions, by the way, for the witnesses are to the witness panel as a whole, unless I specifically say I'm asking a question of one member of the witness panel.

So this says the business plan -- your upcoming business plan, we asked for it, and you said it is not going to be available until on or after June 15.  So presumably, you've now completed that and talked with the holding company.  Can you provide that business plan, please?

MR. PAYNE:  Mr. Shepherd, the business plan has not been updated.  The reason for that is the outcome of this hearing is not complete, and without the outcome of this hearing, we're unable to update the business plan and provide our shareholder with numbers.  That's been socialized at the holdco level and been accepted at the holdco level, and it will be updated as soon as this proceeding is completed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What you're saying is you deliberately deferred the business plan because you want to wait for this Board's decision?

MR. PAYNE:  We are unable to update the business plan because we don't have an outcome from this decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a business plan that includes 2021, right?

MR. PAYNE:  Correct.  So again, there's a holdco business plan and then there's the business plan that's included in the application, which is on section 2.12 -- 2.1.2 of Exhibit 1, and that's the business plan that we're currently operating under, along with the budget that's included as what makes up the request in the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me understand that correctly.  Are you working to the budget that's in the business plan that's been filed, or are you working to the budget that you've asked for in this proceeding?

MR. PAYNE:  The plan that we're working to this year is based on what has been filed.  However, there are a number of elements on hold until the outcome of this proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, when you say what has been filed, do you mean the business plan that's been filed or the request that's been filed?

MR. PAYNE:  Let me clarify.  There is a business plan that was attached in this exhibit at -- I can't remember the appendix.  That is the holding company business plan that goes to the holding company to provide a high-level detail what's happening in the business.

There is then the business plan that is included in 2.1.2 of Exhibit 1, which is a fulsome business plan, and along with that is our budget which is included in the application.  Those are the plans we are working under.

The holdco report, which is the report you're referring to here in this question, will be updated for the holding company once the outcome of this proceeding is known.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  When you said -- I'm just looking for the reference here.  You said you're going to be able to control -- this is on page 13 of our compendium, and it's the interrogatory responses at page 35.  I don't actually remember which interrogatory this is, but I can get it if you need it.

But you said that for 2022 to 2025, you're going to increase O&M by 1.95 percent per year.  You don't have a business plan for that period, right?

MR. PAYNE:  Ms. Casson, are you able to speak to that?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, I am just finding the reference on page 35.  If you can give me one moment.

MR. PAYNE:  I believe it's Board Staff 2 -- I believe the reference is 2 Staff 16.

MS. CASSON:  It's actually Staff 17.  Mr. Shepherd, could you repeat the question for me, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes where did you get that number, 1.95, if you don't have a business plan for that period?

MS. CASSON:  Our business plan for that period is a high-level forecast, and we utilized 1.95 to inflate costs coming out of the 2021 budget that was in the business plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't actually have a plan for reaching 1.95 percent per year?  You picked the number out of the air?

MS. CASSON:  We utilized an inflationary increase, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not a plan -- so when you say you forecasted your system O&M, you haven't, have you?

MS. CASSON:  What we have done is taken the 2021 budget that we put forward that lists all of the things we are looking to do, includes all of the resourcing, includes all of the additional vegetation management, includes the enhanced maintenance plans.  We took those values and we said once we have this starting point, we can now operate the business on a going forward basis as an inflationary increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to ask a couple of preliminary questions about your direct evidence.  The first is you've just adjusted your regulatory cost forecast.  Does that mean that your OM&A number has decreased?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, it has.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It has decreased by one-fifth of that, right, so it has decreased by about 17,000?

MS. CASSON:  Yes -- just one second.  Yes, about 17,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The second thing is, Mr. Payne, you talked about -- I'm going to ask you, and I'm sorry, Ms. Casson. I'm going to ask you, when you're not answering a question to turn your mic off because I think that's where the echo is coming from.

MS. CASSON:  My apologies actually.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Payne, you said that you're having a problem with management burnout.  So I'm looking at the witnesses here.  You have four witnesses.  Mr. Pilon is the new guy.  He started in 2018, but all the rest of you -- you started at North Bay Hydro in 2009, Ms. Casson in 2008, Mr. Roth in 2010.  So how are you having a problem with burnout?  Everybody seems to want to stay there a long time.

MR. PAYNE:  I have a very loyal team.  I think we have very dedicated employees.  But I can tell you that each one of the panel people here have come to me and talked to me about burnout and about extra hours of work, and how difficult it is on them and their families.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You also talked about all the various problems that you faced in 2017 when you became CEO.  And basically, you painted a picture -- and maybe this was not your intent, but you paint a picture of a company that is simply a mess.  Like nothing is being done properly.  You have no policies for anything, your safety policies are out of date, your conditions of service are out of date; everything is a mess.

I have two questions about that.  The first question is, what have you been doing about that since 2017?  So that's my first question.

MR. PAYNE:  Again I think -- I'm not trying to paint a picture; that is the picture.  These are factual statements.  What have we been doing since 2017?  2018 and 2019 was putting the team in place to address some of these issues, and then 2020 was -- we were hit with COVID-19 and we were trying do a cost-of-service application to get to a starting point so we could start correcting these situations.

I think in the years since I've taken over, which is late 2017, '18 and '19 was all about people, retasking, filling vacancies, readjusting the business to fit the needs of the business.  In 2020, we planned to do a few things and unfortunately got stopped and halted because of COVID-19.  We adjusted to COVID-19, kept our employees safe, kept the business going, and we put a cost-of-service application in, which has a large ask to fix these problems.  And, you know, we want to get on with this.  We want to start fixing these problems.  That is the goal here, is to fix all these problems that have been identified.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it sounds like you haven't fixed anything yet.

MR. PAYNE:  I think we fixed a number of things.  We put a team in place.  That was a major transition in 2017.  I mean, the entire leadership team turned over.  That ended up resulting in turnover also in the union positions, and that's a tonne of work.  That's an extreme tonne of work for a small organization, a lean organization.  And I think we did a really good job of attracting people, and now we have got to retain those people.

You know, we have started to try to do things.  We spent some money in some areas.  We have increased vegetation management costs already.  You know, we've tried to start things, and unfortunately COVID-19 -- we did a tonne of things in COVID-19 to benefit the customer.  Mr. Roth talked about the deferrals we've made and the help we've done for our customers in COVID.  We had to change policies.  We had to develop business continuity plans.  We had to totally adjust, and we did so at the benefit for the customer and kept the business running.  We submitted the cost-of-service application.

The evidence should show that this is a huge, huge undertaking for a small organization, and it's very time-consuming and very difficult for the team to do one of these applications, handle COVID, and handle the day-to-day, and so I think we've done great things over that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wondered about your comments on COVID, because it looked to me from your evidence like in fact there's a whole lot of things you couldn't do because of COVID, and I would have thought you have all these people working at home and some of the things that they would normally do they can't do.  Why wasn't anybody working on corporate policies and stuff like that?

MR. PAYNE:  And the policies we were working on were relating to COVID.  I mean, it was ever-changing.  On top of that, provincial changes were happening all the time.  We changed energy prices, I think, monthly for about four months in a row.  We had new programs to implement.  That's what our people were working on.

And again, I will say people were working on cost of service.  I mean, that's the reality.  That is where my employees' time to work, were to compile all this evidence and put this application together, and this is my third one, and every one has been the same.  It is over a year's worth of time for employees to compile evidence and meet the filing requirements.

And again, we take this very seriously.  We believe in meeting the filing requirements.  We believe in high quality of work with regards to filing requirements.  That's what my management team was doing.  Everyone else was turning on trying to keep the business going.  We still delivered a capital program, even with COVID.  Our commitment to our capital program of 6 million, we delivered.  Our customer-service people, even though working from home, were calling customers, trying to get help out to customers.  I mean, we retasked our people and got them home, and they are doing beneficial things for our customers.

Again, when we talk about the management team in 2020, that time was all spent with the cost of service and protecting the business from COVID-19.  There is lot of work done in that year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It sounds like you said, we want to do all this additional stuff, but it's going to cost money, so we'd better wait until we can go and ask the Board for a pile more money before we start doing any of this stuff.  That's what it sounds like.

MR. PAYNE:  Yeah, I'm running a business here, and I'm not going to spend money that I don't have in rates.  And again, what that means is if we get cut here, very difficult decisions are going to have to be made to continue to run this business, because of things we stated in this application do have to get done.  That is the problem, Mr. Shepherd, is we need to do these things.  This is serious.  Policies cannot be out of date this much.  You know, we can't be burning out our people.  We need these costs to help get this utility back to a place of sustainability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It sounds like your -- the management team, and maybe not your management team, but maybe the previous one, I don't know, but basically did nothing, didn't run the utility properly, put it that way, for a decade.  It was -- it literally let things go to pot.  Maybe the management team made sure that the wires and the poles and everything were done properly, but all the back-office stuff was -- it looks like that was just ignored.  Is that a fair statement?

MR. PAYNE:  I don't think that's a fair statement.  I think what happened is this utility was gutted in the early 2000s and management teams tried to, you know, again do things with less and were unable to.  You know, I've been part of the management team since that time, and I know we've tried to do a lot of good things, and I think your characterization of the poles and wires have been addressed.  You know, we have kept metrics at good levels, our scorecard looks good.  But again, the inner workings of the company do not look the same way.

And so I don't think it's the fact that management team ignored this or didn't try.  Again, they were just unable, and that is the realization, is we're saying this will continue unless changes are made.

And so we are proposing these things because we truly want these things to be updated.  We want to bring our company back to a good place, and so we're doing that.  And I think if you look, I think there has been an increase of every time we've gone in front of our regulator to ask for a little bit more, and again, I think part of that is the affordability piece, that we're not trying to create huge increases, but we do have to get back to a starting point that works.  And so that's the challenge.  But definitely things have not been done that we are now seeing have to be done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to turn to page 3 of our compendium, and that's on the screen.  And this is the most recent 2-L, Appendix 2-L, that you filed with the settlement agreement.  And so you'll recognize this.  And it appears to me that the OM&A from the last rebasing, the actual amount you spent in 2015 to 2021, you're proposing an increase of 37.87 percent; is that correct?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in 20 -- let's start 2015.  In 2015 you actually spent a lot less than Board-approved, right?

MS. CASSON:  We spent approximately 200,000 less than Board-approved in 2015.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, it's true, isn't it, that every single year until 2019 you spent less than you were collecting in rates for OM&A.  Isn't that right?

MS. CASSON:  I would suggest that what we spent in OM&A for '16 and '17, '16, we were close to Board-approved, 2017, we were over Board-approved, 2018, Mr. Shepherd, we were under 200,000 as a result of all of the transition that happened.  2019 we are back up over Board-approved.  I --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's not correct now, is it, because you have to look at the OM&A per customer and you have to look at the fact that you're escalating your rates each year, right?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.  However, if you go
to -- just one moment here.  We are escalating our rates every year, absolutely, but we are not overearning in our regulatory return.  If you go to -- just one moment -- SEC 3u, it shows that we overearned in '15 and '18, you know, 10.65, 10.17, versus our 9.3.  Those are years where you can see we also underspent in our O&M, not so that we could increase our regulatory return but because we had factors happening in the business.  In the other years where we were from your perspective underspending, that didn't translate to overearning.

We are spending our dollars.  I think what this appendix shows is that in 2019 you start to see the costs increase, which is a result of us starting to get our team in place, and really resourcing with a very big thing for us.  We started to address the tree-trimming.  Our 2020 bridge year, you know, again without understanding the impacts of COVID we were rounding out the team, we were increasing tree-trimming once again, we were addressing policies and procedures, as Mr. Payne had said, and then in 2015 that team is rounded out.  We have incremental employees in there, and we're at a position that we think is appropriate and reasonable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2015 you said to the Board, we need 267.46 per customer in OM&A.  You actually spent 258.64.  Can you expect subject to check that that's 211,000 more than --


MR. RENNICK:  I wonder if --


[Reporter appeals]

MR. RENNICK:  Please?  Donald Rennick --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, Mr. Rennick, unfortunately, I'm asking her questions, and as a result, she has to leave her mic on and we're sort of stuck with a little bit of echo.

2015, $211,883 more was collected than actually was spent, right?

MS. CASSON:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, I think we don't align with how you characterize it.  We didn't overcollect and overearn.  We spent 200,000 less than we were approved.  It was a cost-of-service year.  The team was focused purely on the cost of service, and that is where the attention went, and that is the cost that we spent.

To characterize it as over collecting is an envelope of dollars and we work entirely within the regulatory return framework.  We also did not hit our revenue targets that were approved in the 2015 Board-approved numbers.

So all of those things balance each other.  They are all part of the formula.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't asking you at all about earnings, and I wasn't asking you about ROE, and I wasn't asking you about revenue.

The Board authorized you to collect for OM&A a certain amount in rates, and you collected that and you didn't spend that much, right?

MS. CASSON:  I would disagree.  We didn't collect all the dollars we were approved to earn in 2015.  Our distribution rates in 2015 were not the same value.  So to say we collected all of that O&M in 2015 is incorrect.

I appreciate what you're saying, Mr. Shepherd.  Yes, we did spend 6.2 million dollars in 2015.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2016 then, you spent -- you were collecting from customers $272 per customer for OM&A.  That's with the index, right?  The IRM increase.  And that would equate to $145,000.  You spent 145,000 less than you collected, right?  Will you accept that subject to --


MS. CASSON:  No.  Again, I appreciate the perspective you're showing, but in pretty much every given year, our distribution revenue was less than the OEB-approved.  So to say we were collecting every cent we were approved for is not the same.

What I will agree to, Mr. Shepherd, is that we spent $20,000 less in OM&A in '16 than what is showing on this table.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're not agreeing that your rates increased and your number of customers increased, and therefore you had more OM&A money?  You're not agreeing to that?

MS. CASSON:  I apologize.  I struggle to connect the characterization.  We did not collect 100 percent of our distribution revenue as set out in rates in 2015, and so we were managing to all of those factors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My calculation is that you collected $1.3 million more in OM&A from 2015 to 2019 than you spent.

I have put the numbers to you for the first couple years; you don't agree with the characterization.  My job here was to put them to you so you had a chance to answer.  You'll see them in argument.


Let me move to -- it looks like what happened is you were able to contain costs fairly well until 2019, and in 2020 and 2021 you have big increases.

The witnesses probably aren't familiar with Peter Thompson, but Peter Thompson is a famous counsel before the Board.  He coined a phrase "base-year stuffing" to refer to what happens to utilities going into a rate case, and so they start spending more money as fast as they possibly can.

And that looks like what happened, but it does appear that that only is true if the 2020 numbers here are what you actually spent.  But you didn't spend that much, did you?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.  In 2020, we spent approximately 6.8 million.  And again, Mr. Shepherd, I understand that looking at this, it looks like a hockey stick.  I understand that some people, or utilities, I guess, perhaps do spike their costs in the years preceding a cost-of-service application.  That was not the intention with our spending here.  Our intention in 2019 was to start resourcing the utility the way we needed it to run it properly.  In 2020, again, with COVID, so we spent 6.8.  What was missing there?  Four employees hadn't been hired until the end of the year because we did halt -- we halted a lot of things in 2020, to be honest, because we had no idea the implication of COVID.  We put in very stringent cost control, to be honest with you.  We ground everything to a halt for a while, and then started back up, as Mr. Payne said, with capital and that type of internal activity about May or June.  And then we didn't start hiring and a recruitment process until later in the year.  So in our 2020 numbers there are four employees that started towards the end of the year that are not included in that.

We halted all our corporate policies and initiatives not because they were not important, but because we had to focus on the cost of service and COVID.  We had to focus on our employees.  We had to focus on our customers.

So again I would say the 2020 actuals are not as -- operating under a different plan than what we put forward in the application.  2020 actuals are absolutely tied to COVID-19.  We did not increase spending as a way to justify to this Board, or even to the intervenors, you know, we need all this money; let's spend it now.  We don't operate that way.  I appreciate that perhaps you've encountered a different experience, but that's not what we did here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you did increase spending, didn't you?

MS. CASSON:  We couldn't increase spending in 2020 because of COVID-19.  It would have been not prudent just to go and continue spending not knowing what was going to happen and not knowing how it was going to impact the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's true, isn't it, that now you're in a position where you're asking for a 1.8-million-dollar increase in OM&A over one year.  Is that right?  The 26.4 percent?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, we are asking for a significant one-year increase from about 6.8 million in 2020 to the 8.5 that you see here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it's actually 8.6, isn't it?


MS. CASSON:  Sorry, 8.6.  Rounding up, we will round after 50.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Round the way you're supposed to.


MS. CASSON:  I --


MR. SHEPHERD:  24.6 percent; would you agree with that?

MS. CASSON:  Subject to check.  I don't have the math in front of me, Mr. Shepherd.  But I trust your numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you ever seen a utility that asked for a 26.4 percent increase in OM&A in one year?  Have any of the witnesses seen one?

MS. CASSON:  I cannot rhyme off any utilities specifically.  I do know to -- I can't rhyme off any one off the top of my head.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm showing you page four of our compendium, which is the first of our questions on your updated evidence.  And you provided benchmarking information, right?

MR. ROTH:  We did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we asked you what are we supposed to take from this, and you said the intent is to show the benchmarking that NBHDL considered when assessing and determining that the resourcing requests made in cost of service are, all things considered, reasonable.

So you're intending that we see this as benchmarking information, right?

MR. ROTH:  Correct, Mr. Shepherd.  We considered these utilities to be, in the industry as a whole, probably our closest comparators given the criteria we put forward.  And if we are to be benchmarked against anyone, they would be the logical ones.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How is the Board supposed to use this information to determine reasonableness?

MR. ROTH:  Well, for a number of things.  We put forward columns that show head counts by total FTE and management FTE.  One of our big requests here in this application is rounding out the management team up to 13.  We are trying to show that, given our size, knowing that there are a tonne of caveats that need to be done to benchmarking of this case, because there is limitations in comparing one to one because not everybody reports or records information the same way, but given the head count in general, 13 is a reasonable request.  We are not anywhere outside the norm.  There are certainly some that are showing less than us, but 13 is well within the reasonable, you know, middle of the pack, for lack of a better term.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you see at the bottom of this page, you see that you say, oh, by the way, our information is different from theirs because we include compensation billed out to affiliates and they don't.  Isn't that right?

MR. ROTH:  Not all of them, no.  My intent was to say that they're -- in Appendix 2-K that is filed as part of the Chapter 2 appendices, from reviewing other applications and Exhibit 4, it is clear that there is some inconsistencies in how people report 2-K.  So it's more a caveat to the overall benchmarking in general, is that there are some inconsistencies here.  So to use pure averages or things of, you know, to -- things of that nature, there are limitations to comparing one to one.  The goal was to take our comparisons.  We know there are limitations to this, but how do we rank anyway and see where we shake out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry.  Are you ranking or not?  Because it sounds like you're saying our information is different than theirs, it's not just in this, it's in all sorts of other things, right?  Our information is different than everybody else.

MR. ROTH:  Sometimes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so how do you then compare it to anybody else?

MR. ROTH:  The purpose of this is to show that we are doing some benchmarking.  We can't not do it.  There is no perfect benchmarking exercise that can be done.  This is the one we have done, and we think it shows our request is reasonable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you think that --


MR. ROTH:  There is no perfect benchmarking, Mr. Shepherd, I'm sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you think that comparing apples to bananas is benchmarking?  Because most people don't.

MR. ROTH:  It is not possible to compare apples to apples in this case.  That is what I'm saying.  So putting forward this is a way to do -- basically have -- the best we can do, as far as benchmarking goes.  You may characterize it as apples to bananas, but my contention is apples to apples is impossible due to the limitations we've put forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you also say that you have staff in your management count that are not in complete -- considered management in other utilities --


MR. ROTH:  I cannot --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- How did you adjust for that?


MR. ROTH:  I cannot --


[Reporter appeals.]


MR. ROTH:  Apologies.  So as an example, within our management staff, this number of 13, we have a few staff who don't have any direct reports and they don't have, you know, they don't have direct reports or high-level decision-making authority.  We have included them as management staff because of kind of the nature of their responsibilities within the organizations and those kinds of things.  Other organizations might not view it that way.

And for -- one example that I was able to pull -- and again, you know, Exhibit 4 is not holistic as far as who is in what count.  It's very difficult to tie one to one.  But there are other utilities who would not include staff engineers in their management count; we do --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, Mr. Roth, I'm sorry --


MR. ROTH:  This is just one example --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- I'm going to stop you.  I can read what's there.  That's not the question I asked.  The question I asked was how did you compare to other utilities if you knew that your data was different than theirs?

MR. ROTH:  I think I answered that in the earlier question.  We know there's limitation to this.  We still have to benchmark against our comparators, and again, apples to apples is impossible.  This is the best benchmarking we can do here.  It's just to compare ourselves to our comparators.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to move to our question, if I can find it, question 2, and we asked -- you're comparing to data from different years in different utilities.  And we asked, well, how did you adjust for that.  You didn't, right?

MR. ROTH:  Not on the spreadsheet provided, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that spreadsheet -- I'm sorry.  Go ahead.

MR. ROTH:  There's an acknowledgment -- sorry, there's an acknowledgment that some of our comparators haven't been before the Board in quite a long time, you know, and we have to include them with the best data, with the best data we have.  One could provide an inflationary increase, and I'm sure the Board will take that -- the Commissioners will take that into account.  We were hesitant to provide the inflationary increase, because that makes a lot of assumptions along the way.  We would be assuming that, you know, for example, Bluewater, who was last -- their last cost-of-service year was 2013 -- that their cost would scale with some sort of inflationary increase.  I think that's a pretty strong assumption to make without knowing that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You describe that as if you're talking about how the Board can use this data, but I thought you were saying this is how we, North Bay Hydro, actually benchmarked to others.  Isn't that what you said?

MR. ROTH:  It's a little bit of both.  We're attempting to show the Board that our request for our staffing needs is a reasonable one.  We would have benchmarked on a far more informal basis.  This table was presented specifically for this application.  But absolutely, when we're seeing who -- when we are starting to plan our rate application and we are seeing, you know, where our costs shake out, we're absolutely looking at our preparedness.  It is not done in this chart.  It is in a much more informal basis.  But when we're looking at a head count of 13, we're looking around to our comparators to see, is this a reasonable number, and, yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that explains a lot.  So when you said this is how we benchmarked, this is not actually how you benchmarked.  This is after-the-fact information that you gathered to support your more intuitive benchmarking that you did at the time.

MR. ROTH:  That is a formalization of informal benchmarking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  The next thing I want to ask about is SEC number 3, because I was surprised that you took a group of utilities of similar size and then you said, well, we're going to exclude Kingston, a low-cost utility, and we're going to add Sudbury, a high-cost utility, and I didn't understand why.  You're saying, well, you excluded Kingston because you didn't have FTE numbers for Kingston; is that right?

MR. ROTH:  Yes.  They did not report full-time equivalent numbers in their 2019 benchmarking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you added Sudbury because they were basically the other major northern utility that is similar to you, right?

MR. ROTH:  Not similar in size, but probably similar to, you know, the challenges that northern utilities face.  We think there are some unique things that northern utilities have to deal with, so we chose to include Sudbury, because they were, for lack of a better term, a geographic counterpart, along with PUC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we then took the data you provided and we said, well, what about these comparisons?  And you'll see them here on page 8.  And we asked -- your data said certain things, and so we said, is this true, is this true, is this true, and you said, well, no, we can't confirm those are true, because you can't use this benchmarking to make comparisons.  I'm not sure I understand this.  What is benchmarking if you're not making comparisons?

MR. ROTH:  I think that the comparisons you're trying to make are at a, you know, a very, very granular -- that's -- apologies, that's the wrong term.  But the comparisons you're attempting to make are treating this as though it is apples to apples, and I think that's communicated that that's impossible, and, you know, the comparisons you're trying to make I just can't agree with, because, like I said, apples to apples is impossible.  Had you have -- you know, if you can get to a granular level of detail with these utilities and really understand how 2-K is filled out, what current-year costs are, those kind of things, the one-to-one comparisons in who makes up that management team, because mix obviously matters.

You know, if there's an attempt to in some way correct for those, again acknowledging that it can never be perfect, I could get closer with it to agreeing to some of the analyses you're trying to make, but I think there are limitations here that need to be acknowledged.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't attempt to correct for any of those things in your analysis?


MR. ROTH:  To properly correct for these things would take a granular level of knowledge of these utilities that we just don't have, and frankly, only the utilities themselves would have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You'll forgive me, but, you know, we spend a lot of time in Board processes doing benchmarking of various types.  The Board is probably the leader in the world in benchmarking utilities to each other.  I was just at a conference last week in which they were talking about that, about how Ontario is so far ahead of everybody else in benchmarking.

And this sounds like you're saying we're going to call this benchmarking, but none of it was actually benchmarking.  Isn't that correct?

MR. ROTH:  I'm not saying that.  I'm saying there is limitations to this benchmarking we provided.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to go to page 10 of our compendium and you saw this particular -- I'm just trying to find a way to change my format so I can see my whole screen.

This is something we sent to you weeks ago and this is a list of OM&A, O&M and G&A values for 2019 from the yearbook.  So these are all comparable data, right?

MR. ROTH:  They would all be from the same year, I agree.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they're the same type of data, right?

MR. ROTH:  They would be taken directly from US of A account numbers to compile this, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, isn't it, that when you go to a higher level like this -- to OM&A, for example -- then many of the problems that you're talking about, things like contracting out and stuff like that, they don't arise because that's at a more granular level and this is a higher level, right?

MR. ROTH:  This is a higher level, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You can see for example that Kingston Hydro is the closest, the next highest in size to North Bay.  But you excluded it because Kingston didn't have a particular piece of data that was relevant to your FTE discussion.

But it is true, isn't it, that including it for OM&A purposes is fair, right?

MR. ROTH:  Yes, I think in the responses we sent back to you, Mr. Shepherd, we included it in an updated table, just leaving that comparison blank.  It was not to leave it out because we compare unfavourably to it on this metric; that was not the intention.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You'll see that Kingston's OM&A per customer was 259.62, well below yours in 2019.  But you did include Sudbury.  You see Sudbury, which is a lot larger than you.  It's almost twice your size, and their OM&A per customer is 330.68.  That would mean that any averages that you do, you'd look better if you include Sudbury and if you don't include Kingston, right?

MR. ROTH:  If your implication is that we strategically included Sudbury and not Kingston, I disagree.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't say that.  I wouldn't say that unless I had some reason to.  What I'm saying is that's the result, right?

MR. ROTH:  Naturally that would be the result.  If you add one we compare favourably to and remove one we compare unfavourably to, then yes, that is the result.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now I want to go to the bottom, because the bottom looks at the average for the industry -- and we excluded Toronto Hydro and Hydro One, which is the standard way that everybody does these because Toronto Hydro and Hydro One are crazy -- I didn't say that.

But with everybody else included, your OM&A in 2019, before all these increases, was higher than the industry average, right?

MR. ROTH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was on both the operating side and the admin side, although the G&A side was higher.

MR. ROTH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  By the way, we're going to -- in a few minutes, we're going to get to your productivity numbers.  But this is consistent with your productivity numbers, right, which are also slightly above industry predicted costs, right?

MR. ROTH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is your comparator group, right?

MR. ROTH:  You have taken that table before and just isolated the ones from our group; is that correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.

MR. ROTH:  Yeah, it looks to be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the average for your comparator group, average OM&A per customer is 298.43 and you're 281.43.  So you're 17 dollars per customer lower than the average, is that correct?

MR. ROTH:  Your calculation looks to be correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  If you take the average and add inflation, will you accept subject to check that in 2021, your OM&A per customer should be 308.66?  If you take the average 298.43, add inflation -- so you already adjust to bring you back to average.

MR. ROTH:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And add inflation, will you accept subject to check that you end up with 308.66?

MR. ROTH:  When you say inflation, can you give me the actual numbers you're using for --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I used 1.77 percent per year.  Nothing much is going to turn on that, I don't think.

MR. ROTH:  If I'm going to check it, I need to know the underlying numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So would you accept that subject to check, or --


MR. ROTH:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And you're proposing I think -- we can go back to the page, but I think you'll remember this number.  You're proposing for 2021 352.93 per customer, right?

MR. ROTH:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that means that, objectively, you're asking for 44.27 per customer more than the average of the industry, is that right, objectively?  There's lots of reasons for it.  I'm not saying it's not justified. I'm saying if you look at the numbers, that's the result, right?

MR. ROTH:  You've inflated the industry average by the same amount, just so I understand what we're talking about here?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I've inflated the industry average from 2019 to 2021, and compared it to what you're asking for.

MR. ROTH:  I'm just writing something down here, Mr. Shepherd.  Give me a second.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. PAYNE:  Mr. Shepherd, can you confirm you're talking total industry or total industry excluding Toronto Hydro and Hydro One in that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm using your comparator group in this case.

MR. PAYNE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your comparator group.

MR. ROTH:  I agree. We're bouncing back and forth the numbers, and if you're asking me to check, I want to be clear.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 298.43, your comparator group, plus inflation of 1.7 a year for ten years, 308.66.

MR. ROTH:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask that is because it looks like -- again, just objectively -- you're asking for 1.1 million more than the comparator group on average, your comparator group.

I didn't see anything where you gave evidence to say this is why we're different from our comparator group and need more money.  Can you help me with that?

MR. ROTH:  I think we have clearly identified what is driving our increase, and I think for each individual piece of that, we have clearly articulated why we think that is necessary.

We're not hiding from the fact that, yes, if you take our 2019 actuals and inflate them and compare them to what we've put forward, what we put forward is higher.  That's quite obvious.  We're asking for an increase of 2.1 over 2015 Board approved OM&A.  Within that are increase in maintenance cost, an increase in vegetation management.  We're asking for increase in staffing and a few other things that clearly make up the difference.  Our policies and procedures that need to be addressed.  That's what makes up that increase.

Whether that makes us unique to our comparator group, I'm not sure.  But I think we have articulated why we're asking for this increase, and I think we've justified these reasons for it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're reverting back to your bottom up approach, and keep in mind I'm trying to look at empirical data trying to understand whether what you're asking for is justified empirically.

So I'm asking you from a total point of view, a total LDC-serving-their-customers point of view, is there some reason why you can't run your utility at a similar cost to the comparator group you selected?

MR. ROTH:  I think we have articulated what is driving this increase that takes us outside of this comparator group, and I think that we have justified those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you want to go down the list and tell me which of those things in the comparator group are different for you than for your comparator group?

MR. ROTH:  We would not know the inner workings of our comparator group to that level, to know exactly what programs is making up their OM&A costing.  We're showing what is driving our increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't benchmark, then?

MR. ROTH:  We did.  We have shown that we benchmarked.  If your benchmarking is to know the inner workings of every utility at a granular level, no.  No one knows that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the Board were to say, well, we're going to look at what an average of a comparator group should be spending and cap you at that much, what's your answer to that?

MR. ROTH:  We feel we have put evidence on the record as to why we should not be capped at that, and that is their decision to make.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now I want to go to page 12 of our materials --


DR. DODDS:  Oh, Mr. Shepherd --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

DR. DODDS:  -- Bob Dodds here.  Would this be okay in your testimony or your cross-examination to take a break?  Would that -- or do you want --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Could I request that, Chair Dodds, that I be allowed do this page, because it relates to the last one?  It will take me two minutes.

DR. DODDS:  Fine.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Payne, just continuing, or Mr. Roth, whoever wants to answer, what we've done is we've adjusted the comparator group by taking out the outlier, Sudbury, and adding in Kingston, because you only took out Kingston because you didn't have FTEs and we're not comparing FTEs here.  So as you've agreed, we can put it in.

And it looks to me like you're actually not quite as much better.  You're still better; you're $11 per customer better.  And we did the same calculation.  We said that equates -- if you take the average of this comparator group and you move it to 2021 with inflation, that means you should be spending 302.54 per customer, which is more than 50 dollars less than you're proposing, $1.2 million.  And so I'm asking you the same question.  Do you have some justification that demonstrates that at a high level you should be spending more money than these other utilities?  And I'm not asking you to give me the components, I'm asking you to give me something different about your utility than them.

MR. ROTH:  If you take this comparator group put forward by you -- we'll trust your figures.  I think we've articulated why the comparator group we chose is accurate, and my answer is ultimately the same.  We have things in here that likely are different than our utilities.  We've attempted to isolate the cost drivers for us.  I can't say what these other utilities are as far as corporate policy initiatives and those kinds of things are, but these are the kinds of things we put in our application we think are needed.  They drive our increase we think is justified.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, thank you for your indulgence, and this is a good time to break.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much.  The proceeding will take a break for 10 minutes.  We will reconvene at eleven o'clock.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:48 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:02 a.m.

Procedural Matters:


DR. DODDS:  Mr. Shepherd, before you continue your examination, there is a procedural matter we ought to deal with.  Mr. Vellone, you asked for an extension of seven days, and that's with respect to your reply argument, I believe, that's due July 21, 2021.  Is that correct?

MR. VELLONE:  That is correct.

DR. DODDS:  The Panel agrees with that.  It will be extended to July 28, 2021.  All the other dates will stay the same.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.

DR. DODDS:  Mr. Shepherd, you may continue.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd (Cont'd):


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just as a time check, I'm sort of dead on schedule.  I may have to drop off my last couple of subject areas, but I left the least important to the end, so we'll have to live with the pain.

I'm on page 13 of our compendium, and we have looked at this already.  This is where you refer to your plan to increase costs by -- OM&A -- by 1.95 percent per year from 2022 to 2025; do you see that?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you can go to page 18, please.  This is where you include the actuals for 2020.  It's a table attached to CCC 29.  Do you have that?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You'll agree that from 2015 actual to 2020 actual, your actual increase in OM&A was 9.08 percent.  Does that sound right to you?

MS. CASSON:  Subject to check, it sounds right to me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So $564,385, which I calculate to be a 1.75 percent compound annual growth rate.  Does that sound right to you?

MS. CASSON:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask that is you've got 5 years at 1.75.  You're going to follow it with four years of 1.95, and then you have one year of 26.4 percent.  We used to play a game as kids, which of these does not belong, and it sounds like this year doesn't belong.  It seems strange that somehow this year has to be this huge jump.  I mean we're talking about more than a quarter increase in your OM&A, and I'm looking for a reason why this pattern exhibits proper pacing of spending.

MR. RENNICK:  Excuse me, Jay.  I understand about the mics, but I cannot hear you when Melissa has her mic open and when she's not speaking.  I wonder if you can switch them off and on during the response and the question to make it easier for everybody to hear.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I appreciate that.

MS. CASSON:  I will have a look at my mic on our next break and see if I can fix this.  My apologies, Mr. Rennick, that it's a little difficult.

Mr. Shepherd, with respect to your question, why do we believe the 2020 test year belongs here, that it isn't a child's game of what doesn't belong.  Again, I'm going to take you back to what we are trying do here is put this utility in the right starting place.  We believe once we do that, we will be able to operate within inflationary increases.

We have done so in the historical periods based on the spending we've encountered.  We explained that in 2018 with the transition of management.  I understand that sounds like a broken record, I truly do.  But I can't understate how much of a significant change that was and what it required in terms of focusing on resourcing and addressing trees and then putting in place what we think the business needs so we can improve.

Those are the reasons behind the 2021 increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just stop you for a second?  I'm sorry and I don't mean to interrupt.  But I want to get you back to my exact question, because my exact question was you as a utility have an obligation, as the Board has communicated many times, to pace your spending, to prioritize and pace in a regular way, and not have big jumps up and down.  I'm asking you to tell us the rationale for not pacing in this case.

MS. CASSON:  I understand.  I believe I have explained the rationale for not pacing in our 2021 ask.  We were pacing, we were -- are attempting to address issues that by their very nature, Mr. Shepherd, I think don't enable pacing.  We need staffing; we need those people.  We need to address our tree trimming.  We have attempted to pace tree-trimming by switching from a four-year program to a five-year program.

We have attempted to pace by taking the underground cable testing and the pole testing and taking costs over five years and including one-fifth in the test year.

Again, I'm going to go back to the main issue here.  Sixty percent of that increase is in resourcing and we simply cannot pace our resourcing.  We need those people.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How is it that everyone else can pace their resourcing and you have do it all at once in one year, in a cost-of-service year?

MS. CASSON:  I cannot speak to how other utilities are hiring their people.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Basically it sounds like you're saying that whatever the Board says about pacing, we don't have to.

MS. CASSON:  Absolutely not, Mr. Shepherd, sorry, no.  Absolutely not.  We attempted to pace, but we need these bodies.  We only have 50 employees.  We are looking for an ops coordinator.  We are looking for an administrative assistant and we believe we have provided the rationale.

We are not disputing the benefits of pacing.  Our capital program shows we pace.  We are looking to pace on a go-forward basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're not, are you?  You're not adding more than inflation in the years subsequent.  In the cost-of-service year, you're saying we're going to get everything right now, 26.39 percent.  But then after that, we're not going to add anything.  We don't need to.  We're just going to increase with inflation.  How is that pacing?

MS. CASSON:  Because we believe once we have addressed the starting point, we will be in a position to pace the spending.  We will be in a position to see cost increases from OM&A be within the inflationary and paced way the Board looks to.  We believe that we will.

But this is addressing needs now as our starting point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at page 14 of our materials, which is VECC 6, and you've updated a table to show the forecast performance metrics using the PEG benchmarking system.  And it shows there's a big jump from 2020 to 2021, from 4.3 percent over predicted cost -- so you're already too expensive -- to 11.6 percent above predicted cost, correct?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's driven primarily by your increase in OM&A; is that correct?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And has North Bay ever been in group 4, cohort 4, even for one --


MS. CASSON:  We have not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This will be your first time, right?

MS. CASSON:  Based on the evidence that is filed here, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MS. CASSON:  I believe Mr. Roth could speak to this.  But I believe, based on adjustments to this table for our settlement proposal, that we do not move into group four in the 2021 test year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Really?

MR. ROTH:  Yeah, I can speak to this, Mr. Shepherd.  After updating this for what we filed with the settlement documents, which includes the capital reduction and the other updates, we do land just under the plus or minus 10 percent in the 2021 test year.  I can provide that updated version, if need be, as a similar scale down in the forecast years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you also adjust the 2020 bridge year to actual?

MR. ROTH:  We did, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the one-year result for the 2020 bridge year when you use actual?

MR. ROTH:  If you give me a moment, I'll try and pull it up here.  I don't have it readily available, so just patience, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you filed this, this updated table?  Is it part of the settlement package?

MR. ROTH:  It is not, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to file it?

MR. ROTH:  Yeah, I think I just said that I can file it if you need be, yeah.  Not a problem.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I get an undertaking number for that, please?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It will be Undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO FILE THE UPDATED 2020 BRIDGE YEAR TABLE SHOWING ACTUALS.

MR. ROTH:  Should be -- in the 2021 bridge year actual updates, the percentage difference is 3.5 percent.  In the updated 2021 test year it is 9.9 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you'll still be in 3, barely, but you'll be there?

MR. ROTH:  Correct.  We were never going to fall out of 3 on the three-year average that the stretch factors are based on, but, yes, we would stay there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Has your board of directors commented on your decline in performance, in benchmarking performance, from 2020 to 2021?  Have you reported this to them and have they commented on it?  That may be for you, Mr. Payne.

MS. CASSON:  I can answer.  We have not -- we have not provided the board with this table, Mr. Shepherd.  But we do provide our board with our annual scorecard, and it shows that we are in group 3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I sit on a number of boards, and if I saw this I would be, like, jumping up and down.  What are you doing?  How could this possibly happen?  We were good and now we're not good?  So I'm not sure I understand why you haven't even told your board about this.

MS. CASSON:  We did put our costs before our board.  We put together our requested OM&A increase.  We explained the rationale behind it.  We provided high-level bill impacts, and we were very transparent with our board.  Our board is aware of what is driving our OM&A increase and what we are asking for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you did not tell your Board that the OEB has an official method of predicting what your costs should be, and those costs are $2 million lower than you're asking for?  You didn't tell your board that?

MS. CASSON:  No we did not speak to this table.  Our board understands that the ranking for group 3 is plus or minus 10 percent of predicted costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to turn to -- and perhaps, Ms. Casson, you can turn your mic off.  I was echoing again.  This is your table, right?  Anybody can answer.

MR. ROTH:  It looks to be, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And we talked about all the various ways in which this -- these numbers are not comparable to each other.  They are in different years, and, you know, people have different ways of reporting things and that sort of stuff, and I don't want to go through that again.  I just want to ask one thing.  There's two columns, FTE yearbook and customer count.  And those are both 2019 columns, right?

MR. ROTH:  Yes, they would be, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  And will you accept subject to check that the average customers per FTE in your comparator group is 517?  It's just 29,995 divided by 58.

MR. ROTH:  Subject to check, yes.  I have done that count somewhere.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You're proposing for the test year that you will have 457 customers per FTE; is that right?

MR. ROTH:  Correct, but I will add a ballpark to that.  As we've stated, the numbers that come out of Exhibit 2-K are fully loaded numbers, so that includes all staff that work on recoverables or billed out to affiliates and shared services, those kinds of things, whereas in the yearbook it is, you are reporting staff that are focused on OM&A and capital work only, so work that specifically stays within the distribution utility.  So those numbers, you can see in almost all cases they are higher on the left.  There are some exceptions, but they are for us, anyway.  That's why there is a difference for us, is that our 53 is fully loaded staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. ROTH:  But just to your point, Mr. Shepherd, the number by dividing the calculation you just did would obviously get worse when we add our staff.  It might not be the full 53 that would be reported in the FTE yearbook number, but it would be an increase, absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your FTEs -- your customers per FTE that you're proposing, even if you adjust for that, are still higher than the average of your comparator group, right?  Or lower, sorry?  Lower?

MR. ROTH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to move to page 16, which is -- this is your most recently filed 2-K, which is the 2-K that was filed with the settlement agreement.  And all we've done is -- and we didn't really need do this.  I was going to just put these numbers to you, but I thought it would be easier for everybody to follow if we just did the calculations to show what the deltas were in each case.  And I'm happy to provide the spreadsheet for this, but they're very simple calculations, as you can see.  And what I want to ask you about is, you have a bunch of increases here that -- you started -- in 2015 you had 46 FTEs, right?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you had that many or less until 2020, right?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that 2020 number, 49, that actually isn't correct, right?  That's a forecast?


MS. CASSON:  That was a forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the actual?

MS. CASSON:  Our actual -- just one second, Mr. Shepherd. I have that information.  Actually, I believe that the 2020 actuals were 49.  I will need to confirm that, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason I ask that is because you have elsewhere said that your total compensation is about 6 percent lower than these numbers, and so I assumed that meant you had less people.

MS. CASSON:  Okay.  Yes, we would have had less people.  The other change to our 2020 actual, of course, would be that several of those positions were hired later in the year, so they were not in there for a full year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason I ask this is because all this time -- the Board said, okay, and in fact you agreed, and the Board then approved 49 people, and for six years you haven't had 49 people.  And now you say, oh, cost of service again, now we need 53 people.  Why wouldn't the Board say, wait a second.  Last time you told us 49 and you never needed them, so how come we -- why are we going to think you need 53 this time?

MS. CASSON:  Again, I appreciate your perspective, and I know that that is what these numbers look like at face value.  The 2015 we did not hit Board-approved.  Obviously we were in the middle of cost-of-service application.  The subsequent years we did run the utility based on the numbers you see here.  In 2018, though, again with the new leadership team, we believe that the appropriate number for the utility is what we applied for in 2015.  We have retasked positions, we have added new positions, and we are operating at the level that was applied for in 2015.  We are operating at that level now.  We have those seats filled, and we require those people.  What we are now asking for incrementally is the additional three people, one of which is succession to cover to retirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is a question for Mr. Payne.  Mr. Payne, when you came in in 2017 why didn't you say, here's our target.  We know what it costs to run a utility like this, because we can look at 55 others.  And so that's our cap.  We're going to stick to that.  We're going to control our FTEs and our compensation costs to make sure we stay within that cap.  Why didn't do you that?

MR. PAYNE:  So again, when I came in I looked at what was existing in the business.  We identified risks and we looked at what was in the cost structure and said we need these people in place.

We do have issues as presented in the evidence, and so we put those people in place based on the 2015 OEB-approved being approved at 49, which at that time was justified and accepted and settled on.  And so we put those people in place.  The company needed those people.

We didn't do benchmarking at that time.  We said those people are in our rates, let's put them in place, the business needs them.  So that's where we ended up coming into 2020.

We have now re-evaluated again and said there continues to be gaps, there continues to be things not being done.  There continues to be people being burnt out working tremendous hours, and that's not acceptable.

We want to plug the risks, mitigate the risks.  We want to relieve our staff, we want to ensure retention, and therefore we've added the proposed positions as I detailed earlier today in-chief, and that's in the evidence.  And that's how we did our assessment.

We did try do benchmarking to show reasonability of the ask, and this is where we landed and this is the decision we made.

I think the evidence will also show we considered a lot of other positions and we didn't add those positions because of that comparator and looking back and saying that is not going to work, we are not going to be able to afford that.  And so we scaled those ideas, those desires to run this business even better, backed down and combined them back into multiple discipline jobs.  Right?

An administrative assistant is going to help everybody.  A lot of utilities have an executive assistant and administrative assistant.  A lot of people have more people in their operations department to allow that department to run smoothly.  So we've added those people in those places to relieve pressures, to mitigate the risk, and allow improvements.  And that's how we looked at it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you at any time develop a plan to get down to predicted costs?  You will recall we looked at the pay benchmarking.  Did you ever develop a plan for how you would get to predicted costs?

MR. PAYNE:  We did not develop a plan to get down to predicted costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  This table shows that from 2015 to 2021, you're proposing an increase in management compensation of 73.48 percent.  But for non-management, only 18.76 percent.  So why is that?

MS. CASSON:  So why is that?  Our union and non-management staffing levels are appropriately staffed, Mr. Shepherd.  We have the right number of people to execute on the DSP, to execute on the maintenance and to manage and maintain our customer-service levels.

The increase in the management staff is significant because we have added, you know, in one case three new employees.  So we have added three new employees.  When you add three new employees to a complement of ten, it has an outsized percentage increase.

With respect to the other variables, we do have two positions on the management team that are at different skill levels, for lack of a better word, than we had in 2015.  So we have a distribution engineer on the management team in 2021.  We have a senior IT manager in our team in 2021 at a much different level, broader qualifications, broader experience than we had in '15.

Those are outliers that increase the management compensation line.  And then the reality is that we have had external recruitment.  There are competitive pressures there, and markets dictates the ultimate salaries that we bring people in to retain highly qualified people, and in some cases, that is higher than historical averages.  So those three components make up that larger increase that you see.

No one on our management team received increases that are astronomical, as you're seeing on these numbers.  That's not what this is a reflection of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm trying to understand is -- am I right in saying that for the Board to accept these big increases in compensation, and particularly management compensation, they have to accept your evidence that you're understaffed in management and you have to adjust for that?  Is that right?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, they would need to accept the premise we are staffing according to the needs of the business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the only evidence you have to support the fact that you're understaffed is that you didn't do benchmarking at the time you decided to increase your staffing, and the benchmarking you've used to support it today before the Board is, by your own admission, flawed.  Is that right?

MS. CASSON:  I think, Mr. Shepherd, we do -- as Mr. Roth said, we do informal benchmarking.  We do have discussions to determine if our management number is appropriate.

My perspective on the benchmarking -- and I'll just add this -- it is valuable.  There's certainly areas we can find best practices and efficiencies.  We're not saying it is flawed.  We are saying there are considerations that we believe are valuable to be taken into consideration when you are benchmarking.

Our management, yes, we are putting forth a case before the Board to justify our management complement.  Yes, we are asking the Board to trust that what we're putting forward is honest and accurate and we believe we have supported those requests.  We do not believe our management complement is unreasonable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Payne just said a minute ago -- I wrote it down -- that when you came up with this plan to add more people, you didn't do any benchmarking.  So I'm not sure I understand how the Board is supposed to conclude that there's evidence that you didn't have enough people, except you're saying we're all working too hard.  But other than that, what's your evidence?

MR. PAYNE:  The evidence also includes tasks not being completed; that's also in the evidentiary record.  The task also shows there are improvements that need to be done and they are not going to be able to be done without people.

And just to clarify and go back, to get to the 49 people, we did not do benchmarking.  But again, in assessing the needs of the business, we did look at peers and understood what was made up in their utilities, and that is now formalized and presented in this evidence which we reviewed earlier today, which you took Mr. Roth through.

So we did do benchmarking for the ones over and above the 2015 Board-approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2015, you told the Board -- after a negotiated settlement, you told the Board you needed 1.4 million in management compensation; you only spent 1.2.  Right?


Now you say you need 2.1 million in management compensation.  So why should the Board believe you?

MR. PAYNE:  I think we put evidence in front of the Board that is justified and reasonable.  And we have done benchmarking to the best of our abilities with the information available to provide that we have made a reasonable request.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to go to page 17 of our materials.  This is SEC 11, and here there's only one number I want to deal with.  It's in answer A.  Your 2020 actual for compensation was actually 5,559,418, right?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're proposing a 16.3 percent increase from 2020 to 2021, yes?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.  In 2020, as I mentioned earlier, we did not have four of the resources that are now currently in place, and have been since late 2020.  And then the additional increase is the incremental employees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you'll agree that you're asking for an increase in your compensation budget of $900,000 -- more than $900,000?

MS. CASSON:  Based on the numbers provided, we are asking for a significant increase in our total compensation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you agree it's more than $900,000?

MS. CASSON:  What numbers are you referring to, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  5559 to whatever you're asking, because I don't have it on this page, but you know what it is.


MS. CASSON:  Yes.  Yes.  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to go to page 19 of our materials.  We've looked at 18 already several times.  And on page 19 you say a majority of your management employees are below the 50th percentile in the 2020 MEARIE management salary survey.  Do you see that?

MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that salary survey on the record?

MR. PAYNE:  Yes, it is.  It's in clarification response number -- question number 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Thank you.  I couldn't find it.  Now I know where to find it.

I want to go to the exciting topic of tree-trimming, and I'll start with SEC 13.  So we asked in A how come you weren't able to achieve the four-year cycle that you were going for in 2015 cost of service?  Because in the 2015 cost of service you said, we're going to a four-year cycle, right?

MR. PILON:  Yes, in 2015 that was the request.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your answer -- no, that was also you settled, right?

MR. PILON:  But we didn't get all the funds that were asked for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you tell the Board you weren't going to be able to go to a four-year cycle?

MR. PILON:  Our goal was to keep going, but it was -- it would have been very difficult to reach a four-year cycle, absolutely, without all the full funding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't my question.  Did you tell -- when you filed the settlement agreement saying in the settlement agreement, we can operate the utility properly with these numbers, you set out -- did you tell the Board that you couldn't do a four-year tree-trimming cycle?


MR. PILON:  I'm not aware -- I'm not aware --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't finished.

MR. PILON:  I'm not aware --


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  One at a time, please.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't finished my question.

MR. PILON:  Oh, I apologize.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you tell the Board you couldn't do the four-year cycle that you said you were going to?

MR. PILON:  I'm not aware that the Board was made aware of this or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You certainly didn't tell them that four years is going to become 11, did you?

MR. PILON:  I'm not aware of that either.  I wasn't there at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is anybody aware of what you told the Board about tree-trimming in 2015?

MR. PAYNE:  I believe the goal was still to continue to try to maintain the four-year cycle based on competitive process for bidding and the work in front of us.  It became apparent throughout the process that this was not going to be attainable with the funding that we had been provided, so, no, we did not tell the Board at that time, because the goal was still to keep to a four-year cycle.  That is prudent management of trees in the utility sector.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did tell the Board, Mr. Payne, in that agreement that North Bay believed it could operate its utility properly with the money that it had agreed to, yes?

MR. PAYNE:  I don't know those words specifically.  I would have to see, but subject to check I believe that is probably accurate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board requires it in every --


MR. PAYNE:  Then yes.

MS. CASSON:  Mr. Shepherd, if I might, yes, Mr. Shepherd, that is in the language of the settlement document.  And I would suggest that the entire management team at that time did believe we could operate the business the way we intended, and I do -- I would echo Mr. Payne.  I don't think at that time there was an acknowledgment that that would mean we would need to double the length of our tree-trimming program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, how did you miss by so much, then?  And maybe this is back to you, Mr. Pilon.  You were targeting four and you're at 11.

MR. PAYNE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The only major change I can see, by the way, is that you went to 17 Trees.

MR. PILON:  No, that's not quite right.  What happened is we moved from an area -- from areas that had light to moderate vegetation, and the fact that we didn't have quite the spending -- we did spend the full allocations that we were given, and more, because the vegetation management requirements.  We've moved to a heavier, denser areas where we need to do some brushing and major clearing, so the cost of that has significantly increased.

We have only gone to 17 Trees a couple years ago, and the way we operate is for all of our work since 2015 up until now, we do issue a tender document -- tenders for tree-trimming, so where we get the market to provide us with costs and we award to the low bidder.  And when we use 17 Trees, which started a couple years ago, we basically benchmarked against the market industry, and what we get, and we compare the values and the estimates that we obtain from 17 Trees.  And for similar types of vegetation management areas, 17 Trees is very competitive, and -- which is why we use them.  And in the event that they would not be competitive, we wouldn't use them.

So the reason for the cost increase is solely because the areas that we are now currently performing vegetation management is in very thick, rural, right-of-way clearing areas where we have some brushing, large trees, and significant clearing that we have to do.  And a lot of that clearing also is in lines, which cause safety issues.  Therefore, we need to take outages, it needs more care and takes longer to perform.

So we have had increases in costs, but it's in no way related to 17 Trees.  It's related to the actual requirements of the vegetation management we need do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, doesn't that mean that the cycle is going to come back to the cheaper stuff, and so you only have a temporary problem if you're doing the hard stuff right now?

MR. PILON:  Eventually, eventually.  Like I said in my opening statement, eventually we are hoping that we will get to that point, but we're not even at our five-year cycle, and right now we have about 400 kilometres of lines that we have to do.  And we are spending -- we are doing about 20 kilometres of line right now at the vegetation management.  By the time we get -- in order to get to a five-year cycle, which is what we want to do, we need to be able to clear about 80 kilometres of line.  So we're going to have to do a lot bigger and longer distances, yet our hope is once we're done the major clearing, the clearing requirement is going to be significantly reduced.

So eventually once we've gone through a full five-year cycle, now we have areas that have grown for 11 years, and it will be 12 years next year.  There is again going to be some major vegetation management to do for those areas.

But once we can get to a five-year cycle, that's when we will really be able to see what the benefits are of spending that money now, because if we don't spend enough right now, what happens is we keep falling further and further behind.  So we need to really catch up to the allocation that we -- to our spending in order to get to our five-year cycle.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the problem is an urgent one.

MR. PILON:  Pardon?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The problem is an urgent one.

MR. PILON:  The problem is pressing, because the issue is, by delaying this, it just causes -- gives us more expenditures down the road, and it delays things.  As you know, vegetation grows, so the later you tackle a vegetation issue, the more clearing you have to do, so if you can manage it to a reasonable five-year cycle, then the amount of vegetation management you'll have to do is going to be very limited and easily manageable and controlled and it will be able to keep our costs down.  So -- but at this point we definitely need to increase our spending for that.

And I'm very passionate about it.  I fully believe what we're doing is right, and since I started here I'm pushing very hard because we see some direct benefits on that from safety and operational perspectives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You started in 2018, right?

MR. PILON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2020 your budget for tree-trimming was $686,000, but you only spent 596.  How come?

MR. PILON:  Well, because of COVID-19.  The intent was to spend a lot more.  However, with COVID we delayed some projects due to, as Melissa and Mike -- Mrs. Casson and Mr. Roth talked earlier, we delayed some of those contracts because we weren't sure -- we wanted to give ourselves some flexibility.  Yet we still spent more than our allocation from our 2015.  So we keep increasing it, but we had to slow down a little bit due to the COVID situation, until we found out what was going on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand your COVID reference.  It wasn't a safety risk to send crews out to do tree-trimming.  It was you were trying to conserve money, right?

MR. PILON:  At the time, what we were trying to do is monitor -- from a financial perspective, we were monitoring our financial situation.  So we didn't issue tenders out as early as -- usually we put them out in March, April, and May, so we can do most of the vegetation management in the summer, fall.  But we delayed some of those, so we weren't able to put out all the work we wanted to put out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're asking for a 30 percent increase in vegetation management in the test year because you preferred profits for the shareholder over something you say was a pressing problem.  Isn't that right?

MR. PILON:  No that's -- no, it wasn't about profits.  It was about reasonable and planning the spending.  In addition to that, all the various companies, everyone
was -- you know, some of them we were trying to work with them in order to -- everyone was trying to figure out their COVID situation.

But my intention was not about saving money for the shareholders.  It was just about general prudent spending for the corporation.  So we just delayed that.

Did we hit our 685 I wanted, which would have been a significant increase over what we spent over previous years, yeah, I wanted to hit that.  But did we -- we didn't.  Yet we still achieved what I think was a very successful year -- not probably -- our most successful year in vegetation management over the last six years.  So it was a very good year last year as well.

MR. PAYNE:  Mr. Shepherd, I'd also add, if we go to interrogatory responses SEC 3, we can look at the ROE with regards to providing profits to the shareholder.  You can see where our ROE is.  It's a very small number outside the deadband.  That's not what we did in 2020, it's not at all.  We were managing the business with the unknowns and the uncertainty that COVID brought, and that's the response.  It had nothing to do with providing benefit or profits up to the shareholders.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That $90,000 that you, by your own admission, underspent on vegetation management at 2020 increased the net income for the benefit of the shareholders, yes or no?

MR. PAYNE:  No.  The revenues were down in 2020.  We deferred rate increases in 2020.  We stopped charging interest on late payment charges.  Both of those things we could go back and recover from the customer; we decided not to.  So no, you have to look at the whole picture.  So no, that 90,000 didn't go to the shareholder.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you spent it, the shareholder would have 90,000 less, right?

MR. PAYNE:  Correct, but we did other things that balanced this out and that's how you have to look at the full picture.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Pilon, can you describe what this table is that I've got on the screen from VECC 35?

MR. PILON:  Yes.  It's the amount of line clearing that we've done over the last six years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the comments area, tell us about that.


MR. PILON:  Correct.  The comments really reflect the vegetation management that we have do.  In urban areas, it's typically light to medium or moderate type clearing.  In rural areas, it can be from moderate to heavy, or very heavy areas where we typically have to clear a full right of way and that's not adjacent to roadways, where it's behind people's property, in forested areas, and where we had to clear some significant vegetation management.

So that's where we're at right now, are those areas.  So which is why in 2020, the numbers have gone down compared to '17, '18, where we were able to do more because it was lighter clearing areas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These three terms, urban, rural, and rural very heavy, are they technical terms or just descriptions?

MR. PILON:  They are descriptions that we use.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they are not like an industry standard that I can go look up, right?

MR. PILON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am right, am I not, that in 2015, the Board-approved amount for tree trimming was more than you had previously been spending, right?  It was an increase?

MR. PILON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And yet you didn't spend that much in 2015, right?  You spent less than the budget even though you went to the Board and said, hey, we need more, you then didn't spend that much?

MR. PILON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?

MR. PILON:  I mean, what happened in 2015 was -- I mean, it was a cost-of-service year.  I wasn't aware of what was -- I wasn't there at that time, so we -- it just happened.  We recuperated by spending more in subsequent years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand you weren't there and I was sort of asking the panel.  Does anybody know why this urgent problem which you said was urgent in 2015 -- in fact you said it was urgent in 2010, too, and also said you were going to go to four years.

Why then, after saying it was urgent and having a big increase, did you not then spend the money?

MS. CASSON:  Mr. Shepherd, no, we did not spend the money in 2015 that we asked for.  However, as Mr. Pilon said, we were in the middle of a rate application and the focus of the team was this rate application.  We then had to pivot back to the day-to-day operations.

As you see in the program table, we then continuously spent more than we asked for and were approved for in 2015, and we have continued to do so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In cost-of-service applications, it is -- there is a sort of a fool-me-once type of mentality that if you see a pattern in which somebody asks for a lot and then didn't spend it, and you see it in a bunch of cases, a bunch of circumstances, a bunch of situations, then you have to ask yourself, well, then why is the number you're asking for now somehow different than those last numbers?

MS. CASSON:  Mr. Payne, you can jump in if do you want add here, but I understand that.  I understand what our historical spending looks like.  The new management team came into place in 2018.  We have continued to spend for the trees; we have continued to increase spending.  We have continued to increase our OM&A without cuts, despite eroding ROE.  We are not making those decisions.

I understand the historical.  I understand the pattern.  We know that is what is in front of the Board.  This is a new leadership team and we are very much committed to doing what we are saying we are going to do in this application.  That is the whole purpose behind this.

MR. PAYNE:  Thanks, Ms. Casson.  I will add to that, exactly that it is a new management team.  We are going to stand behind our commitments.  That is a tremendous value insight of this management team, and one that I'll stand behind and make that assertion here today.

The other thing that hasn't been mentioned yet is the problems we had with contracting out tree work, and it's in the evidence.  But up here in the north, we have very limited tree contractors, local tree contractors or tree contractors from the north.  And it's well evidenced all the problems we've had.

We have had to terminate contracts because of unsafe work, because of high turnover in the contractors that we do have available.  We've had limited people bidding, sometimes only one bidder, the local bidder who is only capable of doing X amount, about half the work in any given year based on our cost envelope.

We have had price volatility, where if the local contractor doesn't bid, our prices shoot up twice as much.  These are all things that impact our ability to get the full cycle done.

Again, we've come together as utilities in the north and collaborated with a solution to plug that issue, and it's worked.  And you've seen the benefits of it in '19 and '20 where again, as Ms. Casson has stated, we have spent way more than in the previous three years under the different management team, and it's again because we solved the problem and because we had the commitment.

So I think those two things are very important as we move forward, that what we have asked for in vegetation management is a serious ask.  I know it's a large increase but we're committed to it.  We're going to stand behind it, and we have the ability now to get it done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Payne, you just said we spent way more, which by the way from a ratepayer point of view doesn't sound like it's necessarily good, and yet 2020 is your lowest kilometres of line cleared in record.  So I'm not sure.  Where is your success?

MR. PILON:  Mr. Payne, if I can, if I may, Mr. Shepherd, I appreciate the comment that we did the lowest amount of kilometres, but this has been the most dense area that we have cleared, and it's an area that hadn't been touched in a very long time, and the degree of clearing that was required there took the whole year.  It was significant.  We had multiple crews working on this, and it is a significant expense, but it is a very, very dense area.  And in some situations one single tree can cost two or three thousand dollars to take down.  So it's a very -- we've done some major clearing, and I think it was a very successful year over the last few years.

And to bring things in perspective, and you're saying how -- you know, how can you trust us to move forward, just this year we're definitely on track to spend our requested allocation, just to let you know.  So we are definitely on track.  We are not going to let things slip like that again, and I think following 2015 we have exceeded our expectations on vegetation management.

So we have done really, really well, and in managing also a very challenging situation, like Mr. Payne mentioned, regarding the lack of contractors, where if we only had one bidder that can't do all the work, it definitely adds delays where we have to either re-tender or find different solutions in order do our clearing.  So those situation causes significant amount of delays and issues for us.

So the costs are the costs because of the market value.  We go out to tender, we get prices from the various contractors, and unfortunately it is what it is.  And the prices for all the vegetation management across the province, they have increased everywhere, in large part due to, every -- many utilities have jumped on vegetation management over the last few years.

MR. PAYNE:  Mr. Shepherd, in response to your comment, I do agree -- and thank you for that.  It was a poor use of words.  It was not frivolous spending.  It was a planned increase to again try to right the ship and get back to a manageable time frame.  So just clarifying that, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I'm in my last area, which will only take me about two minutes.  I think I'm just about right on schedule.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much.  You are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And so can you look at page -- I don't even know what page this is.  Page 28 of our materials, which is now on the screen.  And what this is is, this is your 2015 actual shared services amounts, and what I'm looking at is the first, I think it's 10 lines, down to the line that says "management fee".  These are all the ones that are in your service agreement with services, right?  With the company services?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so in 2015 you charge them 485,899 for the various services that you provide to that company, right?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason for that was -- the reason you have do that is because they don't have their own staff, right?  They are not an independent -- they are an independent company, but they are not -- they are not run separately from the distribution utility.  Mr. Payne, for example, is the president of that company too, right?  And you're the CFO of that company?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, those are the roles of Mr. Payne and myself.  The services company is run independently and has its own employees.  What you are looking at here are some of the shared services we provide them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, so for example, human resources is done by you, you provide them with space, you do their payroll, you do their insurance.  All that stuff, right?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I look at that 485,899 -- your mic is still on, Ms. Casson.  I could hear myself echoing.  And then I went to 2021 and did the same calculation for the stuff that's in the services agreement, and it's 532,956, which is a 9.68 percent increase over 2015.  Do you see that?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I said, well, wait a second, your OM&A went up 38 percent, and you're only charging 10 percent more to the affiliate?  How come?

MS. CASSON:  Okay.  So I can speak to that.  So from the executive services, the financial and administration -- the administration services, sorry, my apologies, how we bill that across is based on time-sheet allocations.  So our staff actually track their time with customers.  I track my time, Mr. Payne, several staff.  So that has increased.  The IT, the rental -- sorry, the IT, the human resources, occupancy costs, those have increased.

I believe what's gone down -- a couple of things that have gone down is, you know, purchases of materials and insurance.  That has gone down, and that has gone down because we have directed the affiliate to take care of those things themselves.  That does not need to come through distribution.  So they pay for their own insurance.  They have their own purchasing.  Historically some of those things would come through distribution and we would pass on the costs.  So they now do that on their own.  So that truly is a very big driver of what's decreased, is things that we now have the utility -- sorry, the affiliate do directly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you have -- did you spend any money in the distribution utility for people that worked on CDM programs in the affiliate?

MS. CASSON:  Our CDM programs were a pass-through cost, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. CASSON:  And so we had some employees in the affiliate did work for CDM on behalf of North Bay Hydro and billed us accordingly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And where are those people now?

MS. CASSON:  They are still employed by the affiliate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the affiliate doesn't have any more CDM programs.  What are they doing?

MS. CASSON:  Our affiliate has a portfolio of business segments.  We have generators, water rental heaters.  We're constantly sourcing growth.  There is an entire business line that is not dependent upon CDM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So none of those employees that worked for the affiliate on CDM have moved over to the distribution company?


MS. CASSON:  We have an employee that worked on CDM that is in the distribution company, but that employee did not solely work on CDM with the affiliate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's that employee doing now?

MS. CASSON:  That employee is a communications officer.

MS. CASSON:  So that's one of the new positions?


MS. CASSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you added a new position to cover this CDM cost that you weren't getting from IESO, right?

MS. CASSON:  Absolutely not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's what it sound like, and that's what everybody else is doing.

MS. CASSON:  Well, I appreciate that that might be what everybody else is doing.  Distribution is not going to take on an additional cost to salvage something for the services company.  That is not how we operate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.  I appreciate your patience, and Panel, I appreciate your patience.  I'm done.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Garner, you may proceed on behalf of Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Dr. Dodds.  I was under the impression, just as a process thing, that Ms. Ho was going to put up my compendium, and I'm not sure, looking at Mr. Vellone, whether she is intending to do that or whether I should share my screen.  So --


MR. VELLONE:  I believe it's coming up, Mr. Garner.  Just direct her accordingly to where you want her to go.

MR. GARNER:  I appreciate that, Mr. Vellone.  Thank you.

And I'd just like to clarify, echoing Mr. Shepherd's comments of this morning, I found it very unusual for such a lengthy introduction to your application, and it added more questions than it took away, unfortunately.

I want to start by just a simple question about not just the length of your soliloquy this morning, but why did you file additional evidence after the settlement conference?

MR. RUSSO:  What additional evidence, Mr. Garner?

MR. GARNER:  It's the benchmarking evidence that the interrogatories were on.  Why did you see the need to file evidence after the main filing, the interrogatories, the additional questions that came as part of the settlement that were filed in there?  What possessed you to do that?

MS. CASSON:  I believe the intention behind filing the additional benchmarking was to provide context around the salaries, and more specifically the management salaries as a result of many of the questions we received in the interrogatory process.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thanks.  I'll call out the PDF -- the pages I'm going to read out will be the PDF pages, and I want to go to PDF page 4, which is this customer engagement survey.

MR. VELLONE:  I apologize for interjecting.  Should we perhaps get the VECC compendium marked as an exhibit?

MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry.  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  This will be Exhibit K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  VECC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  If we go to this survey -- and you'll excuse me.  I'm looking at a screen and not looking directly at my camera at times.  I want to first of all clarify with are this survey fits into your evidence, because there was in the evidence talk about a couple of surveys, I believe.  One was by Utility Pulse and one was with you and -- I'm trying to remember the name of the company, but a different company.  Is this the Utility Pulse survey I'm looking at?

MS. CASSON:  This is a combination of the surveys, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  It's a combination of two surveys that were undertaken by telephone?  Is that the way it was done?


MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  If you go to the sixth page of the PDF file, the one that says cost of service.  It's got this thing about is paying for a electricity a worry or a major problem.

First of all, the way I read this chart, so you can read it the same way, Panel, that I read it, the way I read it was if you look at the dark green bar, which is where I'm focused for a moment, it's for the incomes under 30K.  And it's got depends is 1 percent, 19 percent often it's a major problem.  34 percent, sometimes I worry, 45 percent, not really.


So the way I read this is you add up all of those to get 100 percent of the people under 30K as the result of that.  Is that the way you read it?

MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  One of the comments that struck me, Ms. Casson, this morning was your statement that you know your customers better than anybody.  And that struck me as if you do, what's your median income in North Bay?  What's an individual median income in North Bay?

MS. CASSON:  I do not know the answer to that, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  Do you know a median household income in North Bay?

MS. CASSON:  I do not.

MR. GARNER:  Do you know how many people in North Bay make $100,000 or over?

MS. CASSON:  I do not.  I do know, though, that when it comes to affordability, we do work very closely with our customers that are having issues.  We work closely with our local social agencies.  We work very closely with LIPI, the low income provider in North Bay -- Sorry, Low Income People Involvement of North Bay.  We work on individualized custom payment plans.  We coordinate customers with LIPI for -- they administer LEAP.  They administer an emergency program, and they also look to help customers with other programs if they need to.

MR. GARNER:  I'm sure you do.  I hate to interrupt, but that's not really what I'm asking and going for.  I'm merely asking about a simple thing.

This customer survey, it seems to me, tends to purport that not many people worry about the cost of their rate.  But in fact, if I look at the data, and there's a lot of data underneath there from Stats Canada.  I didn't expect you to look at it at all or go through it all, I just wanted to throw out that and take a look at it, but my cursory look at it would tell me that if you're measuring by people who have an income of $30,000 or less, individual incomes, if that's what that's talking about, that's talking about a lot of people in North Bay, not a small number of people in North Bay.  Would you disagree with that?

MS. CASSON:  I wouldn't disagree with that based on what we're looking at.  Twenty percent of these people, these customers, have an issue with their utility bill.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And if you go through that table as I've said, would you agree with me that the wage rates that North Bay Hydro are generally in the upper end of the wage rates in North Bay?  Would that be a fair statement?

MS. CASSON:  As I said, Mr. Garner, I haven't looked through the details of everything you sent.  Based on that information, I'm assuming that you have done that and there is a likelihood that management and union wages are higher than the average.

MR. GARNER:  In North Bay.  One of the things that struck me about the customer engagement is -- what's the figure I think we're using for the OM&A increase, 33 or 37 percent depending whether you're measuring against actuals versus Board-approved?  Somewhere that range, right?

MS. CASSON:  Somewhere in there, yes.  That is correct, somewhere in that range.


MR. GARNER:  When you would do this customer engagement, did you go and tell your customers we're going to have an application and we need 35 percent increase in our OM&A because we have all of these problems?  Was that part of your engagement?

MS. CASSON:  Part of our engagement was to -- in phase 3 we did but before our customers what our OM&A ask was, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Where were the results of that?  When you say put before your customers, do you have a survey like this where you did a sampling of people and said, whatever the sample was, and said this is our increase, do you agree with it, disagree with it, whatever?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.  The question that was put before them, the two final questions of phase 3, one spoke to our overall capital and spoke to our OM&A needs, and the final question spoke to the rate increase at that time.  And I would say approximately 60 percent of those customers did not like that increase, but understood the reasoning behind it.

MR. GARNER:  I think you answered a different question than I asked.  I said did you tell them about OM&A, not the rate increase.

MS. CASSON:  I told them what the OM&A was of 8.5 or 8.6 million dollars.

MR. GARNER:  Did you tell them what it was before?  Did they don't know what you're asking for?  It's fairly simple, right?


MS. CASSON:  Yes.


MR. GARNER:  Were the customers told you want $6 million before, you want $8.5 million now?  Did you tell your customers that?

MS. CASSON:  No, I do not believe that was in the question.

MR. GARNER:  Now one of the things --


MR. VELLONE:  Would it be helpful to pull that up?  Ms. Ho can pull up that survey, if it's helpful, Mr. Garner.


MR. GARNER:  I don't need to see it.  And I can move on and I have limited time, so I think I will.

One of the things that struck me by this morning's introduction, Mr. Payne, was -- and I don't want to put words in your mouth, so you can correct me.  But it sounds like this to me.  It sounds like, well, when I got on the job, things were falling apart and it was time to put them back together.  We didn't have enough people, we had fallen behind on things, et cetera, and I needed to basically correct the ship.

Am I wrong?  Is that a characterization you can agree with?

MR. PAYNE:  I think that's fair.  I believe that to be fair.

MR. GARNER:  Excuse me.  One of the things that struck me was -- well, two things that struck me.  One was that beginning in 2018, and you joined you changed your role in late 2017, correct?

MR. PAYNE:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  One thing that struck me was beginning in 2018, you start spending a lot more money and following that -- maybe not -- anyways, following that, the returns the utility has are falling by quite a lot.  They go down to 4.7, somewhere in that range from, let's say, 10 percent the year before. That's what happened, right?

MR. PAYNE:  That's also correct.

MR. GARNER:  So what struck me with that -- and maybe it's here and I've just not seen it, but before all that happened, wouldn't -- did you go to your board of directors and say, whoa, whoa, whoa, guys, I've just gotten to be captain of the ship, and the ship's got holes all through the place.  I need to go, A, spend a lot of money, and B, you're not getting your returns for a while.  So here it is, and here's the plan.  Is that someplace I can find, that presentation to your board with that stark message about what they are about to walk into?

MR. PAYNE:  I believe you won't find it verbatim like that in the evidence.  What I can tell you is the process that we go through, which is full transparency to the board through regular meetings and through budget approvals, and we talk about all these things that you've just mentioned.

My goal was again to, as you put it, right the ship, and part of doing that is taking a look at the cost envelope that we had committed to in 2015 and getting to that point.  And it took us some time, because we assessed and we wanted to put the right people with the right skills in the right seats.  So we made a lot of decisions.  We changed our IT document.

But again, we took the cost envelope and said, we need to get to this cost envelope, because the business needs it, and because we asked for it in rates, and so we did that.


And your characterization of, are we going down, is correct, but again, those are our last two years of a cost-of-service cycle, and again, if you are spending to your envelope of dollars and making your commitments, you should see a declining balance in that ROE, and again, that's what facilitates us coming back in.

So again, that is what we did.  We looked at these things and we did position to the board through regular meetings and through budget presentments, saying here is what's going to happen, and up to our holding company, which did say, here is what the dividend projections will look like.

MR. GARNER:  Well, that's what I would like to see.  So here is what I'm saying to you, and I'm asking, you're asking the Board to take your story that you basically came to rescue this utility, spend a lot of money, take a hit, and yet -- and you spent a lot of time this morning talking about that.  Yet I do not see a board meeting that presents that exact story.  And it would seem to me a well-governed utility, because it goes out spending money with a new CEO, before it gets a hit on its returns, it presents something to a board that explicitly says, this is the path I want you to take.  It is not the path we had before; I would like to do it.

And what I'm looking for is that presentation to your board, that specific thing that this Board can look at and say, oh, yes, I see; that's exactly what the plan was.  Where is that presentation to your board?  Where is that that this Board can look at?

MR. PAYNE:  Those would be the presentations of each specific year's budget.  That's where that will be.

MR. GARNER:  And will I find the description that says, we are about to change course at this utility in that?

MR. PAYNE:  Well, that is what the budget does.  It shows the cost structure of the utility.

MR. GARNER:  There's lots of budgets.  I mean, there's budgets and there's budgets, right, when you're running a company.  And you just explained to this Board what you're doing is something that's a stark turn from the past.  I'm looking for that budget.  I'm looking for that warning.  I'm looking for that vote from your board of directors.  That's what I'm looking for.

MR. VELLONE:  Can we bring up attachment C to CCC 1?

MS. CASSON:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  I was just about to go there.  This is the presentation that we put before our Board in July 2020.  If you scroll down to the -- I'm just trying to figure out what the best page here is.

MR. GARNER:  This isn't what I'm talking about.  I'm talking about the one you did before -- 2018 is when you start spending money.  What I'm saying is, I'm asking about, is not this at all.  I'm saying or asking about, it seems to me if I were to take over a company as a CEO and I were about to change how much money I'm going to spend and start taking a hit on the earnings, I would have been in front of my board explaining in 2018 exactly where I'm going to be going with this well before we are where we are today, because that's when you started spending the money, and that's when the costs went down.  I'm looking for that presentation, the one that the Board can see, yes, this story is consistent with what we said and we were going to do.  That's the one I'm looking for.

MR. PAYNE:  I think, Mr. Garner, I've been very clear that that was done through budget presentations in each given year, which very much included the spending proposed to get to this point.

MR. GARNER:  All right.  Okay.  I'd like to move on.  I'm going to go to, I think, tab 3, and Ms. Ho can bring me to page 19 of 41.  It's a table of the new positions added since 2015.  And I just want to play a game with this one about, I call this inside and outside.  So as we go through these, I have pluses and minuses, right?  So as we go through this what I would like you to just tell me, when I'm looking at the position, am I looking at a position inside an office or am I looking at a field position outside an office, like people who work on the system in some fashion other than inside the office?  So the first one is an inside-the-office job, isn't it?

MS. CASSON:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  And the second one is another inside-the-office job?

MS. CASSON:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  Third one is inside the office?  I'm not sure.

MS. CASSON:  Incorrect.  That one will be outside the office and inside.  It will be a dual role.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Just -- sorry, I just want to make a note of this.  Thank you.  And the next one after that, operations manager; inside or outside?

MS. CASSON:  Outside -- and inside.  Again, those two roles will have both.

MR. GARNER:  So those two are both dual.  Thank you.  And then with the IT ones I'm going to take it, unless your guys are all -- your people are all stunning with their computers, these are all inside-the-office roles?

MS. CASSON:  Inside the office.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And then customer accounts.  You lost a customer account specialist but you gained an accountant, right?  Those are both just inside positions?

MS. CASSON:  Inside the office, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Power maintainer; what's that?  Two of them left.


MS. CASSON:  Those are power line maintainers, so the individuals on the line.

MR. GARNER:  So two crew.  Two crew --


MS. CASSON:  Two crew.

MR. GARNER:  -- crew members lost.  And then two customer-service reps you also lost; is that right?

MS. CASSON:  Yes.  So everybody in the operations efficiencies are outside the office.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And a substation electrician learner?  Maybe you can just explain what that is, first of all.

MS. CASSON:  A substation electrician is who handles all of our work in our substations.  A learner is an individual that is just at the start of their trade, so this individual is -- works in 18 of our substations and in our --


MR. GARNER:  So like a journeyman sort of position?

MS. CASSON:  They will aim to be there, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And then the shop -- storekeeper assistant, this is like works in the warehouse type of --


MS. CASSON:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  And then a CDM position.  Okay.  Thank you.

And right now I heard you say -- I just wanted to ask you about the positions that you got unfilled, according to your Appendix 2-K.  You know, you were talking about 53 people -- I heard you, Ms. Casson, say two were unfilled?  Does that mean all of the other ones are completely filled now?

MS. CASSON:  Sorry, the positions that are not filled as of right now, Mr. Garner, are the administrative assistant, the operations coordinator, and the succession planning.

MS. CASSON:  Sorry, that's three positions then, right?  Am I right?  Have I got that right?

MS. CASSON:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I'm going to jump around a bit.  I'm going to go to tab 4 and look at the table -- the OM&A table by program, and that's at page 22.  And one of the things in here -- I want to look at the bad debt line, and I read in your evidence that you didn't make any adjustments for COVID-19 in here, but as I see this bad debt line, it's out of character within -- for the 2021 bridge year, it's out of character with all the bad debt in the previous periods, even the actuals, I believe, in 2020.

Did the bad debt for 2021, does that anticipate COVID?  You're on mute, Ms. Casson.

MS. CASSON:  Apologies.  When we initially put forward this budget, we were looking at 2017 and 2018 as kind of more of an average, and so I guess I would need to correct my words.  We did feel that, given COVID, a 200,000-dollar estimate at that time was reasonable.

MR. GARNER:  So where I'm going with this is if the Board were to say they would like to keep the COVID issues outside of all of that, they would average out the -- how would you do it to give them an average number?  Would you take the past four to five years?

MS. CASSON:  Yeah, I think it would be reasonable to take the six-year average, which is about 128,000.  I would note that as of May this year, we're already at 120 and if that trend continued, we would probably hit about 285,000.  But I do believe that the policy that the Board has put out -- I haven't read it in detail yet, but I believe they have offered appropriate avenues to recover incremental costs, if necessary.

MR. GARNER:  To be fair, I haven't read it at all and I'm not sure about the 200,000, but I thought we'd just talk about it now --


MS. CASSON:  No, a six-year average is reasonable.

MR. GARNER:  The next thing I would like to go on to is you have a substantive amount in the test year for this ARC flash study, is that correct?  It's 159,000.  I think that was at page 26, in response to 4 Staff 52.

MS. CASSON:  There is 110,000 in OM&A, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Does that show up, there, a recurring amount?  This study is one-time thing, but it's built into OM&A as a re-occurring amount?

MS. CASSON:  It is built in as a re-occurring amount.  Mr. Pilon can address that.

MR. PILON:  Yes.  The ARC flash study is going to be for the first year, for the test year.  And subsequent to that, we have a variety of other projects and studies that we need to incorporate, such as a DER implementation study.  We have an electric vehicle grid impact study that will identify the EV adoption rate.  We're going to have a protection control study which will verify that the various protection devices on our system are coordinated properly.

And just to go back to the DER study, one of the things is North Bay Hydro were not that well suited right now to accommodate a huge influx of DERs.  So what we want to do is position ourselves better for process operations, and we want to remove financial and technical barriers to our connection, and we want to provide a smooth, timely, and cost-effective process.

So that's going to be a very big project and a very important project because we know DERs are coming and it's something the OEB even just recently released a report on, and they have identified some concerns and some things that every LDC should work on.

So for every year, we also have a system optimization review that we've never done, or haven't done in a very long time.  We have an operational review that we want to get done to review how we operate our business from an operational perspective and our capital expenditure operations, maintenance in order to maximize the use of our resources so we don't have to either contract out, or so that we can make the most use of our internal resources that we have.

So we have many initiatives like that that we really want to get going.  For the test year it's at ARC flash study, because the ARC flash study is a safety initiative that is very important, as I described earlier in my original message.

MR. GARNER:  The idea is you're building $110,000 as an annual need-a-study type of thing.  And did you put out a plan that actually shows in each year what your -- which study you're doing and what's your estimated cost of each study is?  Have you already done that as a planning exercise?

MR. PILON:  We have.  We have these studies laid out in a document, yes, an internal document that we put together.

MR. GARNER:  And you estimated a cost for them based on what?

MR. PILON:  Rough approximations, based on what typical studies of these magnitudes cost.  Some of them are a little over $110,000 and some of them will be potentially a little smaller or under, but they are all going to be in that range.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Pilon.  Since I have your attention, let me ask you a question about the vegetation management, following up on the conversation you had with Mr. Shepherd.

MR. PILON:  Sure.

MR. GARNER:  What I still don't really understand is
-- again, I realize that you've joined recently, but you know the business.

It seems to me the fact that the last time this utility was in front of the Board, that it had a four-year cycle that then turned to an 11-year cycle.  And then you pointed out it was because we went from easy stuff to take out to doing what I did this weekend, taking out 50 foot pine trees.  Do you know what I mean?

MR. PILON:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  But that strikes me like this -- does that mean in your opinion when you went in, the person before you was incompetent?

I don't mean that in such a brusque way, but isn't part of the role of doing vegetation management to survey and then create a plan?

MR. PILON:  Correct.  And that's exactly what happened, and in the past as well as now, and there were some funds identified as being required.  They didn't get quite the funds that they needed.  And as vegetation grows, an estimate that we do today even on the future, in five years from now, if we don't tackle that area, there's going to be additional growth.  So these estimates have to be constantly reviewed and updated on a regular basis.

The work that was done previously was actually work that was really well done with the information they had at the time.  And in addition to that, like I mentioned a little bit earlier, the competitive environment in the vegetation management world, the costs have increased significantly in that whole realm.

It's a combination.  It's a combined effect of simpler areas to more complex, more dense areas.  And as we look into more details, when we do a survey, it's at a high level.  In the years prior to actually tackling that specific area, then we actually sent boots on the ground to actually walk every piece of line to identify exactly which tree needs to come down, which areas need to be cleared.

So the years prior to the actual work that we're going to do is when we have more specific -- we have a high degree of accuracy, let's just say.  So I think the work that was done before was really well done and we just needed to keep increasing it.  And the allocations weren't quite sufficient, but that's why we are where we are.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Dr. Dodds, this is a good place for me to stop.  I think this is the lunch hour.  I don't want to tell you when the lunch hour is, but --


DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Garner.  Yes, we will adjourn for 45 minutes.  Be back here at 1:15 after lunch.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:31 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:15 p.m.

DR. DODDS:  Good afternoon, everyone.  Mr. Garner, you may continue with your cross-examination of the witnesses.

[Reporter appeals]


DR. DODDS:  Sorry, I said good afternoon, everyone.  And Mr. Garner, you can continue with your cross-examination of the witnesses.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I've looked over my notes during the lunch, and I'm hoping to get us back on our timeline, so I'll jump right into it.

If you go to the tab 6, and it's PDF page 29, and I think there's a table below, if I can -- yes, thank you.  That's it.  This is the comparison of regulatory costs between North Bay and a number of other utilities, and I had a couple of questions and observations I just wanted to ask you about.

The first thing is, when I'm looking at this comparison, I guess to be fair all of the ones to the right of Espanola, which I believe is ERHDC, all -- and including Espanola, but all of those to the right are all settled cases.  They have all gone through the Board and been completed, either through -- I think almost all -- I think all of them in a settlement.  I could be wrong.  So when I look at those numbers, I guess to be fair as comparison I would have to somehow calculate what was the final settlement in operating costs, because if there were reduction and it was prorated I would have to work that into my head.  This is what they asked for, is what I'm saying, it's not necessarily what they got.  Would you agree with that?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  And the other thing is -- and this is a question of mechanics I don't understand.  I'm sure I've been told, but I can't remember.  When I look at the internal labour line on this table, what does internal labour mean?  Is it incremental labour, like overtime for existing people?

MS. CASSON:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So -- and just so I'm also clear, when you do overtime for existing people, would I be right to say if you're a manager you're not getting paid for the overtime but if you're a union or a position you would be paid for the overtime?

MS. CASSON:  So in our forecast how we've done it, if you are union you are paid for your overtime.  If you are management as part of this program -- not all management, but a couple specific management -- if you worked in excess of, I want to say 60 hours a week, there was a straight overtime compensation.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Now Mr. Shepherd earlier talked about the affiliates and the fact that you, Ms. Casson, and -- the both of you are executives for the affiliate, but I was curious about why.  I mean, there's -- the story I'm hearing is, we're too busy, we can't do everything, and then so I say, so why do you work through the affiliate?

MS. CASSON:  I will let Mr. Payne address that question.

MR. PAYNE:  That is how the model has been here at North Bay Hydro since the affiliate was created, and in recruiting for these positions they were part of the job descriptions, and we've continued that way.  That doesn't mean that the company isn't looking for other ways as it grows to bring positions in-house of that services company.  But currently that is how it's structured, and that's how it's been structured over the past number of years.

MR. GARNER:  So do ratepayers pay in the internal labour line there for -- and I'm not just speaking to the two of you, but to any employees at North Bay Hydro, incremental costs because they're incremental to their shared time with the affiliate?

MS. CASSON:  No, the employees in that internal labour line do not work for the affiliate.

MR. GARNER:  And a simple question is, I mean, you can quibble a little bit here and there about things, but it seems fairly clear that North Bay Hydro is maybe not the highest, but among the highest in regulatory costs of these, even in its own comparison group.  Can you tell me why?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, I can speak to what we're looking at here, Mr. Garner.  Again, for our estimate of 2020 we did take 2015 as a base line.  We structured a 15 percent decrease in there, and then we worked very hard to reduce our reliance on outside consultants.  We worked very hard to do that.  And we have done that.

As I said, our regulatory costs are now 711,000, and that does include the costs of an oral hearing, which we have estimated at 175,000.  So our legal costs for this application without an oral hearing are now around 535,000, and our legal costs are around 390,000, which I think clearly demonstrates that we are in the ballpark.  This was an estimate.  We did indicate that we would update, and we have done that.

MR. GARNER:  While I have you on the floor, Ms. Casson, earlier -- first thing this morning you had mentioned -- and I'm going to say them, and I'm hoping I'm capturing it all -- I think four incremental cost items, and I wrote them down as -- you said licence fee, but I think you might have meant Board assessments.  But I'll let you tell me.  Cybersecurity, pole rental costs, smart-meter verification, and actuarial flow-through.  Do you remember speaking to those, four is it, or --


MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  -- count them right?  Five?  Pardon me.


MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  And then first one, licence fees, you did mean Board assessment, didn't you, or...

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Is there someplace -- and I think there might be, so you'll have to pardon me if it's there -- is there someplace where you ascribed actual costs, incremental costs, to those items in the evidence?

MS. CASSON:  For all those I've outlined?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.

MS. CASSON:  Yes, they are all throughout the evidence, I believe.

MR. GARNER:  Well, can I ask you this?  If they're not in one place -- maybe this is simple and easy, we can move on.  Would it be possible for you to undertake, take those five, and put -- ascribe the annual incremental costs that these have in 2021 --


MR. VELLONE:  I think they're there.  Exhibit K1.2, Appendix A.

MR. GARNER:  Appendix A?  Oh, okay.  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  If that's where they are.  I thought they might be someplace.  I just couldn't remember.

MR. VELLONE:  It's up in front of you if you want to just take a look and confirm that's what you're looking for.

MR. GARNER:  Well, it isn't, really.  Let's say if I take the third line, cybersecurity.  That was one that was mentioned, and -- oh, maybe it is.  So I'm asking, is in 2021, that doesn't tell me 2021.  What's the incremental cost over the past for that amount?  So what I'm looking for is a table that would basically say in 2021 cybersecurity's incremental cost over its past costs, however you measure that, measure it incrementally from the last five years or last year, whichever way you're saying, based on what you were saying, so the way I took your evidence was this is -- these are five things that we can point our fingers at that are incremental responsibilities that we didn't have before.

Now, you had cybersecurity before, but you were pointing out they're greater now, right?  That was what you were making a point of.  And I was trying to get a handle on what is that cost now in 2021.

MS. CASSON:  Sure.  So I think if you actually look at this Board-approved, 2015 Board-approved, so what that is showing, Mr. Garner, is that our 2021 test-year costs for cyber security are $34,395 higher than the 2015 Board-approved amount.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, 34,000, and I'm looking for that figure on this table in the cybersecurity --


MS. CASSON:  The first column, the third row down, 34,395.


MR. GARNER:  It's the one that says 2015 Board-approved?

MS. CASSON:  Yes.  So that would be, our 2021 test year includes $34,395 more than our 2015 Board-approved --


MR. GARNER:  I understand how to read the table, then.  Thank you very much.

One other thing I just wanted to confirm as I went through this, I went back and looked -- and perhaps I can just confirm with you.  Am I correct if I were to say that the customer growth, residential customer growth for this utility since 2015 has been roughly 1 percent?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, that's an approximate range that I would agree to.  We have very low customer growth.

MR. GARNER:  And for the GS less than 50, which would be the next largest class, it's almost identical, it's almost no growth?  I call it, you know, one or two customers type of thing, right?

MS. CASSON:  Correct.  We are a utility with very low customer growth.

MR. GARNER:  I want to take you to tab 8, and this is the ADR agreement from the last case.  And I want to take us to the conversation that Dr. Dodds started this with, which was the issues that were outstanding.  And the one issue here, 5.2 and the previous agreement to explore possibilities of better aligning North Bay incentives-based structure with metrics and outcomes.

If you go to page 36 of that agreement, I think this is where that is laid out.  Are we talking about the same thing?  So page 36, and it's under Table III, right there.  and says, "Further agrees," that paragraph.  Is this what we're talking about?

MR. PAYNE:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Payne.  Right below that at the next tab was a question by Staff that basically asked you what measures do you have, and basically there you said in answer in response to B:  "NBHDL does not have any incentive measures that are tied to distribution system performance."


I guess the first question is why not, given that you were going to explore this and do this?  What went wrong here?

MR. PAYNE:  Sure.  I think this is the one part of the application that I'm not happy with.  We didn't get something done that was committed to in a settlement and I'll wear that.  That's on me, for sure.

I think it's important to give some context, though.  Again, I started in late 2017 -- let's call it really 2018, and this hadn't been done at that time.  My focus in '18 and '19 was on putting people in place, looking at tackling things that were in the Board-approved and what the utility needed.

In '19, we started looking at the cost-of-service commitments and such, and started to plan how to tackle them in 2020.  That included the incentive piece and also the working capital piece, and we started those initiatives in 2020.  And then unfortunately COVID hit, and a whole bunch of stuff halted.

We fortunately got the working capital piece completed for the application filing, but unfortunately we did not get the compensation piece filed.  Again like I said, I understand the implications of that and how that reads to the intervenors and to the Commissioners, and I'm apologetic for that.

It is underway in 2021.  It's with the board, the compensation letters.  That's how our governance is handled.  It starts with the board and the board is looking at it.  It's a whole review, an entire review of compensation which will include this commitment to look to align incentive programs with distribution performance.

And again, that goal, as stated in the answers, or one of the answers to this is that it will be completed in 2021.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I appreciate the sentiment.  I guess what I'm struggling with, though, is if you are going to approach the regulator seeking such a huge increase -- I think that's an apt word -- in your operating costs, wouldn't one of the first things you'd do is tackle exactly this issue?  because what you want to demonstrate to the Board is I am going to measure my success now with these metrics of something.

To give an example, Mr. Pilon, is that you told us that vegetation management is directly correlated with service availability or quality -- that's not the word I'm looking for, but I think you know what I mean.  There could be a metric that says if your vegetation management doesn't meet something, then you don't get something back the next year, right?  That's something you're saying there is a correlation, so why not make one?

MR. PAYNE:  Like I said, Mr. Garner, is this was proposed to start in 2020.  Again it came to our attention in late 2019.  We proposed it for 2020 and COVID halted it.  It's not that I don't think it has value.  It's not that we didn't want to.  It's just other priorities came forward because of COVID-19.  We tried, it was unable to get done.  We are committed to do it in 2021.

The example you use is a prime example of one that I would go to, which is exactly that -- you know, SAIDI and SAIFI and CAIDI, those metrics are important.  I think we show good value there.  But to us, the true value in time performance is what do we need to do to control that, and I think vegetation management is a prime example of where you can say here's your targets of what you want to get done this year on a cost perspective, on a kilometre-based perspective, and we know that will have correlation to SAIDI, so tie a performance metric to that.

I think that is extremely accurate and that's where we're going to head.  We're going do a full evaluation to see how we can do this better, and how we can tie it -- possibly tie it to a distribution performance metrics, for sure.

MR. GARNER:  Let me put a proposal to you so I can not surprise you with it, and let the Board hear what you have to say.

You heard Mr. Shepherd earlier this morning ask the question why not more ramp up your spending.  Even if one accepts the story holus bolus, why not move up on a more graduated basis?  And I guess to which I would add is what would be wrong with the Board saying that, and in fact then saying and we'll tie it to your next metric, then, that you can put forward to us so we can see there's some form of progress; i.e., if you want more money, A, you'll get it in increments, and B, you have to tie it to some outcome basis that we can see, that demonstrates the need for that.  What's wrong with that form of rate-making for this utility over the next five years, while you adjust the ship, so to speak?

MR. PAYNE:  I don't think there is anything wrong with what you've stated.  Unfortunately, that's not the regime we're currently under right now.  I can't speak to what would be allowed or what could be proposed.  I think what you're stating is a fair -- is fair.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  I always go with the Board is the author of its own destiny, so I'll let them decide on all of that.

I have one small little thing to clear up.  Do you pay fees to the EDA?  And are they added into your OM&A costs?

MR. PAYNE:  Ms. Casson?

MS. CASSON:  I was on mute.  Yes, we do pay fees to the EDA and they are included in our rates.

MR. GARNER:  The EDA, when I go to their website, advertises themselves as an advocacy organization.  Tell me why my client's customers, who are low-income customers trying to afford electricity, should pay for advocacy of the utility.


MS. CASSON:  Yes, I think from advocacy perspective, North Bay Hydro does have direct conversations with its customers.  Our customers do speak to us directly, and we are able to bring their messages, their concerns, their issues to the EDA, who then have the ability to take that at an aggregate level and put that -- you know, whether that's to the ministry, whether that's to the OEB, I think there is definite value in having a broader connection to the customer, a direct connection to the customer.

I think the other idea behind an association like that is it promotes the sharing of knowledge.  It promotes best practices, we learn from each other.  All of those things drive benefits ultimately to the customer.  So I do believe it is fair to include those fees.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you, and I think I'm six minutes ahead, with a nod to Commissioner Anderson.  I did my best to get us there.


DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Garner.  We can now proceed with the OEB Staff cross-examining the witnesses.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Dr. Dodds.  I would like to start by making an exhibit of the Staff compendium which was circulated yesterday and should be included in the panel's E binder.  And that will be Exhibit K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And there is another document, an Excel sheet that I will mark as an exhibit separately when I get to my questions that relate to that document.  It was also circulated yesterday.

I'm going to start with what somebody described this morning as the exciting topic of vegetation management.  In this case, we've haven't all had enough.  But there's a couple of points that have not been covered by the other parties that Staff thinks are worth mentioning.

The first document is in the Staff compendium at tab 1, and we have that up on the screen.  I can't tell because I have got two, three things going on.  Okay.  Good.

Okay.  So what we are seeing here is the actual spending on vegetation management from 2010-2014 for a total of $1.75 million.

The next reference I want to put in front of the witnesses is, in the current application this is the Chapter 2 appendices, particularly Appendix 2-JC.  Do we have that up now?  And this shows that there was 3.25 million in spending from 2015 to 2020.  So in total, this indicates that North Bay Hydro has spent almost 5 million, or almost $5 million on vegetation management in its current cycle over the past 10 years.  Does the -- do the witnesses agree with this dollar amount or do you want to correct it?  In case the 2020 amount was forecast and not actual?


MS. CASSON:  Yes, I would only correct it for the 2020 actual number.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And what is the actual for 2020?

MS. CASSON:  Just one moment, please.  Our vegetation management number for 2020 actuals was $596,124.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So I just want to confirm first of all that the current 10-year cycle that you're on has not been completed; is that correct?

MR. PILON:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And Mr. Pilon, can you explain why you had continuous spending the last 10 years of almost $5 million but haven't completed the full 10-year cycle?

MR. PILON:  Yes, sure, thank you.  Ultimately what it boiled down to is, like I previously mentioned, it's the level of vegetation management that was required.  After numerous years of where the vegetation management budget was significantly cut, there was a lot of work that needed to be done, starting way back in 2010, and I think the initial assessments when they started working on that were that, you know, there was significant amount of spending that needed to be done.  And as time moved on, it was noticed and observed that the vegetation management program was not sufficient and needed to keep increasing in order to get to five-year cycle, while at that time the goal was a four-year cycle, and we just changed that this year to move to a five-year cycle.

And in large part there was various reasons why, you know, we have a limited competitive environment.  Like Mr. Payne said earlier, we only have one bidder in some circumstances that can perform all the work.  So we've had to give a portion of the work, retender out the project, or in recent years we're able to take some of that, and have
-- luckily enough, we had 17 Trees, and they were able to pick up some of the work where we had no other contractors that were able do that.

So this just accumulation of the total amount of work that was required as part of our vegetation management program and that we needed to move forward.  And the further we get into -- we got into it, the more it was noticed how much still needed to get done.

And we've also expanded -- in the past one of the things that they were doing was minor trimming, so the cost can be significantly less if you only do a minimal amount of trimming, but what happens in that case is that you can't -- and especially if you're only back in 10 years, trees keep growing, and they end up growing in the lines, and you can never get ahead of your vegetation management program.

So what we're doing in some sections where that was happening, we're reclaiming some right-of-way areas, where we're cutting more than they have in the past, so we're going into some areas that -- you know, where we need to do some brushing and large tree removals, and that's a bit more expensive.  However, that being said, on the long run when we go back to do some trimming, we will be able to have a right of way.  We will be able to limit the impact of -- from a safety perspective, because won't have branches growing in lines anymore.  So --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'll pause you there, because I'm looking at the last 10 years, not going forward.  In the last 10 years -- in the last 10 years --


MR. PILON:  Yeah.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- you have spent almost 5 million --


MR. PILON:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- an average of about 500,000 a year; is that correct?

MR. PILON:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So -- because you had indicated that the tree-trimming vegetation budget was cut.  But I just want to make it clear that the -- over the 10 years the amount that has been spent, but the 10-year cycle is not completed; is that a fair conclusion?

MR. PILON:  Correct, except for the part where in the last cost-of-service application the request was for $656,000, and that was cut to $456,000.  So there was a significant reduction in the estimated amount that was required to get back to our regular vegetation management program.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. PILON:  The estimate was 656, and then it was cut, so we weren't able to get back on the full cycle.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Now, looking forward, have you looked at the feeders that have yet to be cleared and did some type of assessment -- for example, how many kilometres --


MR. PILON:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- still need to be done and then what the cost is related to the work that still needs to be done?

MR. PILON:  Correct.  Yes, we have, and right now we're still in some very heavy growth areas and right-of-way clearing backlog, right-of-way clearing.  So our cost per kilometre right now is very high because of that type of work.  So we're in heavy clearing.  And we have approximately a couple years more of that heavy clearing, and then we're going to start getting back into some medium areas.  And hopefully, you know, by later on, by the end of this, the next five-year cycle, we will be able to get into a longer area where we could be able to cover approximately -- we need to cover about 80 -- at five-year cycle, we need to cover about 80 kilometres of line every year.  So, you know, right now we're in the 19, 20, 30 range.

So as we move forward our estimated -- our estimate based on all the areas and how we divide -- we have the city divided into multiple areas, and we have a plan, a specific plan, of how we tackle every neighbourhood and the type of work that's required.  So the estimate basically is that with the funding that we're requesting now we'll be able to get on that five-year program.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  And I'll come back to some of what you mentioned in a moment.  I'm trying to get a sense at this point how you've planned going forward.  So you said you have a plan of, you know, the kilometres that need to be cleared and the areas, and my question related to that is, have you arrived at cost estimates --


MR. PILON:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- kilometre or per year and what are they?

MR. PILON:  Correct.  So now we have cost estimates like based on the type of vegetation management that we have to do.  So in very heavy area our cost estimates can range in the $35,000 per kilometre range.  In very light areas, it can be as low as -- we've had -- in the last five years we have had areas that are as low as 7,000 per kilometre.  So we have the different areas, and right now we're still in the shorter but thicker areas.  So we still have a few years left of that to -- before we can move to the standard.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And as part of this application and your evidence, have you provided any type of document where you set out this sort of analysis of the number of kilometres, how many kilometres require heavy trimming and how many are light trimming?  And then the related costs of same -- of each type of clearing you have to do?


MR. PILON:  Yeah, we've done a high-level -- we've done a high-level estimate based on our request.  So the dollars that we're asking for is to reflect that -- is to get on that cycle program based on.  The challenge, like I mentioned earlier, is that as time goes on, trees keep growing.  So in five years.  If we can't get to a five-year cycle, the more vegetation grows.  Like, an estimate that was done five years ago, right now there is more growth that happens in that area so we need to spend more money than the original estimate that was done.

So even now, our estimates for moving forward won't reflect necessarily the specific situation or condition of the vegetation in those areas.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do you have something right now that is as up to date as possible, that shows how many kilometres still need to be cleared, what type of vegetation is within those kilometres, and the cost?

MR. PILON:  We don't have a -- we don't have a specific document where we -- where we've clearly laid it out.  We have a plan.  We have the city divided into various areas, and we know the approximate areas that will need to be cleared for those areas, and we know the type of clearing, so whether it's light, medium, moderate or urban.

So what we've divided is the whole city and based on the type of vegetation that we have there, our estimate is going to be do more or fewer kilometres for each area.  But we don't have a specific street-by-street breakdown, because that would require to have some resources to do the whole city and walk through every single area, because in order to do a thorough assessment of the cost, we would need to really dedicate a resource to walk the whole city.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I understand, and I appreciate the points you're making.  But I want to get back to what I hear you saying was that you did have an idea how many kilometres still need to be cleared and the type of vegetation.

Maybe I'll make this simpler.  Would you be willing to provide an undertaking to provide your best-effort assessment of how many kilometres still need to be cleared, what type of vegetation, which category of vegetation for parts of the city?  I'm not asking street by street, but you do know the general parts of the city that are more forested and more densely vegetated -- if that's a word.

So I'm asking would you be able to put together something and file that with the Board?

MR. PILON:  Yes, we can work something there.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO FILE A BEST-EFFORTS ASSESSMENT OF HOW MANY KILOMETRES OF VEGETATION STILL TO BE CLEARED, WHAT TYPES OF VEGETATION AND WHICH CATEGORIES OF VEGETATION FOR WHICH PARTS OF THE CITY


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I would like to now turn up 4 Staff 53B.  You've indicated in this response that your proposed contractor, 17 Trees, their costs are comparable and competitive with other vegetation contractors.

The question is what kind of work have you done to benchmark the costs of 17 Trees?  I know you've indicated earlier that you did some work in comparison, but you have also indicated there isn't that much of a market.  So I'd like to understand in a bit of detail some explanation as to how you compared 17 Trees' costs.

MR. PILON:  Right.  So thank you for that.  The way we compare -- so 17 Trees, as you know, is a joint company with other utilities.  And because we allocate a certain percentage of work to 17 Trees -- or the plan is to allocate a certain percentage of work to 17 Trees to complement with our competitive bidding tenders that we put out.

We typically take a similar type area, so since we put out multiple tenders over the years and we take a similar area and then we compare the costs, so we give the scope of work for 17 Trees obtains a clear scope of work for the areas that we allocate them, and they provide us with an estimate of their level of work where we can develop a cost, and then we compare that with the similar type of work with a competitive bidding process.

One of the things we've tried to do, but it becomes very difficult because it's not very conducive, is compare to other utilities, and I know there is benchmarking we tried to look into.  However, each utility is very different.  The north and the south have very different requirements as far as vegetation management; some areas are more urban, some are more rural.  So it really becomes on a -- I really believe it's really dependent on the type of utility, where you're located, is it north or south, and how the vegetation management was managed in that utility in the past.  If somebody has only trimming do, they can do a lot more for a lot less cost, right.  So because we have a lot of reclamation we're doing, our costs are higher.  But that's why we compare against other contractors that bid on our work.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Can you tell us a bit about the other contractors?  Are they northern-Ontario-based, or --


MR. PILON:  Some are in northern Ontario.  We have a local contractor that we use on a lot of projects.  And we also have, in some instances, like I mentioned earlier, we only have one bidder.  In other instances, we have a few bidders and some are from southern Ontario as well, and some of our latest bids have been very close in price.  When we have multiple bids that are close in price and then we can look at 17 Trees and see that it all aligns, it all makes sense.

Ultimately, the biggest benefit for us is to have 17 Trees, is to ensure we can get the work done.  Without them, I don't know that we can get the work done.  And last year we wouldn't have been able to get the work done, because the only contractor we had could not complete all the work we needed to get done.

So that's the big piece here.  Because we're allocated a certain amount of funds, we want to make sure that we do spend that and that we do improve our right of ways.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  In the interests of time -- I apologize if I may seem abrupt at times --


MR. PILON:  No, no, perfect.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Looking at your relationship with 17 Trees, how did you structure the contract in terms of cost? So for example, would you have fixed pricing for a certain period of time?  Are there two tier pricings, for example light trimming versus more heavy trimming?  Is that in your contract with 17 Trees?

MR. PILON:  Correct.  The way it's structured is 17 Trees provides us with a cost per crew, per type of crew, and depending on the work, they might send a two-man crew, a two-person crew, a three-person crew.  And then depending on the work and they do an estimate of how much effort it's going to take for them to do.  17 Trees, they don't do necessarily brushing.  So in areas where there is significant brushing, they might need to get a separate company that can help, or we it get a separate company.  Or we try to divert that kind of work to different vegetation -- you know, put that out to tender.

So it's basically how it works.  And then we look at the estimate based on the amount of time they figure.  If they figure two crews for four weeks and we get a cost, and we do that evaluation.

MR. PAYNE:  I would just like to add to Mr. Pilon's response.  17 Trees is set up on cost plus 5, and the cost plus 5 is simply to cover working capital inside the company so it continues to exist.  Because it's on a cost plus 5 model, the real issue is productivity, and I think Mr. Pilon has explained here that that's how we judge productivity, is we compare the work that's being provided by 17 Trees against internal comparators we've developed, to ensure there is competitiveness in that price.  And if there isn't, then we won't award them the work.

So that's really the model.  Again, the 17 Trees has been created to solve a problem that utilities are facing in the north, not to create profit in an affiliate or through an affiliate.  I just wanted to be clear on that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for that clarification.  You indicated elsewhere that you allocate 50 percent of the work to 17 Trees versus other contractors.  How did you determine that 50-50 allocation?  Was there any science to it?

MR. PILON:  The 50 percent was when 17 Trees was created.  There were some commitments required as far as how the company was structured, so North Bay Hydro -- that was a commitment that North Bay Hydro made.  However, like Mr. Payne mentioned, when we look at their other costs, if they are not competitive then they will not get 50 percent of the work.

MR. PAYNE:  The other factor that went into that was the fact that the local contractor has a throughput of about 250 to 300,000 dollars, and so we based it on that partly as well of why it was a 50-50 split.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So I would like to now move to some of the customer engagement results, and this is at Appendix B of the first round of IRs, phase 3 customer engagement.  The customer engagement results show that customers -- more customers prefer a six-year cycle rather than other alternatives; for example, the current 10-year or 11-year cycle or a five-year cycle, and -- sorry, we don't have that document.

And you've indicated in response to an IR that you considered a six-year cycle as an alternative option, but noted that it could result in higher costs.  So -- and based on the information, the customer engagement, the annual cost for a six-year cycle is 644,000, and the same total cost is 773,000 for five years.  So can you explain why you opted for a five-year cycle despite the customer preferences for a six-year cycle?

MR. VELLONE:  Can I ask that we go to PDF page 528 just so the witnesses are looking at the same Q&A I think you're making reference to, Ms. -- is this the one you're making reference to?  Scroll down, please.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Page 7.  This is --

MR. VELLONE:  Question 7?  Also page 7.  This does include the 644,000-dollar reference number that you referenced.  That's why I jumped there.  Is this the right question?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  The question -- I'll just repeat it -- is that, you know, your customer engagement results indicate that customers prefer a five-year cycle, but you've opted -- or, sorry, prefer a six-year cycle, but you've opted for a five-year cycle, which does cost more.  And my question is simply, you know, why you opted for the five-year cycle despite your customer preferences.


MR. PILON:  Yes.  We feel that a five-year cycle really best represents the requirements of the utility and on the long-term how we can better manage our vegetation management program.  So going to a five-year cycle we feel is definitely the better route to take.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do you expect at least a slight reliability improvement if you move to a five-year cycle instead of six years?

MR. PILON:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  If you went with a five-year cycle instead of the six-year cycle, do you expect that there would be some improvement in reliability?

MR. PILON:  Yes, I believe there would be some improvement in reliability, and I believe there would be some long-term potential savings when we do keep maintaining the vegetation management to some trimming only.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Are you able to quantify how much more of an improvement you gain with a five-year instead of a six-year cycle, in terms of reliability?

MR. PILON:  I don't have specific numbers for that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I would like to turn up now 4 VECC 35, and this indicates the work that you've done in clearing, 2015 to 2020, and as you can see there is sort of a mix.  Some years it's urban, other years it's rural, and then other years it's very heavy rural clearing.  And so it seems like, you know, on the face of this document some of the vegetation has been a very heavy -- rural very heavy category has been tackled in your current trimming cycle, so it's not as if none of this has been touched in decades.  Is that a correct impression?

MR. PILON:  Correct.  Some areas -- some of the very heavy areas have been done just recently.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And when you're doing trimming in these heavily -- more heavily forested areas, would you do a more sort of a, if I could use the words aggressive trimming, compared to the approach that you would take in a residential or urban area?  So for example, you know, when you're trimming a tree that's in front of somebody's house, my understanding is it would be more of a light-touch approach compared to when you're clearing a right-of-way.  That would involve a much more heavy, sort of aggressive trimming.  Is that a correct -- is that my understanding, correct?

MR. PILON:  North Bay Hydro uses -- we use a standard -- a regular standard for vegetation management that requires 10 to 15 feet clearance, and we consult with all our stakeholders, so basically every property owner we have some consultation as far as the trees go.

Typically what happens is in more rural areas people are more willing to allow heavier clearing, which is a benefit to us.  In more urban settings there is typically more trimming that has to be done.  That being said, we don't necessarily -- we don't compromise on our clearing requirements because if we do then the trees, the branches, if we just do trimming on a tree that's within the clear zone that we're seeking, the branches will grow very quickly into the lines again and we will have an issue before the next time we return for the cycle.  So we definitely -- even in some properties where they might have only one or two trees in their front yard, in some instances it's very, very difficult, but we have cut some of those trees.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So I guess what I'm just trying to get at is if you're doing these more forested -- sorry, more dense vegetation areas, you would be taking a more -- you would be cutting off more, so you don't actually need to return to, you know, retrim every three to five years.  Like, many of those areas are only done, you know, five to 10 -- like, an eight-year cycle would be typical.  Is that a fair assessment?

MR. PILON:  So our intent would be that every five years we would still -- we would still go and do some trimming, but the trimming -- once we've gone through a heavy area, the next time the trimming would be the same as in an urban setting, because, because we've cleared so much that we only need to do some trimming similar to an urban setting.  So we want to return on a five-year cycle irrespective of whether it's urban or rural, because we have a lot of kilometres to do.  But the level of work, once the heavy trimming is done, even in a rural area is going to be the same.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So just to sum up to make sure I understand correctly, what you're proposing in this application, you say there is a need to do more heavy trimming, and this is more expensive, and that you want to be able to tackle this in the next sort of five-year cycle, and then thereafter there should be less work and presumably less cost involved.  Does that --

MR. PILON:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- is that a fair understanding?

MR. PILON:  That's our hope and that's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, dear.  I've been given a 20-minute timecard.  Okay.  So moving on, back to the expected improvements and reliability, can you confirm -- and I believe you said that you would expect an improvement in reliability --

MR. PILON:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- as a result of increased vegetation management.  How do you plan to quantify the expected improvement in reliability?  Like, for example, would this be your SAIDI and SAIFI scores or other metrics?

MR. PILON:  Correct, so if you look at the DSP in Tables 2-8 you see that our SAIDI and SAIFI numbers -- basically, our vegetation management is significant, but the trend line over the years since we've increased, it's trending downwards.  So I think there's a graph following this that shows the trend line.  Those are the number of customer interruptions.  So the numbers are still up, but the total -- there is a trend line on the vegetation side that helps with that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So if you increase spending on vegetation management, if I understand you, you will expect increased reliability?


MR. PILON:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And better results on your SAIDI and SAIFI scores, is that correct?

MR. PILON:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So in terms of value for customers, would improved reliability be the only or the main benefit that customers can expect, or are there other benefits?

MR. PILON:  Long-term, I think the benefit will be that we'll be able to manage the vegetation management cost better and there might be a long-term benefit for that, in addition to reliability and safety.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  For example, what kind of benefit in addition to reliability?

MR. PILON:  There is going to be some safety benefits, right, if we don't have any trees that are touching the lines because they can be a potential fire hazard, and then there's going to be some reliability improvements and long-term is going to be the cost.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And would you expect to see reduced spending in other areas of OM&A if you do more on the vegetation side and have improved reliability?

MR. PILON:  No, I haven't observed that, or we haven't identified a specific correlation with that at this time.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I would suggest for example that if you have improved reliability, then the amount of maintenance and repairs due to outages would be -- should lead to some reductions in OM&A spending on those areas.  Is that a fair assessment?

MR. PILON:  More than likely, there is going to be fewer outages caused by trees, yes, and we have seen that already.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I'm going to move on to a different area now, and it's about the proposed work on various corporate policies that North Bay Hydro intends to do.  And the document reference for this in the settlement clarification questions.  This is question number 4.  Ms. Ho can pull that up on the screen for you.  There it is.

The first area relates to a comprehensive review of your conditions of service, and you anticipate this to be a one-year engagement at a cost of about $50,000.  As you should be aware, the OEB Distribution System Code does include a template for distributor conditions of service.  This is included Staff's compendium at tab 3.  You don't need to pull it up now.  I would like to stay on this document.  But I just want to make sure you are aware of this, is that correct?

MR. PAYNE:  We are aware.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Payne.  Considering there is a template available and several examples of from other LDCs, why does North Bay feel it needs such extensive consultant support to update its conditions of service instead of, for example, using internal resources and doing it in-house?

MR. PAYNE:  I'll go back to my discussion earlier today, as well as the evidence in the Exhibits 1 and 4 on the inability for us to get things done because of our resourcing, and that's the challenge.


I can tell you the conditions of service have been looked at multiple times and we've said, okay, let's do this internally.  Let's talk to all the departments.  Let's get the work done internally and get this updated, and it continues to fall on its face.  It doesn't get done and that goes back to the lean resource situation.  We just don't have the time to take and do a diligence.  And it needs diligence, right?  It's a regulated document through the DSC, through our regulator, so we want to do it right.

So we've reached out to consultants to see who does this and we've obtained a quote, and the goal is to get it done.  I think that's what's most important for us, is let's get it done and updated.  This is a public facing document, it's for the customer.  We need to get it updated.  So that's the route we've chosen so that it does get complete.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  You have reached out to consultants and the quote you got back was $50,000 to update your conditions of service?  Is that your evidence?

MR. PAYNE:  That is correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Has any of this been filed with this application, these quotes from consultants?

MS. CASSON:  No, we have not filed the quote for this.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Would you undertake to do that?  I understand there may be confidential information, so you can ask to have that filed confidentially if appropriate.

MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO FILE QUOTES FROM CONSULTANTS IN A WAY THAT ADDRESSES PRIVACY CONCERNS


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Another component of the corporate policies that you intend to update involves governance documentation, and that's an expected cost of $25,000 for each of two years; so $50,000 in total.  And it appears this relates to a need for governance improvement for your board of directors; is that correct?

MR. PAYNE:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just to clarify, this governance improvement is needed specifically for the board of the LDC, North Bay Hydro, and not the parent company or other affiliates; is that correct?

MR. PAYNE:  Correct.  This is for the board of North Bay Hydro.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  As you know, there are several industry associations such as the EDA, who you pay fees, and MEARIE that provide a lot of resources to help LDCs with things like corporate governance.  Has North Bay Hydro availed itself of those kind of resources?

MR. PAYNE:  Any time we look at options, I'm not personally aware of EDA or MEARIE doing this type of work at no cost.  So again, we'll go out to professionals and make it a competitive process and award the work as required.  Again, I think the evidence shows in this table that there is a lot to do here.  I mean, there's a lot of documents missing.  There's a lot of things that need to be improved.  And again, if we tie back to the best-practice documents, there is a lot of things we have to do here.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I appreciate all of that.  I'm just suggesting that organizations such as EDA and MEARIE corporate governance for utilities is a fairly standard set of documents.  It's not something that needs to be custom-made for each utility.  I'm just wondering whether you had you know looked into what resources, what material might be available through such industry organizations, and what I'm hearing is you hadn't.

MR. PAYNE:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  As a follow-up to that, have you considered working with other LDCs to jointly hire a consultant to provide the largely templated documents, but customize them for each utility.

Is this something you looked at, cooperating with other LDCs to jointly hire a consultant?

MR. PAYNE:  I can say we always jointly look at what we can do together.  I think in these documents, although they might be templated, they always need to be tailored to the individual Board, the individual corporation, and I think that's where the challenge comes in.

I think that's a good starting point, possibly, but there will still be costs to get these things formalized and put into our corporate structure.  And again, these go up to the holding company to be approved and there's steps there, too.

So I appreciate the suggestion.  I think it's a little more complicated than that.  I think it will involve outside costs.  I'm not saying we won't pursue and find the most cost effective solution.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  My next question is about the other policy updating, which is the customer service policy and employee manual, and you're proposing to spend $25,000 each year for two years.

Again, have you look looked at any resources on the topic from industry associations, such as EDA or MEARIE for example?

MS. CASSON:  No we have not done that yet, but that is something we will be doing before we move forward with how this is going to look and what we need in order to get the end product.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  The other component of your policy update is HR policy.  There you propose to spend $25,000 a year for five years for 125,000 total.  So similar question, I anticipate similar answer:  You haven't look at resources available from industry organizations that you could use to do this work internally?

MR. PAYNE:  Again, I can speak to that on the HR side.  I mean, one of the things is we are involved is HR councils and we do look to these things.  What's happened over the past 10 years is these things just don't get updated.  So again, templates are nice, but they always have to be tailored to your specific needs and how your utility operates, and that takes time.  And at the same time, you know, we will utilize the industry to help with best practices, but we also want subject-matter experts to help make these the best policies they can, you know, for the benefit of the utility.

So again, I'll answer very similarly.  We will look to find the most cost-effective solution that does exist, but I do believe there will be costs regardless of any kind of aid that we receive from organizations or other utilities.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  And my -- I'm going to ask for the same undertaking as I did for the first document.  If you've gone and obtained quotes from consultants for doing work to update your customer-service policy and your HR policies and your governance documentation, if you've obtained quotes, if you would undertake to file those?

MS. CASSON:  We have not obtained quotes.  What we reference in the evidence is that we looked at a range of what we find to be typical consultant rates.  They can range from $125 an hour to $300 an hour.  We've ballparked that based on that we could be anywhere from eight weeks of work to four weeks of work, and we've kind of used that as a framework of how we based these estimates.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I'm just going to pause and do a time check and see if the Panel and the reporter are in need of a break.

DR. DODDS:  I think we can move the break ahead if we want, because it's been not that long since the lunch hour, and if you finish off, then maybe Consumers Council of Canada can go, and then we'll take a break.  Is everybody okay with that?

MR. RENNICK:  Three o'clock is fine with me.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  All right.  I will just forge on.  I would now like to turn up Exhibit 1, page 48, going forward to page 49, and this relates to a direction that was given by the OEB in a previous cost-of-service application to review the alignment of executive incentive pay, which we understand hasn't been done.  So my question is, how has North Bay Hydro ensured that its executive incentive pay is appropriate and there is appropriate targets and metrics associated with it?

MR. PAYNE:  So our incentive plan has been filed, as evidenced in Exhibit 1, and it does contain ties to measures, ROE, EBITDA, net book value, and safety, and it was created in 2014 prior to some of these initiatives.  And at that time it was -- that was deemed enough to ensure the management team was incented for things that do impact the customer.  And I think the biggest one -- or the two big ones in there is that it's about managing costs, right?  It's cost containment, you know, and those EBITDA and ROE, it's about making sure that we're not overspending, and at the same time that we are spending as we've been committed to, or what we've asked for, sorry.

And then on the net book value, that's all about pacing of assets, so again, we have a DSP that states we want to do X amount per year, and I believe it's about 6 million, and that is how that is done.  It's all done off budgets, so a budget's presented, and it's all goaled towards the budget achievement, and it's cut up to 100.  There is no achievement for over, so there's no stretch, and it's limited.  If you don't get to 80 percent then there is no incentive at all, so it's reduced as you slide down to 80 percent.  So I think there is an incentive there to manage the business properly and contain costs.


And the last one is safety, right, and that's a huge value here at North Bay Hydro, is to keep our employees safe and keep the community safe, so, you know, I think all those do incent the management team to perform and do direct benefit for the end customer.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I would like to turn to another exhibit now, Exhibit 4, page 8, and then after that I'll be referring to 4 Staff 43.  On the first document you indicate an increase of two management full-time FTEs and O&M, and then in 4 Staff 43 you explain that the additional -- the two additional FTEs are supposed to address some anticipated retirements and the need for overlap before current employees retire.

Now, you've indicated that you expect both retirements before 2025, but you don't have a firm date for when those retirements are happening, whether it's next year or in four years; is that correct?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And when considering overlap between new and retiring employees, what do you believe is a reasonable period, you know, between a new employee coming in and a retiring employee departing?

MS. CASSON:  So I think what's important here is the level of these positions and the years of experience in these positions.  These are two managers in the operations department, about 70 years of utility experience, the bulk of which has been at our utility.  And I would -- you know, before I explain kind of how we came up with that number, I think what we have seen in the utility when we had our major transition in 2018 is that turnover at that level of management, it is very disruptive to operations.  There is a lot of focus elsewhere.

So when we're looking at these two positions, I would say three years is probably the ideal for transition, just in terms of bringing up.  But what we've approached this with is a five-year period with one employee, so we could have -- you know, we could have both transitions happening and they're two-and-a-half years; we could have one for three, we could have one for two.  That allows for a mix of effectively us to be able to manage how those retirements shake out.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, I understand the three years may be ideal, that's not typical, and I might suggest that had you considered it might be more prudent to just hire one FTE in this year and hold off on hiring the second when the need arises, that you can foresee, and people don't just retire, you know, on one week's notice.

Have you considered, you know, staggering the new hires in such a manner that it's done as the foreseeable need arises?

MS. CASSON:  Sorry, we haven't done that.  In the application I do appreciate the point you're making, and it, you know, it's something we could consider.  When we lined up the application we looked at it a different way.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I would now like to turn to OEB Staff compendium, tab 2.  This is -- okay.  So this is some modifications that OEB Staff made to your document, which is at Chapter 2, Appendix 2-K, employee cost, and the only change we made is the addition of line 27, which is highlighted, and it shows the year-over-year percentage increase and total compensation.

Looking at, you know, the figures, for example, we see a 12.2 percent increase in 2016, oh, 2017, and a 7.5 percent increase for 2017 over 2018.  And the head count, the FTE head count, remains at 10 over that period.  And I guess I'm trying to understand how hiring new positions to fill -- hiring new employees to fill positions that become vacant due to turnover, why would this result in increase in overall compensation?

MS. CASSON:  So --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is it the number -- sorry, go ahead and answer.

MS. CASSON:  No, please finish your thought.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No, that was the question, you know, if your -- if your head count is constant and you're only hiring people to replace departures, you know, where -- why are there increases in overall compensation during that time period?

MS. CASSON:  Right.  So what's incorporated in here I think is two things.  One, that is an FTE count, but that
-- you know, it could have taken us six months to fill a position.  This is also a table based on our pay register, so this is amounts paid plus benefits paid.  What we're seeing every year is vacancies in positions.  We're seeing overlap in positions, so some cases there is overlap which is offsetting a vacancy.  And then we see our general increases in any given year.  We've had a lot of turnover, and that's what you're seeing happening here.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I'm going to move to other areas; the clock is running down on me.

I'd like to mark as an exhibit the Excel model which is attachment to OEB Staff compendium.  It was circulated yesterday and it's separate because it wasn't conducive to converting to a PDF.  And I would like to -- this will be Exhibit K1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  EXCEL MODEL ATTACHED TO OEB STAFF COMPENDIUM


Now, this is using the benchmarking comparators that North Bay Hydro provided, and Staff has done some calculations which you see in the highlighted columns N and P.  And this is some calculations and some analysis of the OM&A cost per customer.

So column N is the OM&A per customer using amounts taken for the most recent yearbook, and column P is the OM&A per customer using the amounts taken from each utility's most recent cost of service.

Looking at cell 2, it indicates North Bay Hydro's OM&A per customer based on the 2019 yearbook was 281 per customer.  And this is slightly below the average of all the other comparator utilities.  So if you look at cell N15, that shows the average of 297 per customer.  Again that's using the 2019 yearbook.

Now, P is looking at test year OM&A.  So P2 shows your OM&A per customer increasing to $354, which is the highest among all the comparators.  And when it's compared to the average comparators, this is cell N15, again significantly higher when compared to the others.

So all of this is just to show what we have is a significant increase in North Bay Hydro's 2019 OM&A per customer, so it's by a good margin an increase.  My question is simply this:  To what extent will the service for customers improve as a result of this increased spending?

So firstly, can you explain in terms of your customer service metrics what would be improved, and secondly, how reliability would be improved.  You can start with one or the other.


MR. ROTH:  I'll attempt to speak to that.  I don't think you can tie a direct line from this increase that we are asking for to customer service metrics or reliability.  Some of the reliability is -- or some of the increase is driven by increase in tree trimming, so there would be some sort of direct line there.

But I think we communicated what is driving this increase and it is -- you're not going to be able to tie a direct line to customer service metrics or reliability metrics outside the tree-trimming piece.

The second thing I would add is our increase is the most recent data available.  There are other people in this list whose data that we're using to show this 286 comparison that dates all the way back to 2013.  I do want to highlight that there is a limitation in this analysis that Board Staff have put forward, that not all these numbers in column P are from the same time period.

But needless to say, we haven't shied away from the fact that this 334 OM&A per customer is a large ask, and I think we've communicated what's driving that ask.

Unfortunately, what you're asking us to tie a direct line to is not something that can be done on a direct line basis.

MS. CASSON:  If I might add to that, I think in terms of overall statistics, as we spoke to our scorecard is good.  We are managing the business.  I think where I would go with that is that it is going to allow us to maintain the position we have kept.  It is going to allow us to keep hitting close to 100 percent on our phone stats.  It is going to allow us -- I believe there will be reliability improvements that we will see.  I believe we will be able to deliver on all of those objectives.  I think this will help us maintain that, so that we can continue to give customers the services they expect from us and they demand from us.

When we do something wrong, we hear from it very loudly and we hear very directly.  So I think part of this ask is to allow us to continue to do as well as we have been in terms of the scorecard metrics.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for clarifying that, Ms. Casson.  I'll wrap up with this question.

In light of North Bay Hydro achieving its targets and delivering to customers, the question is how do you improve from that?  How do you show continuous improvement in light of the significant increase in spending?  How are you going to show that you delivered more to customers for the more money that you propose to recover through rates?

MR. PAYNE:  I think again partly what's happened here is we have definitely overachieved in the past years, and I'll echo what Ms. Casson said, that this truly ensures sustainability so we can continue to deliver on those results.  I think you've heard throughout today that I think the goals are to put the people in place so we can start trying to unlock things, do things better and continuously improve.  I'm aligned with you there.  Continuous improvement is so important.  And I think Mr. Pilon has started going down that road, that hey, vegetation management, as an example, we need to get this caught up.  We need to get back on our five-year cycle, and once we do, we believe there will be cost savings or there's possible cost savings in that vegetation management cycle.  And I think that's the same for a lot of these things.

There is the possibility down the road that when we get back to a starting point that works, that ensures retention of our employees and of our management team, we can start looking to unlock synergies or create efficiencies.  And that's the goal.  I'm trying to get the ship right, and we can start down that path and I think that's down the next path.

But I will echo what Ms. Casson has said.  This is really about sustainability, making sure we can continue to deliver on the achievement we already have achieved without burning out resources, without having policies out of date. All these things create risk that if they come to fruition, they will be detrimental to this business and detrimental to our customer base.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thanks.  I'll finish up there.  Mr. Pilon, Mr. Roth, Mr. Payne, Ms. Casson, thank you very much for putting up with questions, and with that, I'll turn it back to Presiding Commissioner, Dr. Dodds.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much, Ms. Djurdjevic.  Is Consumers Council of Canada prepared to go now, and take the break after?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I would be prepared to go now.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  If you could proceed.

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Girvan, maybe before you start -- and I may have missed this, I apologize.

The spreadsheet OEB Staff was just referring to, was that marked as an exhibit?  I don't know if I recorded it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I did mark it.  I believe I marked it as Exhibit K1.6.

MR. VELLONE:  I might have missed it.  My apologies.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No worries.

DR. DODDS:  You may proceed, Ms. Girvan.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Good afternoon, panel.  We all know each other having spent time together recently.  I've given my references to Ms. Ho, so that's -- I'm going to refer to three interrogatory responses.

The first one I'm going to refer to is CCC number 5.  I want to be clear.  You've changed your number this morning, I think, regarding the O&M number that you're applying for.  So in this interrogatory it says 8.565, and what is the new number?

MS. CASSON:  That is still the number.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's still the number.

MS. CASSON:  Sorry, I was maybe rounding in my conversations with Mr. Shepherd.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that's the amount you're seeking approval of, and that represents a 33 percent increase over the Board-approved number from 2015?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And the actual O&M level for 2020 in this response is 6.777 million; is that correct?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So even over 2020 there is a significant increase that you're requesting.  And I've heard some of your explanations, and you were referring this morning to a number of discrete cost pressures that are happening in 2021 that weren't around when you last applied for your cost of service.  That's correct, right?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct from the opening script.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And can I find those -- the values associated with that?  I think Mr. Garner asked.  Is it K1.2, Appendix A?  Is that where it is, those numbers are?


MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Okay.  So I understand that you've identified some cost pressures, so in this interrogatory we had asked you to identify the productivity initiatives that North Bay Hydro intends to undertake during the rate plan term and to quantify the impacts.  And if I scroll down, I'm looking at approximately 22 initiatives that you've identified here, many of which you've given some quantification for the savings you expect, and some of them you say that you can't, but these are all initiatives that you intend to pursue during the rate plan.

I guess my question is you've got some cost pressures that you've identified, but you've also got a number, quite a substantial number, of productivity initiatives that you intend to pursue, and I would think that would end up in 2021 with a much smaller number, in the sense that you have got some cost pressures that are increasing, but you've also got a number of initiatives that are going to bring your costs down.  Can you explain that to me?  Because it doesn't seem consistent with such a significant increase in 2021.

MS. CASSON:  Yes, just, what question, Ms. Girvan, sorry, CCC...

MS. GIRVAN:  CCC number 5.

MS. CASSON:  Thank you.  I think what we have indicated here is where there are savings they are already incorporated into the application, so for example, number 2, what we're doing to manage our inventory levels, those are already effectively baked into our costs.  What we are looking for in the MV90, for example, is a future cost savings that we think we can find.  Managing our bad debts, as Mr. Garner, I believe, asked earlier today, we have put forward that there is probably a more reasonable number that we could include in our bad debt, and we will work to maintain those bad debt levels throughout the historical period.

So I think a lot of these we have already factored into the rates, and some of these are ones that we are going to look to implement and find and sustain going forward, and those savings would inherently be in our next rate application, you know, five years from now.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So given that explanation, could you please turn to CCC number 29, Table 4-11.  It's the table attached to that interrogatory.

MS. CASSON:  Yeah.

MS. GIRVAN:  So what we asked for here is to just update this table, including the 2020 actuals, and the one thing I would like to highlight -- so let's assume 2020 is a potentially different year, but 2020 and 2019 are relatively similar in terms of your overall costs; is that correct?

MS. CASSON:  I think in terms of the types of costs, yes.  In 2019 we started to see additional resources coming in, and we started to increase some of our spending in our -- yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And when I was looking at this chart I see sort of over -- if you look at each individual line item, so we start with customer services, bad debt locates, customer engagement, executive financial, regular reporting, that complete list of cost categories.  If I look at 2019 -- and most -- it's relatively consistent with what you've done over the historical period, and yet in each and every category, with the one exception, which is locates, you're increasing your budget and in many cases significantly increasing your budget.  And to me that's not really consistent with what you've just told me that you've built in a number of savings in your 2021 budget.  And it just doesn't tell -- the story that you're telling me is really just not consistent with this schedule.

Could you help me understand what's going on?

MS. CASSON:  I can certainly try.  I think as you tapped on, 2020 was a very different year, but the increases that you are seeing are incremental to our business, so some of those savings we have already incorporated, but this increase that we have, 60 percent of it is related to labour, including new positions.

Again, our tree-trimming is -- you know, I won't go into any detail there -- I think we've explained has an incremental 260,000.  Our maintenance programs are all incremental, and those weren't done in historical years.  Our customer engagement was done at a much different level than we are proposing to do going forward.

So those, you know, four or five key themes that we keep bringing back to, those are incremental drivers above our status quo, so to speak, of historical spending.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you can't really help me understand the savings that you built into 2021, because that's -- I don't really see -- I don't really see that.

MS. CASSON:  Let me see if I can frame it a little differently.  I guess where I would go, Ms. Girvan, is if these savings weren't in here these increases would be higher.  I don't know how else to frame that, without going to an individual basis and kind of doing a much more detailed item by item.

What I could say here is that if we hadn't found those savings this increase would be higher.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But significantly higher -- these costs in 2021 are significantly higher --


MS. CASSON:  Yes, they are.

MS. GIRVAN:  -- than the historical period, so --


MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  And I'm just, you know, I'm struggling with how this helps customers.  Maybe you could help me with that.

MS. CASSON:  With how this -- pardon?  I didn't catch the last part.

MS. GIRVAN:  How this spending plan really helps customers.  I mean, I don't see that your operations are significantly different, yet your costs are significantly increasing.

MS. CASSON:  Right.  And I think how this helps customers is that we are addressing -- you know, I believe we are addressing fundamental things that the business needs that ultimately benefits customers.  If we lose staff, if we have burnout, if we have a safety issue because we haven't put the time and effort, if we have employee issues, I think all of the risks that we are attempting to mitigate, ultimately if we are running our business properly it ultimately benefits the customer.  We will look -- as Mr. Payne has said, we are going to look to try and bring sustainable cost savings the next time around.  What we are trying to do is put the people in place.  If you took away, you know, the incremental additions, if we could operate this business at inflationary increases every year, we would not be here.  We would have put in a very different rate application.  We would not have spent the time or the money, but we need people, and we need to address the policies and the trees.

I think the incremental ask that we have here is really tied to five things, and we have done our best to explain why we believe that is required.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But you'd agree it's tied to five things, but in every case you're asking for increases over and above inflation, more or less.

MS. CASSON:  Correct.  For example, labour is spread throughout every one of those line items.  Not every one, sorry, there is one or two that it's not, but labour in general is seen throughout all of our different programs.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  Do you have a best estimate of where you are in terms of 2021 O&M spending?

MS. CASSON:  So where we are with OM&A spending for 2021, we do have all the employees that we have asked for now in the business, with the exception of the three positions this year.  As Mr. Payne stated earlier, we have halted some incremental spending.  So we haven't moved forward with our enhanced maintenance programs and we haven't moved forward with some initiatives.  And that is a reality of we can't move forward without knowing what the decision will be here.  We did think we would have known this in April, but we are here now, halfway through the year, and to be frank, if we are cut, we do have to go back to the table and make some pretty difficult decisions.

So I would say that we are -- with the exception of a couple of employees, we are on track with our resource complement and some brand new initiatives you see here are on hold.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MR. PAYNE:  If I could just add?  I think the other element there is our goal is to hit our number in 2021; that is our goal.  The management team is going to have to hustle as soon as the outcome is known.

But I also want to go back to this outcome has gone longer than we hoped for and anticipated.  And again with the lean resources, all our time has been dedicated to this rate application in the first half of the year.

Again just to add that our goal is to hit our cost in 2021.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Could you turn to CCC number 27, please?  Do we have a breakdown between the legal and consulting costs included in your application?

MS. CASSON:  No, we grouped those all in one line.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can we get that?

MS. CASSON:  If you would like an undertaking -- is that what you're asking for?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, please.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J 1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN BETWEEN LEGAL AND CONSULTING COSTS IN THE APPLICATION


MS. GIRVAN:  My question is in terms of retaining consultants and a legal team for this proceeding, do you undertake an RFP process?  Did you undertake an RFP process?

MS. CASSON:  We did not undertake an RFP process.  We utilized the same team we have used historically, primarily for continuity of work and the relationship that we have there.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But in other aspects of your business, I assume you undertake an RFP process when you're procuring services.

MS. CASSON:  Yes, we do.

MS. GIRVAN:  Is this the one exception to it?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, it would be.

MS. GIRVAN:  Other than the fact you used the same consultants and legal team last time, is there any other reason you didn't pursue an RFP process?

MS. CASSON:  No, I don't think so.  Mr. Payne, I'm not sure if you want to --


MR. PAYNE:  You've touched on the two pieces.  I mean we have a relationship with our legal counsel that spans many years, and they know the inner workings which does help create cost savings, not learning a new customer, not learning the inner workings.  Again, these are complex applications.  So that's really it.  That's the decision that was made.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Would you agree that your legal consulting costs are comparatively higher than most of the other comparative utilities?

MS. CASSON:  I would agree with that statement based on the estimate that we are looking for.  Where we were able to land at the end of all of this is our legal fees will be coming in around $390,000 without the oral hearing.  And I think $390,000 puts us in the ballpark of the other LDCs that are in this table.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you those are my questions.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much, Ms. Girvan.  We'll take a 10 minute break now and we will be back here at three o'clock.
--- Recess taken at 2:51 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:04 p.m.

DR. DODDS:  Just before we proceed on to the next intervenor, Mr. Rennick, just a question to North Bay Hydro.  With respect to the Undertaking J1.3 to provide some details of the contracts for conditions of service, is there any way you, North Bay Hydro, could present maybe just a scope of the work and the value of the contract so you don't have to go through the confidentiality process?  I'm just trying to avoid that step of having to go through confidentiality, which we usually have to do [audio dropout] hourly rates and so on.

MR. PILON:  Yes, we can do that.

DR. DODDS:  Okay.  Then if you would.  And as I say, our interest is what the scope of work was and the value of the contract.  Would that contravene confidentiality rules in your mind, through your consultants?

MR. VELLONE:  As long as we're not identifying who the specific consultant is, I think we're probably okay.

DR. DODDS:  Okay.  Then we don't have to do that, and if you could provide that information, so that that will be -- I'm not sure how you're going to handle this, as an amendment to the undertaking?

MR. PILON:  I don't have it easily accessible to me, so it would have to be potentially an amendment to the undertaking.  Like, I don't have that readily available, but I can --


DR. DODDS:  I understand.  I understand.  Okay.  We'll do that.

MR. VELLONE:  Consider the undertaking amended as this exchange is noting.

DR. DODDS:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Rennick, you're the intervenor next.  Are you ready to prepare and to proceed?  And if you are, please proceed with examining the witnesses.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rennick:

MR. RENNICK:  Thank you, Mr. Dodds.  My questions refer to the responses to my interrogatories, as indicated in the compendium.  I'm not sure how to exactly get that compendium, that -- those questions up here, so I can share the screen, but everybody has that file, if they can refer along with me as I go through them.  The first question I have is DVR number 3.  It relates to that response.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rennick, we will make that compendium -- is it a compendium or individual documents that I need to mark as exhibits?

MR. VELLONE:  I don't think there is an exhibit.  In this instance Mr. Rennick gave us a list of the IRs he intends to refer to, and all we're referring to is interrogatory responses.  There will be a few additional documents he did attach to his e-mail.  I think we'll mark those when we get there.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  Thank you.  Sorry to interrupt.

MR. RENNICK:  So, yes, that is the question we're talking about.  The question concerns the request to add two more FTEs, and the reason given in the response was because North Bay Hydro is an extremely lean organization.  If everybody could pull up that document that I have submitted called Lean Organization, take a look at that.  We will --


MR. VELLONE:  So I do think we should get this marked as an exhibit, PDF document titled "DDR Settlement, Lean Organization", a PDF.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  That will be Exhibit K1.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  PDF DOCUMENT TITLED "DDR SETTLEMENT, LEAN ORGANIZATION."


MR. VELLONE:  And before you ask your questions, Mr. Rennick, just for the benefit of the Panel, I had an opportunity to read this.  You sent it in advance of the weekend.  It appears to be a summary of references back to the evidence in EB-2014-0099, and to the extent you could, you gave us the page and line references for each line item; is that right?

MR. RENNICK:  I'm sorry?

MR. VELLONE:  I was just confirming if my read of this document was correct.  It is a document that you prepared; is that right?

MR. RENNICK:  The document I prepared is from EB-2014-0099, yes, that's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  We have no concerns with this.  Please proceed.

MR. RENNICK:  So if we look at the comments that I noted in that -- from the last -- from the last cost-of-service application, there is an indication that the staffing levels -- or the target is to maintain the 50 full-time employees.  This application, it's changed to staffing levels in accordance with the 2021 rate application, which is of course a little different.  Just let me get at this, please.

The next comment about staffing levels comes from page 6, line 24.  They have managed -- "North Bay Hydro has managed to increase its increased workload without hiring a large number of new employees."  Then on line 25, "North Bay Hydro is managing a target of maintaining 50 full-time employees.  North Bay works very hard to manage its permanent staff complement."  There is a note that they did have to replace one employee supposedly because of burnout in the accounting department.  And finally, "North Bay is also proposing to not increase its staffing levels.  Incremental workload will be handled through efficiency improvements."  And in that cost-of-service application I didn't notice any reference to a lean work force.

So my question is, is there some evidence in the current application to square the comments made in 2015 with the suggestion made in this application that over the past two decades the business has operated extremely lean and too lean in some areas?  And I would ask that of Mr. Payne, if he would care to answer it.

MR. PAYNE:  Yeah, I think the evidence provided in Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 4 showcases exactly how we're too lean.  We have not been able to move things forward.  There are a number of items not being done, and because of that there is a lot of risk that's been billed to the business, and I can take it a step farther.

You know, I have e-mails coming to me every single night past working hours, you know, a lot of times ten, eleven o'clock.  I have people who don't want to take promotions because they don't want to take on the extra workload, because that's what comes with a promotion here, and being in the management team.

You know, the policies, they haven't been done back to the time when there was a huge number -- a larger number of employees in the utility.  That was the last time they were able to be done.  I think that speaks volumes about how lean we are.

As I said in my in-chief today, safety hasn't moved forward.  Safety needs to move forward.  There is real risk that exists there, real risk, and if we don't put time to it, we don't put ownership to it, it will lead to a problem, and the problem in this business is -- can be a fatality.  It is a serious thing that we have discussed here.

I have employees that haven't used vacation -- their vacation entitlements in five years.  That's a problem.  It rolls over and it doesn't get used.  That's a major problem.  If you don't think that causes burnout, it does.

MR. RENNICK:  So what you're --


MR. PAYNE:  I think the evidence is very clear that this is in the organization.  I have management team that is a senior management team with no middle management.  I have a VP of finance that has three different departments that report directly to her with no one in between.  Again, we are lean.  It's very clear through the evidence.

MR. RENNICK:  I would suggest it's not clear from the evidence.  I hear what you're saying, but there is no evidence -- Mr. Payne, would you mind giving us the daytimers of all your management staff in the last, say, year, so we can take a look at just how busy you really are and how much time you're putting into this?  Would you --


MR. VELLONE:  Madam Chair --


MR. RENNICK:  -- undertake to do that?  I'm asking Mr. Payne.

MR. VELLONE:  I would like to register an objection to this undertaking.  That's quite an ask.  All the daytimers of all of the management team members for the past year?

MR. RENNICK:  Go ahead.  I agree that that's a big ask, but what Mr. Payne is saying is it seems hard to believe that in the last five years, based on the comments we saw in the application for 2015, that all of a sudden there is this huge burnout problem and nobody can get any holidays.  Everybody's working shoulder to the wheel, nose to the grindstone, just like that.  But there is no indication, again, where the extra workload is coming from.

There's lots of indications that we're meeting more --customers are demanding more.  There are more regulations to be followed.  But it's a lot of -- there is no examples of it.

So once again, all I'm saying is is there some evidence in the current application.  And he has been telling me something about working overtime, no holidays, people don't want to accept promotions.  But that wasn't in the application.

So if that was the reason for all this, why wasn't that evidence put in the application?  I don't see any evidence.  So the answer to my question is there is none, especially when they say over the past two decades.  And this is from Exhibit 1, page 11, line 7:
"Over the past two decades, the business operated extremely lean, too lean."

And yet five years ago there is no indication of it.  So the answer is there is no evidence in the current application, I guess.  I can move on to the next question.


DR. DODDS:  You do object to that request?

MR. VELLONE:  Is there still a request for an undertaking?

MR. RENNICK:  No, that was sort of facetious.  I withdraw that request.

MR. VELLONE:  I have no objection, Presiding Commissioner.  I do wanted to note the witness wanted to respond to the statement.  There wasn't a question there.

MR. PAYNE:  Again my contention is there a lot of evidence that shows a lean organization and the things that weren't done.  I've just given testimony of a whole bunch more evidence, and I'll leave it at that.

MR. RENNICK:  You make reference -- this is again on the same issue of more staff.  You make reference to other local LDCs and their staffing numbers.  What evidence is there that North Bay Hydro is not efficiently (sic) staffed and these other LDCs used for comparison are actually overstaffed?  I'll ask Mr. Payne that again.

MR. PAYNE:  Mr. Roth, do you want to talk about the comparators?

MR. ROTH:  Sure, Mr. Rennick.  Can you repeat the question?  I didn't catch the presumption.

MR. RENNICK:  One of the arguments that you need more staff is you compare the staffing numbers to other local distribution companies.  So what evidence is there that these local distribution companies aren't overstaffed and North Bay Hydro is actually sufficiently staffed?

MR. ROTH:  I don't think we can really answer whether other organizations are overstaffed.  That would be an implication made by a third party.  With our benchmarking, we're looking to see if our request for staff is a reasonable one.  If you want to say the other LDCs are overstaffed, we can't comment on that.

All we know is they have greater resources to deliver their capital and their OM&A programs than we seem to do.

MR. RENNICK:  That's correct.  There is really no evidence that if the Board allowed you to add these people, you would then be overstaffed similar to the other LDCs.

MR. ROTH:  If your implication is they are overstaffed, I don't think that's a fair implication.  We picked I believe 12 comparators within our size and geographic range to see what their management and FTEs counts are at.  They all seem to be within that range of, I think, 9 on the low end and 17 on the high end, depending on what utilities you're looking at, and 13 seems to be around the sweet spot, for lack of a better term.  And that's what we propose in this application.

MR. RENNICK:  What I'm asking you to admit is you have no real way to know whether those LDCs you're comparing yourself to are overstaffed or understaffed?  You have no real way to know.  And since that's the only criteria you seem to be using, it's really not --


MR. ROTH:  I don't think there is any way that industry benchmarking could show someone is over staffed.  We can compare ourselves to industry comparators.  There is no way for benchmarking to show whether someone is overstaffed.

MR. RENNICK:  What I'm asking you to you admit is the comparison to other staff at LDCs where you list they have a purchasing manager, a risk management officer, comptroller, safety coordinator, there is no way for you to prove that they actually require those people and those are overstaffed?

MR. ROTH:  No, we are showing that they have them and we don't.

MR. RENNICK:  That is correct; they have them and you don't.  That doesn't mean that you should have them, necessarily.

MR. ROTH:  That is an implication you are drawing.

MR. RENNICK:  Yeah, I'd say it's insufficient.  The next thing is you suggest the addition of an administrative assistant is necessary to allow senior management executive teams to identify efficiencies and areas of improvement.  In Exhibit 1 of cost of service application of 2015, you describe the efforts of the department managers and staff generally to find efficiencies.

In order to highlight those efforts, the words "efficiency" and "efficient" are used approximately 25 times in conjunction with "finding improvements.  The 2015 application also addresses the efforts of the entire staff to find efficiencies and to emphasize the extent of those efforts.

Exhibit 1 of the application, again in 2015, uses the words "improve", "improvements", "improving" and "improved" 45 times.  So based on those comments in 2015, what evidence is in this application that the addition of an administrative assistant would ensure that senior management, now given the time, could somehow unearth these elusive efficiencies and improvements that apparently escape the efforts of the entire organization for the past five or six years?  Mr. Payne?

MR. PAYNE:  Thank you.  I think we've talked about that at length today.  Our team is not able to do the things the senior management team should be doing.  We've achieved great results in our scorecard and in the operation of the business, but there is a lot of risk inside the business and we have to mitigate that risk.  And part of mitigating that risk is adding resources.  Once the resource is in place, it is the intention and goal of the senior management team to start push -- pursuing and unlocking these efficiencies that we talk about.

We talked about CCC 29.  We just talked about a question by CCC that showed all the productivity improvements and efficiencies that we have unlocked over that time, and will continue to unlock as we move forward.  And that is the true goal.  A comment of continuous improvement was provided today, and that is the goal of this management team.

What we presented in evidence is that we are unable to do a lot of these things.  They are not getting done and the evidence shows that.  These things are dated.  No one has ownership of very important critical aspects of the utility that do provide benefit and do mitigate risk as we operate this business.  That is what this team has identified and that is what this team has put forward.

MR. RENNICK:  These things that are outdated that are holding back efficiencies, I wonder if you can get a list of those.  I would like that to be an undertaking.

This talk about efficiency, as I think I mentioned in here, is in my opinion window dressing.  So let's have a list of the actual efficiencies that are on the table that you cannot do because you do not have an administrative assistant.  This is what the application said.

You need -- you -- need an administrative assistant so you can uncover the efficiencies that have escaped everybody for the past five or six years.  I would like to see a list of those efficiencies and why they can't be carried out because you don't have an administrative assistant.

MR. PAYNE:  That list exists in CCC 5 of all the things we are doing and will continue do, and the evidence shows in clarification response number 4 all the policies that are going to be updated through, A, unlocking senior management time through the use of an administrative assistant, and B, hiring subject-matter experts to help us ensure that these things are done.

And we believe a number of these things will drive efficiencies.  Let's look at the transformer database, currently a paper-based system that is managed by three different people, three different spreadsheets.  We are in 2021.  This needs to be automated.

These are the type of things that we've talked about, dating back past 2015, and they're not getting done.  These are the examples.  We don't have a safety program.  I'm sorry, not having a safety program creates inherent risk in the business we operate in.  There needs to be a program.  And there's many examples of programs that exist out there, and we've tried to implement them.  We have borrowed templates from utilities, we've done a --


MR. RENNICK:  Mr. Payne --


MR. PAYNE:  Excuse me, I'm --


MR. RENNICK:  -- what is North Bay Hydro's safety record?

[Reporter appeals.]


MR. RENNICK:  Mr. Payne, I would like to interrupt your answer there.  I mean, you're listing six or eight things.  You talked about safety.  What is North Bay Hydro's safety record?  How many people have died in the last 10 years on the job at North Bay Hydro?

MR. VELLONE:  Can we perhaps park that question and allow the witness to complete answering the previous question.  Just for a moment.  We'll come back to it.

MR. PAYNE:  Right.  So these are things that we have to get done, and they will.  They will translate into efficiencies.  That's what we've stated in the evidence.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Rennick, did you want to ask your follow-up?

MR. RENNICK:  I'm waiting for an answer.  How many people have died?  What's your safety record in general, deaths or injuries or whatever?

MR. PAYNE:  Yeah, so we have had zero fatalities in the last 10 years.  We had an electrical contact in 2016, that could have easily resulted in a fatality and the following year we had someone have a major injury to their hand.  And again, these are things that have to improve.  So there might not have been a fatality, but that's where these things lead to if a safety program is not put in place.

MR. RENNICK:  So you're suggesting you've had, you say, one fatality and one near fatality in the past 10 years?

MR. PAYNE:  We have not had a fatality in the Past 10 years.  We had an electrical contact inside a substation that could have resulted in a fatality very easily.  And then we had another major injury of someone's hand out in the line tree that again could have been much serious -- more serious.  And again, this is why safety is important.

MR. RENNICK:  There is no question here from anybody that safety isn't important.  The question is, how much money are you going to suggest you're spending on safety when you've had two major incidents in the last 10 years.  You think that if you spend another 50 percent or 15 percent on safety that that's going to reduce that to zero?  I mean, at some point there's -- you've got to draw the line on expenditures.

MR. PAYNE:  First of all, one injury is too many in our industry, so that's the first point.  I don't think you should downplay that we had two serious incidents.  Two, we've actually quantified what we're going to spend on the safety program.  It's $100,000 to get the program in place and then $10,000 a year to maintain that program so it doesn't fall back out-of-date.  And I think inside of our industry that is very prudent spending in the operation of a utility.

MR. RENNICK:  First of all, this question dealt with the administrative assistant and somehow got turned into a safety issue, but to your response that two incidents are two too many, I guess you'd be agreeable to taking all the cars off the road, would you?

MR. PAYNE:  In our business we mitigate risk through safe practices --


MR. RENNICK:  Well, the number of people getting killed in highway accidents, shouldn't we JUST be just taking the cars off the road?

DR. DODDS:  Mr. Rennick, you're a little bit off-topic there.  That is not a valid comparison with respect to safety of the utility, and it doesn't help the Panel in its decision.  Thank you.

MR. RENNICK:  Thank you very much.  Now, the suggestion is -- again, here we're on the same topic -- that the HR manager is inundated with demands that the administrative assistant could help alleviate.  So just to verify, there has only been one HR manager at North Bay Hydro; isn't that correct, Mr. Payne?

MR. PAYNE:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. RENNICK:  There is only one HR manager at North Bay Hydro?

MR. PAYNE:  Currently?

MR. RENNICK:  Yes.

MR. PAYNE:  Correct.

MR. RENNICK:  Okay.  So now you're indicating that the HR manager is inundated with demands, but the employee count has remained virtually the same over the last 10 years, and I don't see any evidence in this application why this would suddenly become a problem.  Could we get a list of where these demands are coming from?  I know where one demand comes from.  You had the HR manager send me an FY decision letter on her e-mail copied to you, so -- but anyway.

Could we get a list of the demands, where these demands are coming from and what is the nature of these demands and the amount of the increase over the past 10 years?  You have got the same number of employees.  Why is there more demands that she can't handle?

MR. PAYNE:  Well, I think, just look at the HR policies.  They haven't been updated since 2000.  I think these demands have been there forever and we're addressing them so things can get updated.  At the end of the day that's the story here, Mr. Rennick, and it's a real story.  People have been inundated for a number of years.  Things are not getting done at this utility, and they must get done, and we have come up with a solution that helps the HR manager.  It also helps all other senior managers by adding one resource.

Again, we're trying to do more with less.  We would love to put an EA in, we would love to put an AA in, and a number of different other positions, but again, from an affordability perspective, that's not -- that's not -- we are not able do so, and so we have come up with hybrid positions that are going to try to alleviate the issues that are in the utility, they have been in the utility for some time.

I have worked at the utility since 2004.  These things have been prevalent the entire time.  I appreciate that you don't see them in the evidence, in the 2015 application.  They have been here forever, and again, the policies are a prime example of it.  They all date back to that time.

MR. RENNICK:  How does updating the policies change anything?  What policies are not need (sic) to be updated that are going to suggest that you need -- are going to support that you need another HR manager?  I understand that a motivated individual can argue for increases of all kinds, more staff, more money, more money for the staff.  But there has got to be some evidence, and all I have is you saying, forget about 2015.  We didn't mean that.  There were problems but we didn't bring them up.  Now all of a sudden we're bringing them up.  I --


MR. PAYNE:  I'll go back to 2015.  I think the position at that time was let's continue to try to do more with less.  Unfortunately that did not happen over the last five-year period, and we are correcting that situation.

MR. RENNICK:  What I would like to do right now -- this is a little -- not the direct line I wanted to, but if everybody would like to take a look at the 2004 report from North Bay Hydro.  It's on page 3.  It's called -- it's called "Consultation on Efficiencies in the LDC Sector."  North Bay Hydro --


MR. VELLONE:  So let me just establish this and just get it marked as an exhibit, Mr. Rennick, if you will.  So this is a written presentation to the Ontario Energy Board's Consultation on Efficiencies that is RP-2004-0020.  Let's just go down to the bottom, please.  Dated February 2004, presented by Mr. Ron Ross, general manager.  Can we get that marked as an exhibit, please.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, that'll be K1.8.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  WRITTEN PRESENTATION TO THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD'S CONSULTATION ON EFFICIENCIES FROM RP-2004-0020 DATED FEBRUARY 2004

MR. VELLONE:  Go ahead, Mr. Rennick.

MR. RENNICK:  Can somebody expand that on the screen? I can't read it.  Going down to labour costs there -- thank you, right there.  The highlighted amount.
"Currently, there are 35 employees on the payroll with an annual payroll and benefit cost of $3 million.  There has been no reduction in quality of service to our customers.  The company is meeting or exceeding all standards of service.  The average age of our employees is 42 years old."


And, Mr. Payne, you're telling me now that with 53 employees, you're overworked, overburdened, burning out, and can't do the work.  How can you draw the line between 2004 with 35 employees and 2021 with 53 employees, and virtually the same number of customers?  Can you explain to me what the extra work is?  Where is the improvement in delivery of electricity?  Because that's basically what we're talking about here.

MR. PAYNE:  I think the context you've given is 2004 and I'll take it back to before 2004, when the utility was staffed with just under 60 employees and doing a good job as well.  And this specific person was brought in to bust up the company.  I said it earlier today.  The company was gutted.  There's a term "downsizing initiatives."  It went from a large number of employees down to 35 in this specific year.  This is the starting point of the problems that I've been referring to the entire day at North Bay Hydro.

Again, I appreciative a qualitative statement about their median service requirements.  The individual who wrote this report -- this report is dated February 2004.  The individual who wrote this report was terminated from the company on February 25, 2004.  I think there are some things you can draw there about why that happened.

This utility was gutted and was headed for a very, very, very bad outcome, and the shareholder stepped in and corrected that.  And since that time, we have been trying to get back to the level of service pre this time, and we have still done it with less.  I quoted there's just under 60 employees.  Today in 2021, with all the increased requirements, regulation, provincial, all the new technology that has hit this system, all the new customer engagement, the way the customer wants to interact with us, we have kept it to -- our proposal now in 2021 is 53.

MR. RENNICK:  I've been a customer of North Bay Hydro since 1971.  I have seen no change in the service, absolutely none.  I go to my light switch, I flip it on and the light appears.  My furnace comes on.  My air conditioning comes on.  All that's gone up is my price.

You're talking about new technology, which one would think would lower the cost, not put it up.  You've talked about increased expectations.  There's 21,000 residential customers, most of them just like me, very average, and no need for anything other than just make sure that the electricity comes from the road into my house.  Thank you very much, send me a bill.

Now, is there going to be increase in cost?  I understand that.  Inflation, whatever.  But the difference between 35 employees and 53 employees, you've got to point to something a little more specific than just general comments.  I'm going to continue on here.


MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, was there a question there for the witness to speak to, or are you giving testimony yourself?  I think you need to let the witness answer.

MR. RENNICK:  Respectfully, he gave the answer which is he is arguing.  I thought this was about evidence.  He is arguing, so I'm arguing back.  When I asked the question, my question was how can he -- how can he justify 35 employees and now 53.  So instead of saying I can't, really, he gave some general comments that are not evidence.  They are just his opinion and certainly the evidence isn't in this application.

So if he wants to say I'll send you the evidence, so when he argued, I argued back.  So the answer to your question is no, there wasn't a question.  I'm just commenting on his answer.

So to continue on, you indicated that while -- I covered that, sorry.  That's the end of that question on lean organization.

So if we can move to DD4, DDR number 17 in the IRs.
"Approximately 60 percent of the requested increase is related to the staffing, which will enable the company to meet its increasing needs and expectations of stakeholders, customers, the shareholder, and the regulator."

This is question is concerning that fact.

So what I'd like, if I could get it, is a list from this application that demonstrates that the specific needs that are increasing and the specific expectations of customers that are increasing, along with the increases in the number of staff.

So you gave us sort of an answer here, improving technologies.  If technologies are improving, doesn't that improvement include doing more with less effort or fewer staff, Mr. Payne?

MR. PAYNE:  Improving technologies; first of all, they do come with a cost and there is technologies help drive cost savings down the road for sure.  I think the other side of that is the customers are having new technologies that are connecting to the grid and we have to be prepared for those things, and that is a major change on how the grid has been operated.

Again, This may not apply to you as a residential customer, and I fully respect that.  But CNI customers are expecting more from the utility, and we do have examples right in North Bay of new technology being connected to our grid.  That does cost money for us to A, enable, and B, prevent barriers, and ensure again the integrity of the electrical system that supplies everybody in North Bay Hydro.

MR. RENNICK:  Once again, you're saying that a cost driver is improving technologies.  So you're instituting technologies that are going to cost consumers more money?

MR. PAYNE:  There is capital cost to enable new technologies.  But very clearly as evidenced in Exhibit 1, we do cost benefits for technologies to make sure there is benefit to the customer.  And actually in North Bay Hydro, there's a number of technologies we haven't implemented that other utilities have because we can't get to the cost benefit.  And those are outlined in the affordability section in Exhibit 1.

MR. RENNICK:  Okay.  What I would like to ask you is give me a list of improving technologies that you are instituting that are going to cost customers more money.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm going to jump in here to just ask a question around relevance.  To the extent you're asking questions about capital improvements and capital expenditures for improving technologies, I'm struggling to see how that topic is relevant to the OM&A discussion and open issues that we have in front of us today.

MR. RENNICK:  I agree with you 100 percent.  I agree with you 100 percent.  This isn't a response from North Bay Hydro when I asked for a list of the specific needs that are increasing and the specific expectations of customers that are increasing which would account for a 60 percent increase in staffing.  And they listed improving technologies as one of the cost drivers.  So I'm just asking for a clarification.

The next thing they said, "evolving customer expectations."  So what evolving customer expectations are driving this 60 percent increase in staffing that costs?  Then they said, "Continuously changing regulatory and public policy requirements."  Once again, what are these continuously changing regulatory requirements that account for a 60 percent increase in staffing costs?

MR. VELLONE:  I'm going to jump in --


MR. RENNICK:  So you can -- I'm not asking about anything but -- I'm not asking about capital.  I'm asking
-- they gave this as an answer, and it doesn't make any sense to me.  I'm asking them to explain.

MR. VELLONE:  So let's scroll up a little bit just on what's on the screen.  My understanding -- don't go too far, please.  My understanding of what you're asking for is under the response, the second sentence, there is a list, technology, customer expectations, continually changing regulatory and public policy requirements, an ageing work force, the need for succession planning, responding to the risks in Exhibit 1, among others.  And for each of those listed items what exactly are you asking for?

MR. RENNICK:  I'm asking what they mean by improving technologies, evolving customer expectations, continuously changing regulatory policy requirements, and also ageing work force, when as a matter of fact the work force is a year younger than it was in 2004, so all those things, one, two, three, four things, they said that's why our staffing costs are going up 60 percent.  And I'm saying that doesn't make sense; please explain it.  And he starts talking about capital cost and improving technologies that are going to cost more.  So I'm still at a loss.

But let's get one thing straight here.  This is about -- I don't want to argue this.  I just want him to say, no, I can't, or, I will.  So --


MR. VELLONE:  My understanding is all of this is detailed throughout the evidence and that --


MR. RENNICK:  Well, it's not.  If you can point it out to me I'll agree with you.  So do you undertake to point it out to me?

MR. VELLONE:  So you want for that list I guess a list of evidentiary cross-references so you can go find the materials that have already been filed in respect of each?

MR. RENNICK:  Basically, yes.  I want -- it says that we have to -- basically what North Bay Hydro is saying, we have -- we need a 60 percent increase in staffing costs because of improving technologies --


MR. VELLONE:  That's just one time.  That sounds fine to me.

MR. RENNICK:  Pardon?

MR. VELLONE:  That sounds fine to me.  If that helps you keep on time and addresses your question, I think probably the applicant can do so.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  WITH RESPECT TO THE SECOND FULL SENTENCE IN DDR17, FOR EACH ITEM LISTED THERE, TO PROVIDE EVIDENTIARY CROSS-REFERENCES TO WHERE MR. RENNICK CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON HOW EACH OF THOSE HAVE IMPACTED STAFFING COSTS.

MR. PAYNE:  Can we please have a description of that to make it so it's clear?

MR. VELLONE:  I will do my best.  So the undertaking is to, with respect to the second full sentence in DDR17, for each item listed there provide evidentiary cross-references to where Mr. Rennick can find additional information on how each of those have impacted estimated costs.

MR. RENNICK:  Have impacted which?

MR. VELLONE:  Impacted OM&A costs, effectively a concordance of --


MR. RENNICK:  Not OM&A costs, staffing costs.  This is --


MR. VELLONE:  Staffing costs --


MR. RENNICK:  -- this is specifically in relation to their statement here that 60 percent -- approximately 60 percent of the requested increase is related to North Bay Hydro's focus on properly staffing the utility because of increasing needs and increasing expectations.  So I want to tie that response to the statement, basically.  Continuing on --


MR. VELLONE:  So did we get that marked, sorry?  J1.5?

MR. RENNICK:  Further along in that same paragraph you indicate that you have an average of 10,000 customers walk into North Bay Hydro every year.  So basically we've always had walk-ins, so this is not a new service.  And if we look in the data comparisons Excel worksheet, which is a new exhibit, under prior years' stats --


MR. VELLONE:  Hold up.  Hold up.  Hold up.  We have got to get this on the evidence first.  So this is a material that you circulated last week, a document entitled "DDR Exhibit Data Comparisons, North Bay" [audio dropout] it's an Excel file.  There are four tabs.  I have objections to some of the tabs, but let's see where you go with this.  I don't have objections to everything.  Can we get that marked as an exhibit, please?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be K1.9.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.9:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "DDR EXHIBIT DATA COMPARISONS NORTH BAY" (4 TABS.)


MR. RENNICK:  Could we get the prior year stats tab?  It shows the information.  Can I get it blown up a little bit there, please?  I'm referring to the walk-ins.  In this application there is an indication there's 10,000.  In the 2015 application the average is 15 to 20,000.  So the latest figure, which is an average, indicates a reduction.  Is that not right, Mr. Payne?

MS. CASSON:  Mr. Rennick, if I could address this question.  It's my department.  Yes, Mr. Rennick, your observation is correct.  Walk-ins are going down.  Our -- however, in saying that, this is an area of the business where we did look at retasking.  We are looking at how we staff our customer-service department.  We had a position retire, and I took the year -- more than a year to establish if we needed to fill that, and we didn't fill it because we are addressing a changing landscape.  But there is still value in having an office for our customers to walk in, and we still have to support that, and supporting that is encompassed in all of our customer-service and billing costs.

MR. RENNICK:  I appreciate your comments, Ms. Casson, but that doesn't address the statements that were made in the application, and I'll read them:

"North Bay's customer-service department handles 10,000 customers walk-in into North Bay Hydro on an annual basis for service seeking to pay a bill, arrange a payment, set up a new account, and North Bay Hydro saw a clear indication of a need for continued in-person service options and as such has maintained this service option combined with training of all front staff to deal with all manner of customer in-person issues."

So -- and this was offered in response to my question of, as to why there is a 60 percent increase in payroll costs or staffing requirements.  So this is what they offer.

So I'm asking you, if the walk-ins have gone down, why would that cause the staffing costs to go up?  And what you're telling me is what you're planning to do with the staff at the front office, which has nothing do with the question I asked and doesn't even support what you're saying in the application.

MS. CASSON:  So Mr. Rennick, the 60 percent increase in labour costs includes all the internal retasking that we have done, which is positions at lower levels in the organization and higher positions in the organization.  The increase includes incremental employees that we have explained throughout the evidence.  This is all tied throughout -- well, you have it right in front of us -- 1,600 pages of evidence.  That is the 60 percent.  All of those things are contributing to that.  Increasing regulatory requirements are contributing to that.  We are making a broad statement in this response because we have presented evidence throughout the application that justifies why we are increasing our labour costs and lays out the situation that the utility is in.  I appreciate that you don't agree with it, but what we have put in front of the Board is our rationale for it.

MR. RENNICK:  It's not a question of not agreeing with it, it's a question of saying you haven't supported it.  What you say in the application, you're putting it up to enable the company to meet increasing needs and expectations of stakeholders, customers, the shareholder, and the regulator.  And you're basically repeating yourself there, but anyway, increasing needs and expectations.

When I asked you to explain that, you talked about 24,000 inbound calls, 10,000 customer walk ins, and now you're saying our evidence supports the need for 60 percent increase.

Well, yes, I know you do talk about it in other sections of the application six or seven times.  So what is the reason?  You keep changing the basis on which to make a decision about this.

Continuing on, 24,000 inbound calls; that's what you indicated in 2019.  That's what you're saying, the staff handled 24,000.  Now in the response, you indicated they had 24,000 inbound calls per year.  In previous applications, you used actual numbers.  But for some reason now you're quoting average numbers.

So if we look at the same tab there, prior year stats in cell G10, the numbers indicate on the 2019 scorecard there was 30,000 inbound and outbound calls.  So that represents a 25 percent drop in the 39,805 calls noted in 2015.

You talk about you received 2,000 to 3,000 locates per year.  But if we look at cell H20, the number of locates was 2,000 and 3,000 in this application which is a reduction from 3,678.  So the evidence here is that the request for locates has been decreasing by 30 percent over last six years.

Whoever would like to answer that -- Melissa?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, I'll answer it.  Yes, locates are going down and they are seasonal, which played a major factor in our decision to contract this work out.  However, in order to do so, we look at positions in the business for us to retask, and the individual who did that, as I said earlier, our CBA is very clear about restrictions with contracting out.

However, we identified a position in the business that required an employee.  That person is now a storeskeeper assistant, and we've addressed the reducing locates because we are now contracting it out by locates.

So if in one year, Mr. Rennick, I only have 1,000 locates, I only pay for 1,000 locates.

MR. RENNICK:  That wouldn't be a cause for your staffing requirements to go up by 60 percent, would it?

MS. CASSON:  That is an example of the retasking that is being done in the business.

MR. RENNICK:  That wouldn't increase the payroll when you contract things out, would it?

MS. CASSON:  No, Mr. Rennick.  What I am trying to say is that is an example of retasking.  We have an employee under our payroll doing something that is decreasing in terms of workload.  Instead of continuing to pay that person with a reduced workload, we found a different solution and we put that person in a different area of the business where we could see benefit, where we could help find efficiencies and improve things.

MR. RENNICK:  I understand that, but that wouldn't cause the paying of staffing to increase, would it?

MS. CASSON:  That retasking, depending on the role, can increase our payroll, Mr. Rennick.  We have said that throughout this application.  No, one person in a retask position did not increase our pay 60 percent.  We have explained the 60 percent.

MS. CASSON:  So you've also added a communications officer, and the suggestion here is the communications officer was added to address the increasing customer expectations regarding increased digital and self-service options.

Does this application include a list of those increasing customer expectations, and most particularly how they were identified?  In other words, how did we decide that customers expected these expectations?

Mr. Payne, go ahead.

MR. PAYNE:  We have done surveys that indicate that there is increased expectation around education, around interaction with the website.  My account -- the idea of  outage updates through social media, which we do, that's all supported with our survey work that shows that that is an expectation.

And on top of that, we do have customers that interact with us, and it's growing every day on how people interact on the social media side.  I do want to make it clear that's one element of the customer -- or communications officer role, one element of many.

MR. RENNICK:  Okay.  I wonder if we can bring up the Facebook postings document I submitted earlier.

MR. VELLONE:  This is a document entitled "NBHDL Facebook Home Page Postings March 29, 2021, to May 31, 2020."


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  [audio dropout]

EXHIBIT NO. K1.10:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED NBHDL FACEBOOK HOME PAGE POSTINGS MARCH 29, 2021, TO MAY 31, 2020.

MR. RENNICK:  That's a typo; it should be March 31, 2021.  At the top of that document, we see a summary of 20 Facebook postings for that whole month.  Now, it's actually more than 20, but there's only 20 different ones.  If we could just expand that or bring it down.

So the 20 -- okay, hold your fire.  The 20th one, May 25th:

"Ontario government has launched support programs for eligible small businesses."


May 17th, "scam alert."  May 14th, "Round 2."  That's a sign war we had in North Bay; very important to put that on the North Bay Hydro Distribution website.

May 14th:  "What did you expect?"; here is North Bay Hydro's answer to that sign war.  If we could just scroll down a little more.  May 7th; "Each department at North Bay was pleased to spend a part of our Friday giving back to the community."  I think we'd require a communications officer to do that.

May 5th, "It's mental health awareness month."  I didn't know North Bay Hydro was interested in that.  Scroll down a little bit more, please.

Here we get into the duplicate notices.  May 1st at 10:56; "North Bay Hydro experiencing an outage."  At 11:08, "Aware of an outage."  At 11:38, "The outage was caused by a fire."  12:28, "Power has been restored."


There's four postings there within two hours of the same thing.  Yeah, that's -- you know, I think we need a communications officer who is not a union employee.  Has to be management to handle that type of thing.

What's your comment to that, Mr. Payne?

MR. PAYNE:  Comment to that we need a communications officer to do this?  That's the question?

MR. RENNICK:  The question is you're indicating that he is going to handle increased digital and self-service options.  And in your response, you said how important these things were, contact with the customers and interaction with the customers.

Well, here's a Facebook page with basically 20 items on it for the month, none of which couldn't have been handled in another way, and certainly don't require a communications officer.  I'm asking for your thoughts on that.

MR. PAYNE:  I totally disagree with that statement.  Communications is part of our utility operation and it does require ownership.  You're talking about Facebook posts.  That's one of three social media platforms we use.  We also use Twitter and we also use LinkedIn, all for various reasons.

You're down playing the importance of some of this messaging.  A scam alert.  A scam alert saved a customer from making a deposit to a bitcoin machine just two weeks ago, because we posted on social media, and the person reached out to the communications officer and saved being defrauded of their money.

This is an exact example of how this has benefit.  You're talking about outage management?  You don't think customers care about hearing about outage management?  We get a response back all the time about how important outage management is.

Again, you're downplaying that this is the only role of the communications officer.  To be very clear, that prior to the communications officer, there was still communication costs in the business coming across from the affiliate.  So we have now said there is an entire role.  Part of it is social media, but part of it is a number of other activities that we have very clearly elaborated in evidence in Exhibit 1.

On top of that we have planned new customer engagement, that again the regulator has asked us to do customer engagement, that -- that is a request right from the regulator.  We need someone to own that engagement, and we are proposing to do a number of things that will provide customer benefit.  That's the whole point, is these things don't get done unless there is ownership.

And so I appreciate that you think that this doesn't have any relevance, and it might not for you, but we get a tonne of feedback about the importance of what we do on our social media platform.  And as I explained earlier, the number of followers on those platforms are growing and they continue to grow.  This is the evolution of the industry.  This is the evolution of our customer.  And we have adopted, like, like utilities across the province has.  There is even a course for MEARIE on how to socially integrate social media -- or how to integrate social media into your everyday utility operation.  That's a course that exists in Ontario, because it is a real thing.

So again, I appreciate that you want to downplay and say that these things don't have significance.  There is significance to all of these things.

MR. RENNICK:  You indicate that you've got a huge following on social media.  I looked at the website -- at the Facebook page.  You have got less than 2,500 followers.  Churchill's restaurants have more followers than that.  I don't understand what you're talking about.  There's a very -- yes, some people will jump on this social-media stuff and blow it up and suggest that we have to spend thousands of dollars for a very small percentage of people, and -- tell me one thing on this Facebook page that couldn't have been handled some other way.  You're suggesting that somebody was prevented from getting scammed because of something on this page?  What about all the people it didn't affect?

I mean, like I said before, a motivated individual can argue for all these increases, but there is no substantive evidence that any of this has any added benefits to a majority of customers.

You talk about surveys.  I've read those surveys, and you've got like -- you have to coax people to answer the questions, offer them TVs or 500-dollar gift certificates, and you get 20 percent response and you get 400 -- 200 people, I think, in the latest one suggesting that they wanted online applications.  And you're basing a change in policy on that.

MR. PAYNE:  Again, the communications officer, one element of the role is social media.  It's one element of a number of different things that that individual takes on, and it's listed in the evidence.  It's listed in Exhibit 1.  There's a number of different aspects.  I've just stated them all.  If you want to just focus on social media, then sure, there it is.  But that's one element of what this role is.  There is so much more that we plan to do and that we are currently doing with this role.

And back to saying you're downplaying a scam.  One customer saved from a scam is extremely important to us.  So again, the communications officer has added a tremendous amount of benefit to the organization, and with the new initiatives that we want to undertake is in line with the regulator's request and ways we want to increase benefit to the customer.  That is it.

DR. DODDS:  Mr. Rennick, it's Commissioner Dodds here.  I'd like to remind you, you have a little less than 10 minutes left in your allocated time, so if you can husband or marshal your succeeding questions, please.

MR. RENNICK:  I appreciate your reminding me that I have 10 minutes left.  However, what I would like to just make a general comment here.  This application consisted of over 6,500 pages, and for -- first of all, we took out three-quarters of an hour this morning listening to CVs and to opening statements which was just a rehash of what was in the application.  There was nothing new there.  And the reason for these oral hearings, as far as I know, is to get some further explanation.  So to limit the questioners in deference to the people who are being questioned I don't think makes any sense.  Anyway, I'll keep it in mind.

I'm looking at DDR number 21.  DDR 21.  This is about a communications officer addressing outcomes and meaningful engagements.  The response indicates that the communications officer would be responding to evolving needs and preferences.  I would like to get a list of these new and evolving needs and preferences that North Bay Hydro is responding to that require a communications officer.

And just as an aside, looking at the 2019 scorecard, it indicates that customer satisfaction results of the survey increased from 92 to 93 percent after customers went through the entire survey.

So my question is, what would the communications officer be doing when your satisfaction rate is already at 93 percent?  Mr. Payne.

MR. PAYNE:  Again, I think that is detailed in pages 76 through 101.  There's plenty of evidence there that states what he will be doing.  We've made it very clear.  We are going to be -- we are going to be talking and engaging with our top ten to 20 customers.  We're going to be doing focus groups with GS less than 50 and GS greater than 50 customers, right?  We're going to continue to do interaction with the entire community through an annual breakfast that helps people understand what we're doing, helps provide education on what the utility is doing.  We're going to continue to work with contractors and developers, all people who are impacted by our operations.  All these things take coordination, they take effort, and we believe in delivering the best product we can.  And that does take somebody to own.  And that is what we're doing.

Again, the evidence is there.  I appreciate that you don't care for those items, but those are the things that we are going to do.  We want to engage with our customer base.  We want to understand what they want from North Bay Hydro, and to do so takes ownership, it takes time, it takes commitment to those processes, which we have outlined in the evidence.

MR. RENNICK:  What I would appreciate, Mr. Payne, if you'd stop suggesting that I don't appreciate what you're doing or that you don't require this or you don't require that.  Your meetings with your top 10 customers, your community involvement, your interaction with the customers, that's been going on forever.  Especially the last eight, ten years.  You're talking now about something that is additional.  We need more money because there is new expectations, there is new regulations, there is new duties, but other than saying that, you don't indicate exactly what they are, and that is the issue.

MR. PAYNE:  I just did indicate what they are, and
I --


MR. RENNICK:  You indicated -- go ahead.

MR. PAYNE:  I don't know what else to say.  I just listed a whole bunch of activities that we're undertaking, and we haven't been undertaking those things.  We have not met with our top 10 to 20 customers in the last five years. We have not been an annual breakfast in the last five years.  We have not had focus groups in the last five years.  We have not done those things, and we are going to start doing those things.

MR. RENNICK:  The indication in the 2015 application is that you have been doing these things and you're continuing to do those things, and how does that require a communications officer all of a sudden when you've got the same number of customers and the same -- you're delivering the same product and the same services, but you didn't require them five years ago?  That was my question.  Yes, you gave me an answer, but all you did was repeat what was in the application, and the evidence in the application doesn't hold water.  That's what I'm suggesting.

MR. PAYNE:  I appreciate your insertion.  I disagree with it.

MR. RENNICK:  Question number 26, DDR.  Regulatory costs.  I'm going to skip that.  We had a -- well, no, I'm going to ask that question.  The regulatory costs, 438,000, and I asked, why do you need legal representation to file these applications.  So the response was that you require outside assistance because they ensure that North Bay Hydro is being treated justly.  What I would like to ask you, Mr. Payne, is there any indication here that North Bay Hydro has ever been treated unjustly in this application or in previous applications?

MR. PAYNE:  I would like to start with saying this is a legal proceeding and we have the right to legal counsel, just like other parties have rights to legal counsel.  That's first and foremost.  And no, we haven't been treated unjustly.  We have a regulator, obviously, that is not unjust.  But we do believe that a complex environment requires us to have the expertise to properly walk through this process.

And again, let's look at other utilities.  Other utilities use lawyers for these proceedings.  It's standard practice and it is extremely important that we have proper representation as we go through these proceedings.

MR. RENNICK:  In answer to my question, the answer is no?  Your answer is no, North Bay Hydro has never been treated unjustly?

MR. PAYNE:  We have had legal representation the entire time that protects us from any type of wrongdoing.

MR. RENNICK:  So what you're saying, then, just in case of unjustness you're not being treated fairly, just in case, you're hiring legal representation to put a stop to that before it starts.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. PAYNE:  Those are your words, not mine.

MR. RENNICK:  No, they're your words, Mr. Payne.

MR. PAYNE:  This is a legal proceeding and we are hiring legal counsel to walk us through a legal proceeding.

MR. RENNICK:  I'm going to read what you said in your response.

MR. VELLONE:  We're really delving into argument here --


MR. RENNICK:  It ensures --


MR. VELLONE:  -- we don't have a lot of time left today.  I'm wondering the merits of continuing.

MR. RENNICK:  Mr. Dodds?

DR. DODDS:  Yes.

MR. RENNICK:  Mr. Dodds, I wonder if we can get this hearing extended to another time.  I haven't had enough time, haven't had nearly enough time to go over all these things.  Like I said before, Mr. Payne and his witnesses took up 45 minutes before we even started.  We ask a question and they give wordy answers that don't pertain to the question.  I could have been through this with yes or no answers, and I'm just not happy with -- we get a crack at this once every five years.  The rest of the time, they're virtually operating in secret because nobody is allowed to see anything about board meetings.

They indicate that –- anyway, that's my request.

DR. DODDS:  Mr. Rennick, the Panel appreciates your request.  However, all parties agreed in the settlement agreement that there would be one day for this oral hearing, and that was for five issues.  We cut it down to three issues, and in the interests of expediency and efficiency, we will not expand the oral hearings.

MR. RENNICK:  Just to your remark, I didn't agree to one day.  That was one day was set aside.  I didn't argue with it, but I certainly didn't agree with it.  At any rate, how long have I got left here?

DR. DODDS:  Your time is up now, actually.  Do you have a concluding question?

MR. RENNICK:  Let me just check here and see if I've got something important.  I might continue on with this legal representation.

I'm going to ask Mr. Payne.  This is not the first cost-of-service application that North Bay Hydro has submitted, is it?

MR. PAYNE:  No.

MR. RENNICK:  The OEB supplies a handbook of filing requirements for the application, does it not?

MR. PAYNE:  It does.

MR. RENNICK:  All live Excel models are supplied by the OEB and come with instructions for completing them, do they not?

MR. PAYNE:  Ms. Casson, please?

MS. CASSON:  Yes.  Mr. Rennick, the requirements of the application are spelled out in the handbook.  There are models.  But to be honest with you, this is not a simple process; this is a complex process.  There are multiple models.  They require a detailed review, and the entire process, start to finish, is a significant amount of time.  We do not do this every day.  We do this once every five years.  We need subject matter experts.  We need to have legal counsel advise us on past precedent or issues that are top of mind for the Board.

We need to ensure we are filling this out in a way that ensures we have a complete application and we answer all the filing requirements.  We have put forward that our final legal costs for this application are $390,000 without this oral hearing.  That is well within the ballpark of the other LDCs that we put in the table to compare to.

MR. RENNICK:  Ms. Casson, I asked if all live Excel models are supplied by the OEB and come with instructions for completing them.  To me, if I'm asked that question, I'd say yes.  You gave me a minute and a half explanation.  I asked you for the time and you built me a watch, and this is why I'm running out of time.

Next question.  The details of the Excel models are filled in by North Bay staff, are they not?

MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MR. RENNICK:  Okay.  The OEB assigns a case advisor ready to assist in the application preparation, does it not?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. RENNICK:  The OEB website contains all prior decisions and precedents of all past applications, does it not?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, it does.

MR. RENNICK:  And North Bay Hydro has access to all these applications, does it not?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, we do.

MR. RENNICK:  So you're still of the mind that you have to hire expensive legal help to complete these applications.  Is that your position?

MS. CASSON:  That is my position, Mr. Rennick.

MR. RENNICK:  Thank you.  That concludes my questioning.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Rennick.  The Panel has some questions, or may have some questions of the witnesses and Commissioner Lynne, I understand you do, I think?
Questions by the Board:

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, Dr. Dodds.  The one area I wanted to explore was the change in capitalization, and I think you said -- I'm doing this off my notes.  I think you said it was 147,000 previously.

MR. ROTH:  Correct.  That is the number that's in the chart that was supplied, I believe, on Friday.  That is as compared to the 2015 Board-approved year.

MS. ANDERSON:  Right.  And I know you pointed to an interrogatory -- I think it was 4 Staff 50 where you describe what you do.  But I guess I wasn't quite clear.  When did you make the change?  What was the trigger for making the change?  Have you done audited statements since that that have been reviewed by your auditor as far as your capitalization policy?  If you could flesh out a little more about the timing and all that aspect, I think it would be helpful.  I think it's Ms. Casson.

MS. CASSON:  Yes, thank you.  Yes, we have had audited financial statements throughout the last five years and the five years prior.  What this really was was the forecast and how we split the time.  It was very much understated how much OM&A time was going into the budget in the 2015 Board-approved numbers.

And really what's changed -- I would say it hasn't changed so much in an accounting policy so much as everybody understanding what constitutes OM&A work and what constitutes capital work and that ensuring our people are coding their time properly.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  When did this change?  What did you change, your capitalization policy?

MS. CASSON:  We changed our capitalization policy back in 2012, I believe, with the change to IFRS and all of the changes with capitalization and overheads.  So again, it wasn't so much a change in policy, Mrs. Anderson, so much as making sure people were ceding their time correctly.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  It did look like a fairly recent change, though, because the difference was still -- between 2015 was still quite large.  I think it was even in 2017 or '18.  So is this something that you really implemented -- I guess at what point in time is the question.

MS. CASSON:  Yes, sorry, I'm trying to answer as best I can.  I think what I'm trying to explain is that in our 2015 Board-approved OM&A budget, which is what our rates were based on, we underestimated the time our people spent in OM&A activities, so what you see in 2015, '16, '17, that is the time that our people actually spent in O&M activities versus the assumptions that were made at the time.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So it's a question of what was assumed in the Board-approved versus.  So even when I look at your 2015 actuals, that's the same practice that you're doing now?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, so what we're doing now is we have
-- as you see on the screen here, our crews are about 43 percent dedicated to OM&A, and that's what's in our Board-approved number, and Mr. Roth can confirm, but in any given year in that formula adjustment it reflects the changes in what we're asking for in OM&A, what actually occurred, versus the assumptions we had in the budget.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Understood.  Pole attachments was one of the ones that was on your list, and so -- and it maybe -- it's just not one I noticed [audio dropout] response --


[Reporter appeals]


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, so pole attachments was one of the things you identified as one of the drivers, and so help me.  Is this a cost of you attaching to someone else's poles and, if so, who is that?  And has that changed at all other than the price, the 40-some dollars that it is now?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, so we attach on Bell poles and we attach to Hydro One, and the rates did increase with the increases that we saw happen through the changes from $22.35 to the 44 --


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  And --


MS. CASSON:  -- there was an increase there.

MS. ANDERSON:  I apologize.  So did you have a reciprocal arrangement with Bell that said whatever -- you know, that you'll charge the same amount back and forth?  Is that what it is?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, so we are charging our customers the new OEB rate, so where we have increased revenue we also have increased expense.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So the revenues went up as well as the cost.

MS. CASSON:  Yes.  That's right.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  I just wanted to confirm, you talked about the six-year average of bad debt as being 128,000, and I'm just trying to confirm, so that six years, I take it, then, is the 2015 to 2020, and so not the '20 bridge year but the 2020 actual?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  That's answer to 128.  And -- oh, 17 Trees.  So I just want to confirm, in the evidence 17 Trees was listed as part of the non-affiliates, but there was something that seemed to indicate that they are an affiliate.  Can you just confirm?  Are they an affiliate or not an affiliate?

MS. CASSON:  They are not an affiliate.

MS. ANDERSON:  They are not an affiliate.  Okay.  So there is an arrangement, but it's not an ownership?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry to jump in, apologies.  There is an ownership arrangement.  It doesn't meet the threshold to be an affiliate.  Affiliate requires control.

MS. ANDERSON:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you, that's very helpful.  And so the five things, I think it was Ms. Casson, you mentioned, I just want to confirm the drivers:  cybersecurity, the pole attachments, the OEB assessments, the smart-meter reverifications, and this capital allocation between OM&A -- your costs between OM&A and capital.  Is -- are those the five -- I know there is the chart that had a lot more lists, but those are the five when you say five?

MS. CASSON:  Yes, so we had the listing that you've just gone through, and we also believe the vacancies, so the other item there that we're looking for consideration on is the vacancies that we've had throughout the years that we've filled now and the other is the three incremental.

MS. ANDERSON:  Right.  And I think my questions there were answered, so I think that does it for my questions.  Thank you.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much, Commissioner Anderson.  I have no further questions of the panel -- or of the witnesses.  And Mr. Vellone, you can redirect.
Re-Examination by Mr. Vellone:

MR. VELLONE:  I have only two questions on redirect, and I will endeavour to be very fast.  I would ask that we please bring up Exhibit K1.3.  This is the School Energy Coalition compendium.  Once that is up, please take us to page 11 of that compendium.

Mr. Roth, my first question is for you.  Do you recall the exchange you had with Mr. Shepherd this morning where I believe he asked you to take subject to check the comparator group average year OM&A per customer inflated out to 2021 and then compare North Bay Hydro Distribution Limited's OM&A ask in this application as against that inflated comparator?  Do you recall that exchange?  Mr. Roth, you may be on mute.  I don't hear you.

MR. ROTH:  Apologies.  Yes, I do recall.  I believe Mr. Shepherd's figures for inflationary scale were 1.7 per year.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  And Mr. Shepherd asked you a pretty open-ended question at the end of that where he asked you to explain North Bay Hydro's ask in terms of OM&A per customer as against these other comparators, and my recollection of your response was we've explained what's driving our ask in our application.  Is that a fair characterization of how you responded?

MR. ROTH:  Yes, I believe that's about right.

MR. VELLONE:  On line item 3 and 4 of this list of comparisons, there's PUC Distribution and Greater Sudbury Hydro.  Can you explain why North Bay Hydro thought it was important to include those comparators?

MR. ROTH:  I can.  In the IR responses to SEC's questions, we made it clear that when choosing our comparator group we had three criteria for choosing a comparator group.  One of them was customer count, so just the generic LDC size.  The other one was asset base, so what is your grid effectively worth.  And that tends to go pretty close to hand in hand with customer size, outside of a few circumstances.  And then the third was geographic region.  And PUC and Greater Sudbury Hydro were part of the group that got included due to geographic region.  It is --


MR. VELLONE:  So -- go ahead.

MR. ROTH:  It's our contention that utilities in the north have unique cost pressures that other utilities don't.  I believe in -- just give me one moment, Mr. Vellone.  I want to pull up a document.  And one of those things is, as stated multiple times by Mr. Pilon, is northern utilities tend to have greater vegetation density, so that is one cost driver that we would have separate from our counterparts.  Another is the ability to have shared-service arrangements at our boundaries with other utilities.  Outside of Hydro One we don't really touch with any other utilities.  And the third is the ability to contract out work; not just the ability to do it, but the ability of contractors.  A lot of the work we do is very specialized, and the ability to contract out certain tasks doesn't really exist around here.  So functions that might to be outsourced have to be insourced for us.  We would be competing for southern contractors that -- it would definitely just cost more to bring it north to do the work.

Again, northern utilities are -- it's our contention that we are sort of unique in our cost pressures.  PUC and Sudbury are slightly larger, but for, you know, as we said, we think geographic region is a relevant criteria.

MR. VELLONE:  And would the fact that they're larger be addressed by the mere fact that we're looking at OM&A per customer?

MR. ROTH:  I would think so, yes.  I would think so, yes.  Obviously there's different costs that scale differently as you increase customer count, but if we're looking at average OM&A per customer, then, yes, we would attempt to normalize that.

MR. VELLONE:  And how does PUC Distribution and Greater Sudbury compare on OM&A per customer basis as against the comparator group average?

MR. ROTH:  They are much higher.

MR. VELLONE:  My second question -- can you go to SEC compendium page 16?  Ms. Casson, I believe my question is for you.  You had a fairly lengthy exchange with Mr. Shepherd about FTEs and compensation on this table.  Do you recall that exchange?

MS. CASSON:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  I have a very specific question.  In the column labeled 2015 OEB-approved, there's a total number of FTEs of 49.  Am I reading that right?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Is that the applied-for 2015 number or is that adjusted to account for the settlement proposal that was ultimately approved?

MS. CASSON:  That is the applied-for amounts.

MR. VELLONE:  So there was no subsequent reduction in the number of FTEs to account for the reductions in the settlement proposal?

MS. CASSON:  That is correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Presiding Commissioner, Madam Chair.  Those are my redirect questions.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Vellone.  That concludes the oral hearing on the application by North Bay Hydro to charges for electricity distribution rates effective May 1, 2021.

The parties are reminded of the next steps in this proceeding.  They are North Bay Hydro shall file its argument in-chief with the Ontario Energy Board and serve it on all parties by June 29, 2021.

Second, intervenors and Ontario Energy Board Staff who wish to file any written submissions shall file them with the Ontario Energy Board and serve them on all parties by July 14, 2021.

North Bay Hydro shall file its reply argument with the Ontario Energy Board and serve it on all parties by July 28, 2021.  That change in date is the result of this oral hearing that we agreed to your request, Mr. Vellone.

The Ontario Energy Board thanks all parties for their time and input to this oral hearing.  I would like to commend you all on being well-trained in the technology.  There were no glitches.  Nobody dropped off.  Everyone seemed to know how to use the technology, other than the microphones once in a while.  But congratulations on that.

The Commissioners would like to thank Ontario Energy Board Staff for their diligence in guiding us; we need the training as Commissioners.  And using this virtual oral hearing technology, for their very effective management of the technology in this hearing.  Thank you. that concludes the oral hearing.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry to interrupt.  There is just one outstanding procedural matter; I should have noted it earlier.

With respect to the answers to undertakings, I have asked Mr. Vellone when the applicant can reasonably be expected to respond to those.  And he indicated in one week's time, when the argument in-chief is filed, just to note that for the record.

DR. DODDS:  That's part of the record.  Thank you.  With that, goodbye all.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:39 p.m.
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